
City Council Meeting Agenda 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 3 
 
 

 
City of Belton, Texas 

 
City Council Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, June 28, 2022 - 5:30 p.m. 
Wright Room at the Harris Community Center 

401 N. Alexander, Belton, Texas 
 

 
 
Pledge of Allegiance. The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag will be led by 
Councilmember Craig Pearson. 
 
Texas Pledge. The Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas Flag will be led by Fire Chief Jon 
Fontenot. 
 

“Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee Texas, one state under 
God, one and indivisible.” 

 
Invocation. The Invocation will be given by Councilmember Dan Kirkley. 
 
1. Call to order. 
 
2. Public Comments. 

 
Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may register to do 
so prior to this meeting and speak during this item. Forms are located on the 
table outside of the south side entry to the meeting room. Please state your 
name and address for the record and limit your comments to three minutes. 
Also, please understand that while the Council appreciates hearing your 
comments, State law (Texas Gov’t Code §551.042) prohibits them from: (1) 
engaging in discussion other than providing a statement of specific factual 
information or reciting existing City policy, and (2) taking action other than 
directing Staff to place the matter on a future agenda. 

 
Consent Agenda 
 
Items 3-4 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may 
be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be 
removed from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any 
Councilmember, and it will be considered separately. 
 
3. Consider minutes of June 14, 2022, City Council Meeting. 

 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 3 
 
 

4. Consider an amendment to the Interlocal Agreement with Belton ISD for the School 
Resource Officer Program to add an additional school resource officer. 

 
Planning and Zoning 
 
5. Z-22-17 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural (Ag) 

to Planned Development - Multiple Family District (PD – MF) on approximately 
18.168 acres located at 5890 Toll Bridge Road.  

 
6. Z-22-19 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to 

Mobile Home District on approximately 6.422 acres located at 2061 Circle Oak Loop. 
 
7. Z-22-21 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Planned 

Development – Single Family-1 Zoning District to Planned Development – Single 
Family-1 Zoning District with a Specific Use Permit for an Accessory Dwelling Unit 
on approximately 0.928 acres located at 517 E. 25th Avenue.  

 
8. Z-22-22 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural (A) to 

Planned Development - Commercial-1 (PD-C-1) District on approximately 15.836 
acres located at 2406 Lake Road, generally located west of FM 2271 and east of 
Sparta Road to establish an RV Park.  

 
9. Z-22-23 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Heavy Industrial 

to Heavy Industrial with a Specific Use Permit for the Placement of an Electronic 
Changeable Sign on approximately 0.269 acres located at the northeast intersection 
of E. 6th Avenue and Taylors Valley Road and described as Belton Terrace Addition, 
Block 2, Lot 1. 

 
10. P-21-25 Consider a final plat for the Preserve at Nolan Creek, comprising of 2.841 

acres, located at 710 Shine Street, south of West 8th Avenue and north of West 7th 
Avenue.  

 
11. Hold a public hearing and consider approval of an amendment to the Belton 

Thoroughfare Plan related to S. Tollbridge Road, from the Lampasas River to Elmer 
King Road. 

 
Miscellaneous 
 
12. Consider a resolution adopting the Imagine Belton Plan. 
 
13. Consider authorizing the award of small business grants funded by the American 

Rescue Plan Act of 2021 for Belton small businesses impacted by COVID-19 in the 
total amount of $850,000. 

 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
June 28, 2022 

Page 3 of 3 
 
 

14. Consider authorizing the BEDC Executive Director to execute a contract for the sale 
of 19.23 acres in the Belton Business Park to Tradition Land, LLC. 

 
Budget 
 
15. Conduct a work session on FY2023 budget considerations including, but not limited 

to, the following funds: 
 

A. General Fund 
B. Debt Service Fund 
C. Information Technology Fund 
D. Building Maintenance Fund 
E. Hotel/Motel Tax Fund 
F. Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) Fund 
G. Belton Economic Development Corporation (BEDC) Fund 

 
 
The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at any time regarding any issue on 
this agenda for which it is legally permissible. 
 
If interpreter services for the deaf or hearing impaired are required, please contact the City Clerk at (254) 
933-5817 at least 48 hours in advance. 
 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 4 
 
 

 
City of Belton, Texas 

 
City Council Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, June 28, 2022 - 5:30 p.m. 
Wright Room at the Harris Community Center 

401 N. Alexander, Belton, Texas 
 

 
OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
 
Pledge of Allegiance. The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag will be led by 
Councilmember Craig Pearson. 
 
Texas Pledge. The Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas Flag will be led by Fire Chief Jon 
Fontenot. 
 

“Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee Texas, one state under 
God, one and indivisible.” 

 
Invocation. The Invocation will be given by Councilmember Dan Kirkley. 
 
 
1. Call to order. 
 
2. Public Comments. 

 
Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may register to do 
so prior to this meeting and speak during this item. Forms are located on the 
table outside of the south side entry to the meeting room. Please state your 
name and address for the record and limit your comments to three minutes. 
Also, please understand that while the Council appreciates hearing your 
comments, State law (Texas Gov’t Code §551.042) prohibits them from: (1) 
engaging in discussion other than providing a statement of specific factual 
information or reciting existing City policy, and (2) taking action other than 
directing Staff to place the matter on a future agenda. 

 
Consent Agenda 
 
Items 3-4 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may 
be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be 
removed from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any 
Councilmember, and it will be considered separately. 
 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 4 
 
 

3. Consider minutes of June 14, 2022, City Council Meeting. 
 

A copy of the minutes is attached. Recommend approval. 
 

4. Consider an amendment to the Interlocal Agreement with Belton ISD for the 
School Resource Officer Program to add an additional school resource officer. 

 
See Staff Report from Assistant City Manager/Chief of Police Gene Ellis. 
Recommend approval of the amendment to the agreement with BISD for SROs. 

 
Planning and Zoning 
 
5. Z-22-17 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural 

(Ag) to Planned Development - Multiple Family District (PD – MF) on 
approximately 18.168 acres located at 5890 Toll Bridge Road.  

 
See Staff Report. At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission voted 5-2 to recommend approval of this item. Staff has reservations 
about this recommendation, reflected in the report. 

 
6. Z-22-19 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural 

to Mobile Home District on approximately 6.422 acres located at 2061 Circle 
Oak Loop. 

 
See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended postponement of this 
item until their next meeting in favor of a Planned Development zoning to establish a 
maximum density for the park, and Staff concurs. Council action is needed to 
postpone this item to the July 26, 2022, Council meeting. 

 
7. Z-22-21 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Planned 

Development – Single Family-1 Zoning District to Planned Development – 
Single Family-1 Zoning District with a Specific Use Permit for an Accessory 
Dwelling Unit on approximately 0.928 acres located at 517 E. 25th Avenue.  

 
See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended approval of this item, 
and Staff concurs. 

 
8. Z-22-22 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural 

(A) to Planned Development - Commercial-1 (PD-C-1) District on approximately 
15.836 acres located at 2406 Lake Road, generally located west of FM 2271 and 
east of Sparta Road to establish an RV Park.  

 
See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission voted 5-2 to recommend disapproval of this item 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
June 28, 2022 

Page 3 of 4 
 
 

with prejudice, and Staff concurs. Staff recommends this item be postponed to the 
July 12, 2022, Council meeting. Council action will be required for the 
postponement. 

 
9. Z-22-23 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Heavy 

Industrial to Heavy Industrial with a Specific Use Permit for the Placement of 
an Electronic Changeable Sign on approximately 0.269 acres located at the 
northeast intersection of E. 6th Avenue and Taylors Valley Road and 
described as Belton Terrace Addition, Block 2, Lot 1. 

 
See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended approval of this item, 
and Staff concurs. 

 
10. P-21-25 Consider a final plat for the Preserve at Nolan Creek, comprising of 

2.841 acres, located at 710 Shine Street, south of West 8th Avenue and north of 
West 7th Avenue.  

 
See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended approval of this item, 
and Staff concurs. 

 
11. Hold a public hearing and consider approval of an amendment to the Belton 

Thoroughfare Plan related to S. Tollbridge Road, from the Lampasas River to 
Elmer King Road. 

 
See Staff Report from Director of Planning Bob van Til. At its meeting on June 21, 
2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval of this item, 
and Staff concurs. 

 
Miscellaneous 
 
12. Consider a resolution adopting the Imagine Belton Plan. 
 

See Staff Report from City Manager Sam Listi. Recommend approval of the 
resolution adopting the Imagine Belton Plan. 

 
13. Consider authorizing the award of small business grants funded by the 

American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 for Belton small businesses impacted by 
COVID-19 in the total amount of $850,000. 

 
See Staff Report from City Manager Sam Listi. Recommend approval of the small 
business grant distribution, as recommended by the Small Business Grant 
Committee. 

 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
June 28, 2022 

Page 4 of 4 
 
 

14. Consider authorizing the BEDC Executive Director to execute a contract for 
the sale of 19.23 acres in the Belton Business Park to Tradition Land, LLC. 

 
See Staff Report from BEDC Executive Director Cynthia Hernandez. Recommend 
approval of the sale of land to Tradition Land, LLC. 

 
Budget 
 
15. Conduct a work session on FY2023 budget considerations including, but not 

limited to, the following funds: 
 

A. General Fund 
B. Debt Service Fund 
C. Information Technology Fund 
D. Building Maintenance Fund 
E. Hotel/Motel Tax Fund 
F. Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) Fund 
G. Belton Economic Development Corporation (BEDC) Fund 

 
See Staff Report from Director of Finance Mike Rodgers. No action is required of the 
Council at this time. 

 
The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at any time regarding any issue on 
this agenda for which it is legally permissible. 
 
If interpreter services for the deaf or hearing impaired are required, please contact the City Clerk at (254) 
933-5817 at least 48 hours in advance. 
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
June 14, 2022 – 5:30 P.M. 

 
The Belton City Council met in regular session in the Wright Room of the Harris Community 
Center. Members present included Mayor Wayne Carpenter and Councilmembers David K. 
Leigh, Craig Pearson, Dan Kirkley, John R. Holmes, Sr., Daniel Bucher and Stephanie 
O’Banion. Staff present included Sam Listi, Gene Ellis, John Messer, Amy Casey, Mike 
Rodgers, Jon Fontenot, Tina Moore, Chris Brown, Charlotte Walker, Judy Garrett, Kim Kroll, 
Matt Bates, Bob van Til, Paul Romer, Daniel Aguirre, Cynthia Hernandez, Amanda Cox and 
Jo-Ell Guzman.  
 
The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag was led by Councilmember Stephanie O’Banion, 
and the pledge to the Texas Flag was led by City Manager Sam Listi. The Invocation was 
given by Mayor Wayne Carpenter. 
 
1. Call to order. Mayor Carpenter called the meeting to order at 5:31 p.m. 
 
2. Public Comments. (Audio 1:54) 

 
Randy Pittenger thanked the Council for allowing the Chamber to help in encouraging 
local businesses to apply for the small business grants. He also discussed the Fourth of 
July activities that are upcoming. He thanked the City for their partnership with the 
Chamber in this event. 
 

Consent Agenda 
 
Items 3-4 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may be 
enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be removed 
from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any Councilmember, and it will be 
considered separately. (Audio 6:50) 
 
3. Consider minutes of previous meetings: 

A. May 23, 2022, Special Called City Council Meeting. 
B. May 24, 2022, Regular City Council Meeting. 

 
4. Consider reappointments to the following Boards/Commissions: 

A. Parks Board – Josh Pearson and Oscar Bersoza 
B. Zoning Board of Adjustment – Mat Naegle and Nelson Hutchinson 

 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Holmes, and a second by Councilmember Kirkley, the 
Consent Agenda was unanimously approved upon a vote of 7-0. 
 
Planning and Zoning 
 
5. Z-22-10 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural (A) to 

Single Family-3 (SF-3) Residential District on approximately 97.413 acres located at 
1000 E. Avenue H, generally east of Interstate 35 on the northside of E. Avenue H, 
and south of Nolan Creek.  (Audio 7:46) 



Belton City Council Meeting 
June 14, 2022 – Page 2  
 

  

Planner Tina Moore presented this item. 
 
Public Hearing: The following people spoke in favor of the zoning change: 
 
(1) Nicholas Kale, Applicant’s Engineer 
(2) Clarence Griggs, Property Owner 
(3) Mike Avera, Applicant 
 
No one else spoke for or against the item. 
 
Upon a motion for approval of the rezoning by Councilmember Kirkley, and a second by 
Councilmember O’Banion, the rezoning was approved upon a vote of 6-1 
(Councilmember Bucher dissenting) with the condition that the subdivision plat must 
satisfactorily address access for the 224 dwelling units. 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-21 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON 
BY CHANGING THE DESCRIBED DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURAL TO SINGLE 
FAMILY-3 RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT ON AN APPROXIMATE 97.413 ACRE PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 1000 E. AVENUE H. 
 

Miscellaneous 
 
6. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance on second reading, granting a 

commercial solid waste collection franchise to Paramount Wastewater Solutions 
LLC. (Audio 29:26) 

 
City Clerk Amy Casey presented this item. 
 
Public Hearing: no one spoke for or against. 
 
Upon a motion for approval by Mayor Pro Tem Leigh, and a second by Councilmember 
Pearson, the franchise ordinance was approved upon a vote of 7-0. 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2022-30 

 
AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A FRANCHISE TO PARAMOUNT WASTEWATER 
SOLUTIONS, LLC TO PROVIDE INDUSTRIAL/COMMERCIAL SOLID WASTE 
COLLECTION SERVICES WITHIN THE CITY OF BELTON; PROVIDING FOR THE 
SCOPE AND NATURE OF THE OPERATION; PROVIDING FOR THE DISPOSAL OF 
GARBAGE, SOLID WASTE AND REFUSE; PROVIDING A PROCEDURE FOR THE 
HANDLING OF COMPLAINTS; PROVIDING FOR A FRANCHISE FEE; REQUIRING 
INDEMNITY INSURANCE; PROVIDING FOR REVOCATION AND AMENDMENT; 
PROVIDING FOR PAYMENT OF TAXES BY THE FRANCHISEE; PROHIBITING 



Belton City Council Meeting 
June 14, 2022 – Page 3  
 

  

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING OF THE FRANCHISE WITHOUT CONSENT; 
PROVIDING FOR FORFEITURE; AND MAKING OTHER PROVISIONS. 
 

7. Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a construction contract for the N. 
East Street Water Improvements project (CDBG Project Number 7220021), and any 
change orders associated with the contract, not to exceed the amount authorized 
under state law. (Audio 31:08) 

 
Director of Public Works Matt Bates presented this item. 
 
Upon a motion for approval by Councilmember Holmes, and a second by Councilmember 
O’Banion, the contract with TTG Utilities was approved upon a vote of 7-0. 

 
8. Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into a professional services 

agreement with KPA Engineers for construction administration services for the N. 
East Street Water Improvements project (CDBG Project Number 7220021). (Audio 
34:32) 

 
Director of Public Works Matt Bates presented this item. 
 
Upon a motion for approval by Councilmember O’Banion, and a second by 
Councilmember Kirkley the agreement with KPA Engineers was approved upon a vote of 
7-0. 

 
9. Consider a resolution authorizing the execution and delivery of Addendum #4 to the 

Amended and Restated Water Supply Contract with Bell County Water Control and 
Improvement District No. 1, in connection with the issuance of the District’s Water 
System Revenue Bonds, Series 2022, concerning Belton’s cost share in Standby 
Power Generation Project at the Water Plant, in the approximate amount of $2 
million plus interest. (Audio 35:46) 

 
City Manager Sam Listi presented this item. 

 
Upon a motion for approval by Councilmember Pearson, and a second by Councilmember 
Holmes, Addendum #4 to the Amended and Restated Water Supply Contract with 
BCWCID #1 was approved upon a vote of 7-0. 

 
Budget 
 
10. Conduct a work session on FY2023 budget considerations including, but not 

limited to, the following funds: (Audio 41:46) 
 
A. Water and Sewer Fund 
B. Drainage Fund 

 
Director of Finance Mike Rodgers presented this item as shown in Exhibit “A.” No action 
was required of the Council at this time. 



Belton City Council Meeting 
June 14, 2022 – Page 4  
 

  

11. Consider a resolution endorsing a 5-year water and wastewater rate structure that 
is designed to provide financial stability for the Water and Sewer Fund. (Audio 
1:08:41) 

 
Director of Finance Mike Rodgers and Consultant Nelisa Heddin presented this item as 
shown in Exhibit “B.” 

 
Councilmember Kirkley made a motion for Water Base Rates by meter size – option 2. 
The motion was seconded by Councilmember Pearson and was approved upon a vote of 
7-0. 
 
Councilmember Holmes made a motion for Water Volumetric Rates with two customer 
classes: domestic and sprinkler – option 1. The motion was seconded by Councilmember 
Kirkley and was approved upon a vote of 7-0. 
 
Councilmember Pearson made a motion for Wastewater Base and Volumetric rates for a 
single customer class. The motion was seconded by Councilmember Kirkley and was 
approved upon a vote of 7-0. 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-21-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, 
ENDORSING A 5-YEAR WATER AND WASTEWATER RATE STRUCTURE THAT IS 
DESIGNED TO PROVIDE FINANCIAL STABILITY FOR THE WATER AND SEWER 
FUND. 

 
The Mayor announced that the Council would take a five minute recess at 7:37 p.m. 
 
Executive Session  
 
At 7:42 p.m., the Mayor announced the Council would go into Executive Session for the 
following item: 
 
12. Executive Session pursuant to the provision of the Open Meetings Law, Chapter 551, 

Govt. Code, Vernon’s Texas Codes Annotated, in accordance with the authority contained 
in Section 551.072, Deliberation Regarding Real Property. 
 

The Mayor reopened the meeting at 8:13 p.m., and there being no further business, the 
meeting was adjourned. 
 

_____________________________  
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________  
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 



1

Presented by:

Michael Rodgers, CPA

Director of Finance

FY23 Budget Workshop
June 14, 2022

2

Funds To Be Discussed

• Water and Sewer Fund

• Drainage Fund

1

2

EXHIBIT "A"



2

3

Water and Sewer Fund
Year-End Forecast for FY22

FY22 FY22
Adopted Year-End
Budget Estimate

Revenue 10,460,630$ 10,312,712$ 
Expenditures (10,614,980)  (10,415,010)  
Incr/(Decr) to Reserve (154,350)$     (102,298)$     

4

Forecast for FY22

• Revenue is expected to increase nine 
percent over FY 2021 but still fall short of 
budget by $147,000

• Expenditures may end the year $200,000 
under budget due to savings related to the 
water and sewer master plan

3

4



3

5

Water and Sewer Fund
FY23 Statement of Fund Balance

 Projected Unrestricted Balance, Sept 30, 2022 6,055,233$   57.0%

Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:
FY23 Revenue 12,160,390   
FY23 Expenses (12,770,490)  

Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance (610,100)       

Projected Restricted Balance, Sept 30, 2023 5,445,133$   42.6%

The City has adopted a fund balance policy with the goal of achieving and maintaining fund balance equal to 30% of 
budgeted expenditures plus the annual debt service for any fund-supported borrowing from external creditors for the 
fiscal year.  At no time, shall fund balance fall below 25% of budgeted expenditures.

Status of 
Water and Sewer Fund Reserves

6

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

$7,000,000

$8,000,000

Unrestricted Reserve Balance Minimum Reserve Requirement

5

6



4

7

Budget to Budget Comparison
Revenue by Category 

Water and Sewer Fund

Revenue Category

FY22

Budget

FY22

Estimate

FY23

Budget

Increase /

(Decrease)

Water Revenue $ 6,014,130 $ 5,739,009 $ 5,930,250 $   (83,880)

Sewer Revenue 3,829,650 3,782,831 5,255,500 1,425,850

Fees and Other Revenue 489,690 658,550 560,900 71,210

Miscellaneous 127,160 132,322 130,610 3,450

Transfers 0 0 283,130 283,130

Total Revenue $10,460,630 $10,312,712 $12,160,390 $ 1,699,760

8

FY23 Water and Sewer Fund 
Revenue

• Water revenue increases by three percent 
which is comparable to the four-year average 
growth rate

• Sewer revenue increases by $1.4 million due 
to increases in base and volumetric rates

• Transfers reflects personnel cost allocations 
and the use of ARPA funds

7

8



5

Water and Sewer Fund
Revenue from FY16 to FY23

FY Water Sewer Other

2016 $4,030,216 $2,468,700 $   420,284

2017 4,557,170 2,827,928 567,997

2018 4,907,703 3,087,121 697,601

2019 4,725,361 3,155,709 750,217

2020 5,244,147 3,289,304 558,943

2021 5,293,154 3,546,462 578,160

2022Projected 5,739,009 3,782,831 790,872

2023Budget 5,930,250 5,255,500 974,640

9

$2,000,000

$4,000,000

$6,000,000

$8,000,000

$10,000,000

$12,000,000

$14,000,000

Water Sewer Other

10

FY23 Water and Sewer Fund
Expenses by Category

Personnel, 15%

Debt, 15%

Water Purchases, 19%

Transfers, 33%

Personnel Supplies Maintenance

Services Debt Water Purchases

Sewage Treatment Other Expenses Capital Outlay

Transfers

Expense Category Amount

Personnel $ 1,949,880

Supplies 149,700

Maintenance 234,050

Services 802,480

Debt 1,954,450

Water Purchases 2,358,600

Sewage Treatment 878,520

Other Expenses 50,000

Capital Outlay 214,000

Transfers 4,178,810

Total Expenses $12,770,490

9

10



6

11

Budget to Budget Comparison
Expenses by Category

Water/Sewer Fund

Expense Category

FY22

Budget

FY22

Estimate

FY23

Budget

Increase /

(Decrease)

Personnel $ 2,089,620 $ 2,021,761 $ 1,949,880 $  (139,740)

Supplies 123,070 133,688 149,700 26,630

Maintenance 182,350 250,050 234,050 51,700

Services 1,019,210 685,770 802,480 (216,730)

Debt 1,536,880 1,620,809 1,954,450 417,570

Water Purchases 1,500,700 1,511,514 2,358,600 857,900

Sewage Treatment 829,340 807,500 878,520 49,180

Other Expenses 90,000 10,000 50,000 (40,000)

Capital Outlay 404,000 367,000 214,000 (190,000)

Transfers 2,839,810 3,006,918 4,178,810 1,339,000

Totals $10,614,980 $10,415,010 $12,770,490 $ 2,155,510

12

Water & Sewer Fund
Significant Changes

• Personnel costs reflect changes to the method of 
allocating payroll costs

• Consulting expenses fall by $256,000 after 
completion of the rate study and a cost reduction 
to the utility master plan update

• City debt service payments increase by $417,000 
after the issuance of Certificates of Obligation in 
2022 for the elevated storage tank and 6th Ave 
waterline

11

12



7

13

Water & Sewer Fund
Significant Changes

• Water costs rise by $857,000 due to increasing 
operating costs and BCWCID-issued debt for 
water distribution, water treatment capacity and 
backup power generation

• Capital outlay includes $200,000 for water tap 
materials and $14,000 for wash bay doors

14

Water & Sewer Fund
Significant Changes

• Transfers for capital projects total $2,550,000 in 
FY23 to cash fund several projects, including

$1,500,000 TBWWTP expansion (bond offset)

$   600,000 Continental lift station offload

$   450,000 W Avenue A sewer replacement

• Other transfers include
$   599,950 Personnel cost allocation

$   618,050 Franchise fees and fleet allocation

$   135,710 Capital equipment replacement

$   275,100 Water meter replacement

13

14



8

15

Outstanding City Debt
for FY 2023

Bond Issuance Description
Outstanding

Amount

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2008 $         58,950

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2015 $    5,635,000

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2016 $    8,215,000

G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $       435,000

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2022 $    6,070,000

Revenue-Supported Debt Outstanding $  20,413,950

Annual Debt Service Payments 
on Revenue-Supported Debt

16

$0

$500,000

$1,000,000

$1,500,000

$2,000,000

$2,500,000

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042

Interest Principal

15

16



9

Drainage Fund

17

18

Drainage Fund
Year-End Forecast for FY22

FY22 Year-End
Budget Estimate

Revenue 580,400$      557,112$      
Expenditures (573,180)       (532,278)       
Incr/(Decr) to Reserve 7,220$          24,834$        

17

18



10

19

Forecast for FY22

• Revenue grows by five percent over FY 
2021 but ends FY 2022 $23,380 under 
budget

• Expenses are under budget due to savings in 
personnel and maintenance

20

Drainage Fund
FY23 Statement of Fund Balance

 Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022 342,071$      

Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:
FY23 Revenue 582,100        
FY23 Expenditures (582,100)      

Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance -                    

Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023 342,071$      

19

20



11

21

Budget to Budget Comparison
Revenue by Category 

Drainage Fund

Revenue Category

FY22

Budget

FY22

Estimate

FY23

Budget

Increase /

(Decrease)

Storm Drainage Fees $580,000 $556,620 $579,000 $ (1,000)

Interest Income 400 492 600 200

Transfers 0 0 2,500 2,500

Total Revenue $580,400 $557,112 $582,100 $   1,700

22

FY23 Drainage Fund Revenue

• No change to the City’s drainage fee is 
proposed for FY23

• Storm drainage fee revenue increases by four 
percent over the year-end estimate for FY22 

• Interest income grows as yields are expected 
to increase

21

22



12

Drainage Fund
Revenue from FY16 to FY23
FY Drainage Fees

2016 $377,990

2017 389,230

2018 452,742

2019 492,639

2020 517,462

2021 531,251

2022Projected 556,620

2023Budget 579,000

23

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

Drainage Fees

24

Budget to Budget Comparison
Expenses by Category

Drainage Fund 
Expense 
Category

FY22

Budget

FY22

Estimate

FY23

Budget

Increase /

(Decrease)

Personnel $  268,990 $251,515 $  198,610 $ (70,380)       

Supplies 15,630 16,940 17,120 1,490

Maintenance 46,260 30,760 54,360 8,100

Services 30,090 21,185 37,510 7,420

Debt 25,030 25,030 25,130 100

Capital Outlay 8,000 7,668 0 (8,000)

Transfers 179,180 179,180 249,370 70,190

Totals $  573,180 $532,278 $  582,100 $    8,920

23

24



13

25

Significant Changes

• Personnel costs and transfers reflect changes to the 
method of allocating payroll costs

• Flood warning expenses include the replacement 
of the Roy Reynolds/IH-14 Service Road device 
with a radar sensor

• Capital outlay decreases after the purchase of a 
zero-turn mower in FY 2022

Annual Debt Service Payments 
on Revenue-Supported Debt

26

$0

$5,000

$10,000

$15,000

$20,000

$25,000

$30,000

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Interest Principal

25

26



14

27

In Summary

• Water & Sewer Fund revenue grows to cover 
increasing costs for water distribution, water 
treatment, and backup power generation; 
additional debt service for the elevated storage 
tank; and cash-funding for capital projects

• $2,550,000 will be transferred into capital project 
funds for upcoming projects

• No rate increases are planned for drainage

Questions/Comments?

28

27

28



6/15/2022

1

WATER AND SEWER
RATE STRUCTURE

2023 - 2027
CITY COUNCIL FOLLOW-UP

JUNE 14, 2022

RATE STUDY FOLLOW-UP

• NELISA HEDDIN, PROPRIETOR OF NELISA HEDDIN CONSULTING, LLC, PRESENTED HER STUDY

AND RECOMMENDATIONS TO CITY COUNCIL ON MAY 24, 2022

• BASED UPON FEEDBACK, NELISA HAS ADJUSTED THE STUDY ASSUMPTIONS TO INCLUDE

• COMMERCIAL CONSUMPTION WAS INCREASED BY 1,500,000 GALLONS PER MONTH BEGINNING IN

2024 DUE TO EXPANSION OF THE BELL COUNTY JAIL

• MULTIFAMILY CONSUMPTION WAS INCREASED BY 600,000 GALLONS PER MONTH IN 2024 AND

RAISED AGAIN BY 600,000 GALLONS PER MONTH IN 2026 FOR TWO APARTMENT COMPLEXES

• CONSUMPTION FOR NEW SCHOOLS WERE ADDED IN 2024 AND 2026

• ON MAY 26, 2022, BELL COUNTY WCID INFORMED THE CITY THAT IT PLANNED TO ISSUE

APPROXIMATELY $12M IN DEBT FOR BACKUP POWER AT THE WATER PLANT. BELTON’S SHARE

OF THE PROJECT IS $1.5M PLUS INTEREST.  DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS OF $120,000 PER YEAR

HAVE BEEN ADDED TO THE STUDY BEGINNING IN 2023

1

2

EXHIBIT "B"



6/15/2022

2

WATER AND WASTEWATER
REVENUE REQUIREMENTS

• UTILITY RATES MUST COLLECT SUFFICIENT REVENUE TO COVER OPERATING EXPENSES, CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENTS, DEBT SERVICE, AND INFLATION OVER THE NEXT FIVE YEARS

• SEVERAL MAJOR PROJECTS WILL OCCUR DURING THE PERIOD THAT WILL ELEVATE EXPENSES 
SIGNIFICANTLY

(WATER) BELTON TRANSMISSION SYSTEM UPGRADE PROJECT UPSIZES THE 14” WATERLINE TO 24” AND 
INSTALLS TWO 9.5 MGD PUMPS FOR $6.7M, INCREASING ANNUAL EXPENSES BY $450,000

(WATER) BELTON WATER TREATMENT CAPACITY WILL INCREASE TO 4 MGD WITH A 30-YEAR BOND ISSUE 
BY BCWCID FOR $22M, INCREASING ANNUAL EXPENSES BY $1,000,000

(WATER) BACKUP POWER AT THE WATER TREATMENT PLANT, A $12.4M BCWCID PROJECT, WILL INCREASE 
CITY OF BELTON ANNUAL EXPENSES BY $120,000 TO PAY ITS SHARE OF DEBT SERVICE

(WASTEWATER) BIDDING IN 2023, EXPANSION OF THE TEMPLE-BELTON WWTP WILL REQUIRE A CITY DEBT 
ISSUANCE OF APPROXIMATELY $9.0M IN 2023, INCREASING ANNUAL EXPENSES BY $660,000

REVENUE REQUIREMENTS
WATER UTILITY

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Water Utility $5,503,234 $6,471,056 $7,080,236 $8,161,670 $8,706,589

Increase due to three
BCWCID water projects;
cash-funded City capital
projects; and additional
staff

Increase due to debt
service on $3.9M
bond issuance by the
City and cash-funded
capital projects

3

4



6/15/2022

3

REVENUE REQUIREMENTS
WASTEWATER UTILITY

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Wastewater Utility $5,960,688 $5,580,872 $6,219,099 $5,937,060 $6,913,264

Decline due
to fewer
cash-funded
projects
compared
to 2023

Increase due to
cash-funded
capital projects

2023 is elevated 
due to debt 
service on $9M 
bond issuance by 
City and cash-
funded capital 
projects per CIP

Increase due to 
cash-funded 
capital projects

RATE STRUCTURE OPTIONS TO CONSIDER

• WATER BASE RATES

• OPTION 1) BASE FEES BY METER SIZE AS RECOMMENDED BY THE CONSULTANT

• OPTION 2) BASE FEES BY METER SIZE WITH SAME RATE FOR 5/8” AND 3/4”

• OPTION 3) BASE FEES, ALL SAME CHARGE

• WATER VOLUMETRIC RATES

• OPTION 1) SEPARATE DOMESTIC AND SPRINKLER CUSTOMER CLASSES AS RECOMMENDED

• OPTION 2) SINGLE CUSTOMER CLASS

5

6



6/15/2022

4

OPTION 1) WATER BASE FEES BY METER SIZE

Count Size Current 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

7732 5/8” $    17.00 $    20.32 $    22.54 $    23.36 $    24.92 $    24.92

1 3/4” 17.00 25.61 28.62 29.70 31.89 31.89

563 1” 17.00 36.19 40.80 42.39 45.83 45.83

122 1.5” 17.00 62.65 71.24 74.10 80.69 80.69

276 2” 17.00 94.40 107.77 112.16 122.53 122.53

48 3” 17.00 179.07 205.17 213.65 234.08 234.08

13 4” 17.00 274.33 314.75 327.83 359.58 359.58

8 6” 17.00 538.92 619.14 644.98 708.18 708.18

3 8” 17.00 856.43 984.41 1,025.57 1,126.50 1,126.50

0 10” 17.00 1,226.86 1,410.55 1,469.59 1,614.55 1,614.55

0 12” 17.00 3,502.35 4,028.30 4,197.13 4,612.54 4,612.54

OPTION 2) WATER BASE FEES BY METER SIZE
WITH 5/8” AND 3/4” CHARGED SAME RATE

Count Size Current 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

7733
5/8 or 
3/4”

$    17.00 $    20.32 $    22.54 $    23.36 $    24.92 $    24.92

563 1” 17.00 36.19 40.80 42.39 45.83 45.83

122 1.5” 17.00 62.65 71.24 74.10 80.69 80.69

276 2” 17.00 94.40 107.77 112.16 122.53 122.53

48 3” 17.00 179.07 205.17 213.65 234.08 234.08

13 4” 17.00 274.33 314.75 327.83 359.58 359.58

8 6” 17.00 538.92 619.14 644.98 708.18 708.18

3 8” 17.00 856.43 984.41 1,025.57 1,126.50 1,126.50

0 10” 17.00 1,226.86 1,410.55 1,469.59 1,614.55 1,614.55

0 12” 17.00 3,502.35 4,028.30 4,197.13 4,612.54 4,612.54

7

8



6/15/2022

5

OPTION 3) WATER BASE FEES,
ALL SAME CHARGE

Count Size Current 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

8766 All Sizes $    17.00 $    22.14 $    24.52 $    25.32 $    26.97 $    26.97

OPTION 1) WATER VOLUMETRIC RATE,
DOMESTIC AND SPRINKLER CUSTOMER CLASSES

Count Class Current 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

8044 Domestic $    3.70 $    3.70 $    3.90 $    4.10 $    4.38 $    4.64

722 Sprinkler 3.70 4.75 5.38 5.71 6.43 6.67

• SPRINKLER METERS WOULD HAVE NO MONTHLY BASE CHARGE BEGINNING IN FY 2023
• VOLUMETRIC RATES APPLY FOR EACH 1,000 GALLONS CONSUMED
• OF THE 722 SPRINKLER CUSTOMERS, 525 ARE RESIDENTIAL AND 197 ARE COMMERCIAL/MULTI-FAMILY
• A CUSTOMER USING 10,000 GALLONS THROUGH A 5/8” SPRINKLER METER WOULD PAY $47.50 IN FY 

2023 COMPARED TO $49.92 USING THE DOMESTIC RATE PLUS BASE CHARGE METHODOLOGY AS IN 
PRIOR YEARS

9

10



6/15/2022

6

OPTION 2) WATER VOLUMETRIC RATE,
SINGLE CUSTOMER CLASS

Count Class Current 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

8766 All Classes $    3.70 $    3.87 $    4.13 $    4.35 $    4.69 $    4.93

EFFECT ON A CUSTOMER WHO USES 5,000 
GALLONS THROUGH A DOMESTIC 5/8” METER

OPTIONS 1 & 2

BASE RATES BY METER SIZE AND 
TWO CUSTOMER CLASSES

Amount

Base charge, incl 2,000 gallons $20.32

Volumetric charge (3x$3.70) 11.10

Total billed for water in FY 2023 31.42

Total billed for water in FY 2022 28.10

Change from FY 2022 $3.32

OPTION 3

SINGLE BASE RATE AND SINGLE 
VOLUMETRIC RATE

Amount

Base charge, incl 2,000 gallons $22.14

Volumetric charge (3x$3.87) 11.61

Total billed for water in FY 2023 33.75

Total billed for water in FY 2022 28.10

Change from FY 2022 $5.65

11

12



6/15/2022

7

RECOMMENDED WASTEWATER RATES

Current 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Base Fee $    14.00 $    16.25 $    18.51 $    18.51 $    18.51 $    18.51

Volumetric Rate 5.00 7.50 8.50 8.50 8.50 8.85

TOTAL WATER AND WASTEWATER BILL
FOR A CUSTOMER WHO USES 5,000 GALLONS 

THROUGH A 5/8” DOMESTIC METER

FY 2022

Amount

Water base charge $17.00

Water volumetric charge 11.10

Wastewater base charge 14.00

Wastewater volumetric charge 15.00

Total billed in FY 2022 $57.10

FY 2023

Amount

Water base charge* $20.32

Water volumetric charge* 11.10

Wastewater base charge 16.25

Wastewater volumetric charge 22.50

Total billed in FY 2023* $70.17

*Bill would be $72.50 if single-rate options 
are selected

13

14



6/15/2022

8

CITY COMPARISION

City Water Sewer Total Bill

Killeen $23.68 $26.86 $50.54

Temple 21.85 33.25 55.10

Harker Heights 28.74 27.03 55.77

Copperas Cove 40.00 44.25 88.25

Denison (pop 25,118) 39.75 35.56 75.31

Watauga (pop 24,629) 38.87 41.69 80.56

Corsicana (pop 23,989) 32.60 34.80 67.40

Belton FY 2022 28.10 29.00 57.10

Belton FY 2023 31.42 38.75 70.17

RECOMMENDATIONS

• OUR CONSULTANT, NELISA HEDDIN, RECOMMENDS ENDORSING

• BASE WATER RATES BY METER SIZE

• VOLUMETRIC RATES WITH TWO CUSTOMER CLASSES: DOMESTIC AND SPRINKLER

• WASTEWATER BASE AND VOLUMETRIC RATES AS CALCULATED

• HOW CUSTOMERS ARE CHARGED IS A POLICY DECISION OF CITY COUNCIL

• CITY COUNCIL WILL ANNUALLY ADOPT UTILITY RATES WITH THE FEE SCHEDULE

15

16



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #4 
     
Consider an amended Interlocal Agreement between the City of Belton and the Belton 
Independent School District for the School Resource Officer Program to add an additional 
school resource officer.   
 
Originating Department 
 
Police Department – Gene Ellis, Assistant City Manager/Chief of Police 
 
Summary Information 
 
The SRO agreement was amended on April 26, 2022, by the Belton City Council and BISD 
Board of Trustees concerning information sharing in compliance with State and Federal law.  
The City and BISD have maintained a strong partnership to keep our schools safe through 
the use of school resource officers (SRO) for over two decades. There are currently four 
Belton police officers assigned as SROs. BISD pays 83% of the salary and benefits for the 
SROs plus funding for vehicle use, equipment, and training.  
 
This amended SRO agreement with BISD is to add a fifth school resource officer at the 
request of BISD. They have agreed to pay 100% of the salary and benefits for the additional 
SRO plus $6,000 for vehicle use, equipment, and supplies. The amendment also clarifies 
that one of the current SROs is the rank of Sergeant. The amended provision does not alter 
the employment relationship between the SRO and the City, nor does it alter any existing 
rights or benefits previously assigned under this Agreement. 
 
The BISD School Board aproved this amended agreement on June 20, 2022.  
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
BISD will pay 100% of the salary and benefits for a fifth SRO. BISD will continue to pay 10 
months of salary for four officers and the City pays two months. BISD pays $6,000 per SRO 
for vehicle use, equipment, and supplies. BISD will cover school related training costs. 
 
Budgeted:   Yes    No 
 
If not budgeted:   Budget Transfer     Contingency     Amendment Needed     
Capital Project Funds 
 
Funding Source(s): BISD 
 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 2   
 

Recommendation 
 
Recommend approval of an amended interlocal agreement. 
 
Attachments 
Amended interlocal agreement between City and BISD.  



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

1 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, AND  

THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT  
REGARDING SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICERS 

 
THIS Interlocal agreement is made and entered into by and between the City of Belton, Texas (the 
“CITY”) and the Belton Independent School District (the “BISD”). 
 
Pursuant to the Texas Interlocal Cooperation Act, Tex. Govt. Code, §§791.001 et seq., the parties 
are empowered to contract with each other for the performance of governmental functions, 
including police protection. 
 
WHEREAS, the CITY and BISD desire to enter into an interlocal agreement pursuant to which 
uniformed Belton Police Department (“the Department” or “BPD”) police officers will be assigned 
to BISD campuses located within the City of Belton as School Resource Officers (“SRO”) under 
the terms and conditions stated herein, this Agreement will establish a joint cooperative effort and  
relationship between the CITY and BISD to foster an efficient and cohesive program that will 
build a positive relationship between police, BISD administration and staff, and students  
(hereinafter referred to as the “SRO Program”). 
 
A. Term. The initial term of the Agreement shall commence upon the date that parties’ signatures 
are affixed hereto and shall expire on August 31, 2023. After the initial term, this Agreement will 
automatically renew and extend for successive one (1) year terms unless either party elects to 
exercise their right to terminate under Section L of this Agreement. 
 
B. SRO Program. The City agrees to provide Police Officer(s), known as SROs, to BISD schools 
situated within the jurisdiction of the Department. The number of SROs will be as agreed between 
the parties to this Agreement.  

 
1. Concept 
The SRO Program utilizes the SRO Triad concept as set forth by NASRO (National 
Association of School Resource Officers). The SRO Triad concept generally means that 
the officers assigned to the program are Law Enforcement Officers, Informal Counselors, 
and Teachers.  
 
SROs are first and foremost Law Enforcement Officers for the City of Belton Police 
Department. SROs shall be responsible for carrying out all duties and responsibilities as a 
police officer and shall remain at all times under the control, through the chain of 
command, of the Belton Police Department; however, SROs will notify the appropriate 
Campus Administrators and the BISD Coordinator of Safety before taking police action on 
campus when practical and are enforcement officers in criminal matters only. SROs are 
not responsible for enforcement of any “school or house rule.” SROs are not school 
disciplinarians and will not assume this role. SROs will report directly to their designated 
supervisor in the Department in connection with normal law enforcement duties and shall 
consult with BISD Assistant Superintendent for Operations concerning duties that affect 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

2 

the District as a whole or on a particular campus. SROs will not involve themselves in 
administrative matters of BISD which are not criminal offenses.  
 
SROs are not formal counselors, and will not act as such, however, they may be used as a 
resource to assist students, faculty, staff and all persons involved with the District in a wide 
variety of subjects including, but not limited to, drug and alcohol education, in order to 
build rapport with students and staff. 
 
2. Selection 
When a SRO position becomes available, notice shall be given to all sworn Belton Police 
Officers through regular postings. Interested officers will be interviewed by a committee 
consisting of Department personnel and BISD administrators with the final selection being 
made by the Chief of Police with consideration of input from BISD. The Chief of Police 
will make SRO assignments for a school year with an annual review. 
 
BISD and the City will mutually agree on the specific schools to which each officer will 
be assigned. 
 
If an assigned officer is not satisfactory to BISD, BISD may request that the officer be 
removed from the campus or District, and BPD will use good faith efforts to replace the 
officer, subject to available personnel resources.  

 
3. Qualifications  
The SROs will be certified Peace Officers for the State of Texas and meet all requirements 
as set forth by Department Rules and Regulations. 
 
4. Scope of Services 
(a) Assigned officers shall serve primarily as SROs as outlined in this Agreement and will 
not be regularly assigned additional police duties during the school year. SROs will remain 
at the assigned BISD campus during duty hours and will attend school activities. The City 
reserves the right, however, to reassign any or all officers temporarily in the event of an 
emergency or when the City, in its sole discretion, deems necessary.  
 
(b) SROs will take enforcement action on criminal matters occurring on BISD campuses 
when appropriate and keep campus administrators and the BISD Coordinator of Safety 
informed of such actions. SROs will perform other duties consistent with law enforcement, 
including, but not limited to, traffic enforcement and direction, security monitoring and 
consulting, and investigation of crimes.  
 
(c) City shall coordinate assignment and duty hours with BISD. SROs will check in with 
the front office of the assigned BISD campus upon arrival and departure when practical. 
SROs will notify the BISD Coordinator of Safety and the principal of the assigned BISD 
campus in advance of a planned absence, and in the event of an unplanned absence, such 
as an illness or accident, will notify the assigned campus principal and the BISD 
Coordinator of Safety prior to the beginning of the school day. If necessary, to handle 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

3 

unplanned absences, BPD officers from other units may be assigned temporarily to provide 
coverage.  
 
(d) The City shall provide to the SROs all the law enforcement training and certification, 
vehicles and police equipment, benefits, and insurance (including liability coverage) that 
are provided to all of City’s police officers. BISD shall provide any equipment necessary 
to allow the SROs to communicate with BISD staff. BISD also agrees to reimburse the 
City for certain expenses related to vehicle usage and training as outlined in Section I of 
this Agreement.  
 
(e) SROs will assist the BISD Coordinators of Safety and Emergency Preparedness with 
the Safety and Security Audit required by Texas Education Code §37.207. 
 
(f) SROs will assist with emergency drills and simulations related to crisis management, 
emergency operations,  drills and threat mediation, as needed.  
 
(g) SROs will attend campus and District meetings, as requested by either the campus 
principal or District administrative staff. 

 
5. Required Training 
Selected SROs are required to have the following training: 

• NASRO Basic SRO Course, or equivalent SBLE course presented by the Texas 
School Safety Center, within three months of date of SRO assignment, subject to 
availability; 

• Use of restraints on students in accordance with Texas Education Code §37.0021 
and 19 TAC §89.1053;  

• Any other training required by the Texas Education Code and/or requested and paid 
for by BISD and approved by the Chief of Police. 

 
6. Replacement SRO 
In the case of an extended absence (defined as any time in excess of two work weeks or 
ten (10) consecutive days) of an officer who is assigned to BISD due to illness, vacation, 
FMLA, pending internal investigation or other leave, the City may assign a replacement 
officer. The replacement officer must obtain the required training as outlined in Section B, 
Subsection 5 of this Agreement. If the city chooses or is not able to provide a replacement 
SRO at the expiration of the extended absence, BPD will prorate the SRO’s monthly salary 
and deduct such amount from its monthly billing to BISD.  
 

C. Confidential Information. BISD, for itself, its officers, agents and employees, agrees that it 
shall treat all information provided to it by the City as confidential and shall not disclose any such 
information to a third party without the prior written approval of the City, except as required by 
law.  
 
City, for itself and its officers, agents and employees, agrees that it shall treat all information 
provided to it by the District as confidential and shall not disclose any such information to a third 
party, except as required by law. In carrying out its duties, the City, and its officers, agents and 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

4 

employees, shall at all times recognize and respect the confidentiality of student information, 
including but not limited to confidential student records, and shall seek access to such records, 
including District surveillance video, either for a “legitimate educational purpose” or, in the event 
of an emergency for the  purpose of protecting the health or safety of students or others. BISD will 
allow each SRO a secure computer terminal for access to select BISD student data, including 
District surveillance video upon request, maintained in the Skyward software system including 
student profile information, student family information, emergency contacts and critical alerts, 
student attendance and each student’s schedule. However, SROs are not authorized to redisclose 
any personally identifiable information from students’ education records unless the disclosure 
meets an exception to FERPA’s general consent requirement as set forth in BISD Board Policies 
FL(LEGAL) and (LOCAL). 
 
Both Parties understand and agree that each Party is subject to the requirements of the Texas Public 
Information Act (“PIA”), Texas Government Code, Chapter 552. Nothing in this agreement shall 
be interpreted to waive the requirements of the PIA. 
 
D. Body Worn Cameras. City and District agree that any use of body-worn cameras by SROs 
will be subject to and in compliance with state law and local regulations regarding the use and 
operation of body-worn cameras (BWC), in particular Texas Occupations Code §§1701.651, et 
seq. City will provide written information and training to the principal and assistant principals of 
the schools to which the officers are assigned, on the objectives and procedures for the use of 
BWCs. City may, if not otherwise prohibited by law, provide the District copies of any such 
filming of students, parents, employees, or others upon school property, upon request for such 
copies by the District, as an intergovernmental transfer. In the event the City believes that 
providing of a copy of such videos would be prohibited, City agrees to utilize its best efforts to 
facilitate the availability of the officer who made the video to answer questions, upon request by 
the District, in any school disciplinary investigation concerning the Officer’s knowledge of the 
facts and circumstances of the incident which was videoed. The parties also agree that any such 
film or video taken by, and kept in the possession of, the City’s officers may be considered “law 
enforcement records” under the FERPA, 20 U.S.C. §1232g and 34 C.F.R. §99.8, and that any copy 
of such film or video, if permitted by law to be provided to the District, may then become an 
educational record of the District under FERPA.  
 
E.  Access to Educational Records.  “Status as a “School Official.”  In accordance with FERPA 
and District Board Policy FL (LEGAL) and (LOCAL), an SRO may be considered a “school 
official” and may access otherwise confidential student educational records when a “legitimate 
educational interest” exists.  Because SRO’s may have access to “education records” for the 
District’s students as defined under FERPA, the SROs agree to abide by the FERPA limitations 
and requirements imposed on school officials.   The parties agree that: (1) the services/functions 
to be provided by SRO are services/functions for which the District would otherwise use its own 
employees; (2) SROs are under the District’s direct control with respect to SRO access to and use 
of the education records; and (3) SRO is subject to the re-disclosure requirements of 34 C.F.R. 
99.33(a) with respect to SRO’s access to and use of the education records.  SROs agree to assist 
the District in maintaining the privacy of educational records as may be required by state and 
federal law, including but not limited to FERPA and the Individuals with Disabilities Education 
Act (“IDEA”). 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

5 

 
Administrative Approval and Access.  Access to and use of any education records that contain 
personally identifiable information by SROs shall be done only with the approval or a school 
administrator and as permitted under FERPA and/or IDEA.  Unless an exception applies in 
accordance with FERPA or IDEA (e.g., health or safety emergency), an SRO may only have access 
to and use otherwise confidential student records or personally identifiable information within 
student education records for the purposes of carrying out his/her duties and responsibilities 
established by this Agreement and will not share such records or information with or disclose to 
any third party.  The SRO may not access or use confidential student education records or 
personally identifiable information contained within student education records for law 
enforcement purposes or re-disclose such information to outside law enforcement officers or 
agencies (including the City, County, or Sheriff’s Office), unless a lawful exception applies that 
allows for such use or re-disclosure.  The provision does not alter the employment relationship 
between the SRO and the City, nor does it alter any existing rights or benefits of any SRO assigned 
under this Agreement.  
 
Emergency Situation/After-Hours.  In an emergency, after-hours situation, the SRO may also 
contact the BISD Safety Coordinator, Assistant Superintendent of Operations, or Superintendent 
to access records or other school data.  
 
F. Restraints. In the event an SRO determines that the use of a restraint is necessary, the SRO 
shall promptly complete the BISD Restraint Incident Report form as required by Texas Education 
Code §37.0021 and as mutually agreed upon. 

 
G. Supervision. The day-to-day operation and administrative control of the SRO Program shall 
remain with the City of Belton Police Department. The Department shall assign supervisory 
personnel to oversee the program. 
 
H. Independent Contractor. City shall operate hereunder as an independent contractor and not 
as an officer, agent, servant or employee of BISD. City shall be solely responsible for the acts and 
omissions of its officers, members, agents, servants and employees. BISD shall be solely 
responsible for the acts and omissions of its officers, members, agents, servants, and employees. 
Neither City nor BISD shall be responsible under the Doctrine of Respondent Superior for the acts 
and omissions of the officers, members, agents, servants, employees or officers of the other. 
Nothing in this Agreement shall waive any statutory or common-law immunity or defense of City 
or BISD. 
 
I. Compensation. BISD, in consideration for the governmental services being provided by the 
City pursuant to this Agreement, agrees to reimburse the City for the following expenses: 

1. 10 months of each 3 SRO’s and 1 Sargeant’sSergeant’s annual salary and benefits, 
subject to deductions due to an extended absence of an SRO; 

1.2. 12 months of 1 SRO’s annual salary and benefits, subject to deductions due to an 
extended absence. Salary and benefits of an officer to attend the basic peace officer 
academy and field training may be covered by BISD with prior approval if the officer 
in training is being hired to backfill this SRO position.  



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

6 

2.3. $6,000 annually per SRO, for all police vehicle travel and use, equipment and 
supplies; and 

3.4. The cost of all training as outlined in Section B, Subsection 5 of this Agreement, 
upon proof of completion.  

 
The City shall provide an invoice to BISD within 15 days at the end of each month from August 
to June. BISD shall pay the invoice within 30 days of receipt. 
 
J. BISD Responsibilities. BISD will work cooperatively with the SROs to reduce criminal acts 
on school property and threats to schools. This will be accomplished by: 

• Reporting violations of the law committed on school property, at off-campus school 
programs, or crimes about which school staff become aware to the SROs or the appropriate 
local law enforcement agency as soon as possible after becoming aware of the incident. 

• Reporting suspicious activity or other events that come to the attention of school staff that 
could jeopardize school safety or prevent a criminal act. 

• Turning over to SROs or the appropriate law enforcement agency illegal contraband seized 
or found by BISD staff. 
 

BISD shall provide the SROs the following materials and facilities, which are deemed necessary 
to the performance of the SROs duties: 

• Access to an air-conditioned and properly lighted private office, which shall contain a 
telephone, to be used for general business purposes. 

• A location for files and records which can be properly locked and secured. 
• A desk with drawers, chair, filing cabinet and office supplies. 
• A campus hand-held communication radio. 

 
K. Notice. Any notice given hereunder shall be in writing, and may be affected by personal 
delivery or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the address of the respective 
parties indicated below: 
 
District: Superintendent  

Belton Independent School District 
P.O. Box 269 
Belton, Texas 76513 
 

City:  City Manager 
City of Belton 
333 Water St. 
Belton, Texas 76513 
 

The foregoing addresses for notice may be changed by either the City or BISD by delivering 
written notice of such change, in accordance with the requirements of this Section, to the other 
party.  
 
L. General Provisions. 
 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

7 

1. Interlocal Cooperation.  
The City and BISD agree to cooperate with each other in good faith, at all times during 
the term hereof in order to effectuate the purposes and intent of this Agreement. Each 
party hereto acknowledges and represents that this Agreement has been duly authorized 
by their respective governing body.  
 

2. Entire Agreement/Amendments.  
This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties respecting the 
subject matter thereof and supersedes all prior understandings and agreements between 
the parties regarding such matters. This Agreement may not be modified or amended 
except by written agreement duly executed by the parties hereto.  
 

3. Invalid Provisions.  
Any clause, sentence, paragraph or article of the Agreement which is determined by a 
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, in any respect 
shall not be deemed to impair, invalidate or nullify the remainder of this Agreement.  
 

4. Applicable Laws.  
This Agreement shall be constructed in accordance with Texas law. 
 

5.   Governmental Powers/Immunities.  
It is understood and agreed that by execution of this Agreement, neither the City nor 
BISD waives or surrenders any of its governmental powers or immunities.  

 
6.   No Waiver.  

The failure of the City or BISD to insist upon the performance of any term or provision 
of this Agreement or to exercise any right granted herein shall not constitute a waiver 
of the City’s or BISD’s respective right to insist upon appropriate performance or to 
assert any such right on any future occasion.  

 
7.   Force Majeure.  

The City and BISD shall exercise their best efforts to meet their respective duties and 
obligations as set for thin this Agreement, but shall not be held liable for any delay or 
omission in performance due to force majeure or other causes beyond their reasonable 
control, including, but not limited to, compliance with any government law, ordinance 
or regulation, acts of God, acts of the public enemy, fires, strikes, lockouts, natural 
disasters, wars, riots, material or labor restrictions by any governmental authority, 
transportation problems and/or any other similar causes. 

 
M. Termination of Agreement. This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon thirty 
(30) days written notice. However, BISD shall be responsible for payment due to the City for 
officers provided at any time during the immediately preceding year.  
 
 
 
 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

8 

 
 
 
 
 
BELTON INDEPENDENT    CITY OF BELTON  
SCHOOL DISTRICT   
  
 
_____________________________   _______________________________  
Jeff Norwood, President    Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 
Board of Trustees       
 
Date: ________________________   Date: __________________________ 
 
 
 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

1 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, AND  

THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT  
REGARDING SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICERS 

 
THIS Interlocal agreement is made and entered into by and between the City of Belton, Texas (the 
“CITY”) and the Belton Independent School District (the “BISD”). 
 
Pursuant to the Texas Interlocal Cooperation Act, Tex. Govt. Code, §§791.001 et seq., the parties 
are empowered to contract with each other for the performance of governmental functions, 
including police protection. 
 
WHEREAS, the CITY and BISD desire to enter into an interlocal agreement pursuant to which 
uniformed Belton Police Department (“the Department” or “BPD”) police officers will be assigned 
to BISD campuses located within the City of Belton as School Resource Officers (“SRO”) under 
the terms and conditions stated herein, this Agreement will establish a joint cooperative effort and  
relationship between the CITY and BISD to foster an efficient and cohesive program that will 
build a positive relationship between police, BISD administration and staff, and students  
(hereinafter referred to as the “SRO Program”). 
 
A. Term. The initial term of the Agreement shall commence upon the date that parties’ signatures 
are affixed hereto and shall expire on August 31, 2023. After the initial term, this Agreement will 
automatically renew and extend for successive one (1) year terms unless either party elects to 
exercise their right to terminate under Section L of this Agreement. 
 
B. SRO Program. The City agrees to provide Police Officer(s), known as SROs, to BISD schools 
situated within the jurisdiction of the Department. The number of SROs will be as agreed between 
the parties to this Agreement.  

 
1. Concept 
The SRO Program utilizes the SRO Triad concept as set forth by NASRO (National 
Association of School Resource Officers). The SRO Triad concept generally means that 
the officers assigned to the program are Law Enforcement Officers, Informal Counselors, 
and Teachers.  
 
SROs are first and foremost Law Enforcement Officers for the City of Belton Police 
Department. SROs shall be responsible for carrying out all duties and responsibilities as a 
police officer and shall remain at all times under the control, through the chain of 
command, of the Belton Police Department; however, SROs will notify the appropriate 
Campus Administrators and the BISD Coordinator of Safety before taking police action on 
campus when practical and are enforcement officers in criminal matters only. SROs are 
not responsible for enforcement of any “school or house rule.” SROs are not school 
disciplinarians and will not assume this role. SROs will report directly to their designated 
supervisor in the Department in connection with normal law enforcement duties and shall 
consult with BISD Assistant Superintendent for Operations concerning duties that affect 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

2 

the District as a whole or on a particular campus. SROs will not involve themselves in 
administrative matters of BISD which are not criminal offenses.  
 
SROs are not formal counselors, and will not act as such, however, they may be used as a 
resource to assist students, faculty, staff and all persons involved with the District in a wide 
variety of subjects including, but not limited to, drug and alcohol education, in order to 
build rapport with students and staff. 
 
2. Selection 
When a SRO position becomes available, notice shall be given to all sworn Belton Police 
Officers through regular postings. Interested officers will be interviewed by a committee 
consisting of Department personnel and BISD administrators with the final selection being 
made by the Chief of Police with consideration of input from BISD. The Chief of Police 
will make SRO assignments for a school year with an annual review. 
 
BISD and the City will mutually agree on the specific schools to which each officer will 
be assigned. 
 
If an assigned officer is not satisfactory to BISD, BISD may request that the officer be 
removed from the campus or District, and BPD will use good faith efforts to replace the 
officer, subject to available personnel resources.  

 
3. Qualifications  
The SROs will be certified Peace Officers for the State of Texas and meet all requirements 
as set forth by Department Rules and Regulations. 
 
4. Scope of Services 
(a) Assigned officers shall serve primarily as SROs as outlined in this Agreement and will 
not be regularly assigned additional police duties during the school year. SROs will remain 
at the assigned BISD campus during duty hours and will attend school activities. The City 
reserves the right, however, to reassign any or all officers temporarily in the event of an 
emergency or when the City, in its sole discretion, deems necessary.  
 
(b) SROs will take enforcement action on criminal matters occurring on BISD campuses 
when appropriate and keep campus administrators and the BISD Coordinator of Safety 
informed of such actions. SROs will perform other duties consistent with law enforcement, 
including, but not limited to, traffic enforcement and direction, security monitoring and 
consulting, and investigation of crimes.  
 
(c) City shall coordinate assignment and duty hours with BISD. SROs will check in with 
the front office of the assigned BISD campus upon arrival and departure when practical. 
SROs will notify the BISD Coordinator of Safety and the principal of the assigned BISD 
campus in advance of a planned absence, and in the event of an unplanned absence, such 
as an illness or accident, will notify the assigned campus principal and the BISD 
Coordinator of Safety prior to the beginning of the school day. If necessary, to handle 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

3 

unplanned absences, BPD officers from other units may be assigned temporarily to provide 
coverage.  
 
(d) The City shall provide to the SROs all the law enforcement training and certification, 
vehicles and police equipment, benefits, and insurance (including liability coverage) that 
are provided to all of City’s police officers. BISD shall provide any equipment necessary 
to allow the SROs to communicate with BISD staff. BISD also agrees to reimburse the 
City for certain expenses related to vehicle usage and training as outlined in Section I of 
this Agreement.  
 
(e) SROs will assist the BISD Coordinators of Safety and Emergency Preparedness with 
the Safety and Security Audit required by Texas Education Code §37.207. 
 
(f) SROs will assist with emergency drills and simulations related to crisis management, 
emergency operations, drills and threat mediation, as needed.  
 
(g) SROs will attend campus and District meetings, as requested by either the campus 
principal or District administrative staff. 

 
5. Required Training 
Selected SROs are required to have the following training: 

• NASRO Basic SRO Course, or equivalent SBLE course presented by the Texas 
School Safety Center, within three months of date of SRO assignment, subject to 
availability; 

• Use of restraints on students in accordance with Texas Education Code §37.0021 
and 19 TAC §89.1053;  

• Any other training required by the Texas Education Code and/or requested and paid 
for by BISD and approved by the Chief of Police. 

 
6. Replacement SRO 
In the case of an extended absence (defined as any time in excess of two work weeks or 
ten (10) consecutive days) of an officer who is assigned to BISD due to illness, vacation, 
FMLA, pending internal investigation or other leave, the City may assign a replacement 
officer. The replacement officer must obtain the required training as outlined in Section B, 
Subsection 5 of this Agreement. If the city chooses or is not able to provide a replacement 
SRO at the expiration of the extended absence, BPD will prorate the SRO’s monthly salary 
and deduct such amount from its monthly billing to BISD.  
 

C. Confidential Information. BISD, for itself, its officers, agents and employees, agrees that it 
shall treat all information provided to it by the City as confidential and shall not disclose any such 
information to a third party without the prior written approval of the City, except as required by 
law.  
 
City, for itself and its officers, agents and employees, agrees that it shall treat all information 
provided to it by the District as confidential and shall not disclose any such information to a third 
party, except as required by law. In carrying out its duties, the City, and its officers, agents and 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

4 

employees, shall at all times recognize and respect the confidentiality of student information, 
including but not limited to confidential student records, and shall seek access to such records, 
including District surveillance video, either for a “legitimate educational purpose” or, in the event 
of an emergency for the purpose of protecting the health or safety of students or others. BISD will 
allow each SRO a secure computer terminal for access to select BISD student data, including 
District surveillance video upon request, maintained in the Skyward software system including 
student profile information, student family information, emergency contacts and critical alerts, 
student attendance and each student’s schedule. However, SROs are not authorized to redisclose 
any personally identifiable information from students’ education records unless the disclosure 
meets an exception to FERPA’s general consent requirement as set forth in BISD Board Policies 
FL(LEGAL) and (LOCAL). 
 
Both Parties understand and agree that each Party is subject to the requirements of the Texas Public 
Information Act (“PIA”), Texas Government Code, Chapter 552. Nothing in this agreement shall 
be interpreted to waive the requirements of the PIA. 
 
D. Body Worn Cameras. City and District agree that any use of body-worn cameras by SROs 
will be subject to and in compliance with state law and local regulations regarding the use and 
operation of body-worn cameras (BWC), in particular Texas Occupations Code §§1701.651, et 
seq. City will provide written information and training to the principal and assistant principals of 
the schools to which the officers are assigned, on the objectives and procedures for the use of 
BWCs. City may, if not otherwise prohibited by law, provide the District copies of any such 
filming of students, parents, employees, or others upon school property, upon request for such 
copies by the District, as an intergovernmental transfer. In the event the City believes that 
providing of a copy of such videos would be prohibited, City agrees to utilize its best efforts to 
facilitate the availability of the officer who made the video to answer questions, upon request by 
the District, in any school disciplinary investigation concerning the Officer’s knowledge of the 
facts and circumstances of the incident which was videoed. The parties also agree that any such 
film or video taken by, and kept in the possession of, the City’s officers may be considered “law 
enforcement records” under the FERPA, 20 U.S.C. §1232g and 34 C.F.R. §99.8, and that any copy 
of such film or video, if permitted by law to be provided to the District, may then become an 
educational record of the District under FERPA.  
 
E.  Access to Educational Records.  “Status as a “School Official.”  In accordance with FERPA 
and District Board Policy FL (LEGAL) and (LOCAL), an SRO may be considered a “school 
official” and may access otherwise confidential student educational records when a “legitimate 
educational interest” exists.  Because SRO’s may have access to “education records” for the 
District’s students as defined under FERPA, the SROs agree to abide by the FERPA limitations 
and requirements imposed on school officials.   The parties agree that: (1) the services/functions 
to be provided by SRO are services/functions for which the District would otherwise use its own 
employees; (2) SROs are under the District’s direct control with respect to SRO access to and use 
of the education records; and (3) SRO is subject to the re-disclosure requirements of 34 C.F.R. 
99.33(a) with respect to SRO’s access to and use of the education records.  SROs agree to assist 
the District in maintaining the privacy of educational records as may be required by state and 
federal law, including but not limited to FERPA and the Individuals with Disabilities Education 
Act (“IDEA”). 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

5 

Administrative Approval and Access.  Access to and use of any education records that contain 
personally identifiable information by SROs shall be done only with the approval or a school 
administrator and as permitted under FERPA and/or IDEA.  Unless an exception applies in 
accordance with FERPA or IDEA (e.g., health or safety emergency), an SRO may only have access 
to and use otherwise confidential student records or personally identifiable information within 
student education records for the purposes of carrying out his/her duties and responsibilities 
established by this Agreement and will not share such records or information with or disclose to 
any third party.  The SRO may not access or use confidential student education records or 
personally identifiable information contained within student education records for law 
enforcement purposes or re-disclose such information to outside law enforcement officers or 
agencies (including the City, County, or Sheriff’s Office), unless a lawful exception applies that 
allows for such use or re-disclosure.  The provision does not alter the employment relationship 
between the SRO and the City, nor does it alter any existing rights or benefits of any SRO assigned 
under this Agreement.  
 
Emergency Situation/After-Hours.  In an emergency, after-hours situation, the SRO may also 
contact the BISD Safety Coordinator, Assistant Superintendent of Operations, or Superintendent 
to access records or other school data.  
 
F. Restraints. In the event an SRO determines that the use of a restraint is necessary, the SRO 
shall promptly complete the BISD Restraint Incident Report form as required by Texas Education 
Code §37.0021 and as mutually agreed upon. 

 
G. Supervision. The day-to-day operation and administrative control of the SRO Program shall 
remain with the City of Belton Police Department. The Department shall assign supervisory 
personnel to oversee the program. 
 
H. Independent Contractor. City shall operate hereunder as an independent contractor and not 
as an officer, agent, servant or employee of BISD. City shall be solely responsible for the acts and 
omissions of its officers, members, agents, servants and employees. BISD shall be solely 
responsible for the acts and omissions of its officers, members, agents, servants, and employees. 
Neither City nor BISD shall be responsible under the Doctrine of Respondent Superior for the acts 
and omissions of the officers, members, agents, servants, employees or officers of the other. 
Nothing in this Agreement shall waive any statutory or common-law immunity or defense of City 
or BISD. 
 
I. Compensation. BISD, in consideration for the governmental services being provided by the 
City pursuant to this Agreement, agrees to reimburse the City for the following expenses: 

1. 10 months of 3 SRO’s and 1 Sergeant’s annual salary and benefits, subject to deductions 
due to an extended absence of an SRO; 

2. 12 months of 1 SRO’s annual salary and benefits, subject to deductions due to an 
extended absence. Salary and benefits of an officer to attend the basic peace officer 
academy and field training may be covered by BISD with prior approval if the officer 
in training is being hired to backfill this SRO position.  

3. $6,000 annually per SRO, for all police vehicle travel and use, equipment and supplies; 
and 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

6 

4. The cost of all training as outlined in Section B, Subsection 5 of this Agreement, upon 
proof of completion.  

 
The City shall provide an invoice to BISD within 15 days at the end of each month from August 
to June. BISD shall pay the invoice within 30 days of receipt. 
 
J. BISD Responsibilities. BISD will work cooperatively with the SROs to reduce criminal acts 
on school property and threats to schools. This will be accomplished by: 

• Reporting violations of the law committed on school property, at off-campus school 
programs, or crimes about which school staff become aware to the SROs or the appropriate 
local law enforcement agency as soon as possible after becoming aware of the incident. 

• Reporting suspicious activity or other events that come to the attention of school staff that 
could jeopardize school safety or prevent a criminal act. 

• Turning over to SROs or the appropriate law enforcement agency illegal contraband seized 
or found by BISD staff. 
 

BISD shall provide the SROs the following materials and facilities, which are deemed necessary 
to the performance of the SROs duties: 

• Access to an air-conditioned and properly lighted private office, which shall contain a 
telephone, to be used for general business purposes. 

• A location for files and records which can be properly locked and secured. 
• A desk with drawers, chair, filing cabinet and office supplies. 
• A campus hand-held communication radio. 

 
K. Notice. Any notice given hereunder shall be in writing, and may be affected by personal 
delivery or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the address of the respective 
parties indicated below: 
 
District: Superintendent  

Belton Independent School District 
P.O. Box 269 
Belton, Texas 76513 
 

City:  City Manager 
City of Belton 
333 Water St. 
Belton, Texas 76513 
 

The foregoing addresses for notice may be changed by either the City or BISD by delivering 
written notice of such change, in accordance with the requirements of this Section, to the other 
party.  
  



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

7 

L. General Provisions. 
 

1. Interlocal Cooperation.  
The City and BISD agree to cooperate with each other in good faith, at all times during 
the term hereof in order to effectuate the purposes and intent of this Agreement. Each 
party hereto acknowledges and represents that this Agreement has been duly authorized 
by their respective governing body.  
 

2. Entire Agreement/Amendments.  
This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties respecting the 
subject matter thereof and supersedes all prior understandings and agreements between 
the parties regarding such matters. This Agreement may not be modified or amended 
except by written agreement duly executed by the parties hereto.  
 

3. Invalid Provisions.  
Any clause, sentence, paragraph or article of the Agreement which is determined by a 
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, in any respect 
shall not be deemed to impair, invalidate or nullify the remainder of this Agreement.  
 

4. Applicable Laws.  
This Agreement shall be constructed in accordance with Texas law. 
 

5.   Governmental Powers/Immunities.  
It is understood and agreed that by execution of this Agreement, neither the City nor 
BISD waives or surrenders any of its governmental powers or immunities.  

 
6.   No Waiver.  

The failure of the City or BISD to insist upon the performance of any term or provision 
of this Agreement or to exercise any right granted herein shall not constitute a waiver 
of the City’s or BISD’s respective right to insist upon appropriate performance or to 
assert any such right on any future occasion.  

 
7.   Force Majeure.  

The City and BISD shall exercise their best efforts to meet their respective duties and 
obligations as set for thin this Agreement, but shall not be held liable for any delay or 
omission in performance due to force majeure or other causes beyond their reasonable 
control, including, but not limited to, compliance with any government law, ordinance 
or regulation, acts of God, acts of the public enemy, fires, strikes, lockouts, natural 
disasters, wars, riots, material or labor restrictions by any governmental authority, 
transportation problems and/or any other similar causes. 

 
M. Termination of Agreement. This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon thirty 
(30) days written notice. However, BISD shall be responsible for payment due to the City for 
officers provided at any time during the immediately preceding year.  
 
 



 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS AND THE BELTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT—Revised March 2022 
  

8 

BELTON INDEPENDENT    CITY OF BELTON  
SCHOOL DISTRICT   
  
 
_____________________________   _______________________________  
Jeff Norwood, President    Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 
Board of Trustees       
 
Date: ________________________   Date: __________________________ 
 
 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 5   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
         
       Date:  June 28, 2022  
       Case No.: Z-22-17 

Request: A to PD-MF 
Owner/Applicant: Avenue D Investment, 
LLC. / Michael Henninger 

 
 
Agenda Item #5 
 
Z-22-17 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural (A) to Planned 
Development - Multiple Family District (PD – MF) on approximately 18.168 acres located at 
5890 Toll Bridge Road.  
 
Originating Department: Planning Department – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Current Zoning: Agricultural   
 
Proposed Zoning: Planned Development – Multiple Family Residential (PD – MF) 
 
Proposed Use: Duplex Residential Development 
 
Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Designation: Commercial Corridor, which may permit MF 
developments. 
 
Design Standards Type Area 2: Projected to be primarily commercial highway frontage uses 
with opportunities for mixed uses, hotels, restaurants, new car dealerships, multi-story office, 
and other similar commercial uses. 
 
Background/Case Summary 
 
The applicant proposes to build a duplex-style attached dwelling unit development which offers 
market rate 3-bedroom units for rent. The site consists of approximately 18 acres and is 
proposed for 95 two-story duplexes (190 units), a leasing office/amenity center, and two small 
parks. The applicant is requesting a Planned Development District to allow use and to 
accommodate setback reductions.  
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
Existing Conditions: The surrounding zoning and land uses are described below: 
 
 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 5   
 

Direction Zoning Use 
North Commercial Highway and 

PD- Commercial Highway 
Undeveloped (proposed RV 
Site – 100 spaces proposed)  

South Single Family-1  Detached homes 
East Agricultural Undeveloped and future 

River Farm Development 
West Agricultural Undeveloped  

  
Allowable Land Uses: The proposed zoning change would limit the property to the proposed 
use as a duplex style residential development under one ownership, as shown in the site plan 
(Exhibit B).  
 
Area & Setback Requirements: Minimum area and setback requirements for the requested 
Multi Family (MF) Zoning District are summarized below.  
 
Multi Family 

Lot Area: 10,000 sq ft;     Front Yard: 25’ 
  2,420 sq ft/du (18 du/acre)  Rear Yard: 20’       
Lot Width: 80’       
Lot Depth: 120’      Side Yard: 60’ when excess of one  

story in height and adjacent to Single 
Family Zoning District, 8’ between 
buildings w/o openings and 15’ between 
buildings w/ openings 

 
The proposed site exceeds the minimum lot size of 10,000 square feet required in the MF 
zoning district. The overall density is below the maximum 18 units per acre by proposing 10.5 
units per acre.  
 
Critical Land Use/ Zone Change Decision: 
 
This duplex residential development would tie into the South Belton water and sewer lines. 
While the FLUM may permit multifamily development in the commercial highway corridor, the 
City’s comprehensive Sewer Capacity Study, conducted by Halff and Associates in 2016, limits 
development to a lesser density. The Study, which led to the just completed 21,000’ of sewer 
line and the nearly completed lift station, anticipated commercial developments in the corridor 
west of Toll Bridge Road, including retail stores, restaurants, offices, and other similar 
commercial uses, with less impact in the sewer shed basin. Phases 1 and 2 of the South Belton 
Sewer Project, the result of the City’s future-oriented growth analysis, reflects an investment 
by the citizens of Belton totalling $8 million dollars, with gravity sewer designed to serve nearly 
2,000 acres at projected densities. These decisions were carefully made by Council and are 
only now being implemented. Nothing has changed in terms of the sewer system capacity. 
Please see exhibit named Critical Zoning Decision. 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 3 of 5   
 

We have serious concerns with permitting a higher density development than anticipated in the 
existing sewer shed to connect to the system, requiring the use of more capacity than the 
system has allocated for development in this area. While there are currently no other users on 
the new sewer line, this increased density could impact future developments along the 
Interstate 35 corridor and constrain the Council’s land use decisions. Increasing the sewer 
capacity is not feasible at this time and will require a substantial investment by the City in the 
future. Also, approval of this request will send a message that other high density residential 
development is acceptable in this corridor between Tollbridge Road and Interstate 35. Staff is 
already having these discussions with nearby property owners. We continue to feel this land 
use decision is critical and the proposal inappropriate. The Planning and Zoning Commission 
recommended approval.  
 
If approved, a re-analysis of the Lampasas Sewer Basin will need to be conducted. The 
applicant has been informed and has agreed to participate in its cost.  
 
Development Standards 
 
The applicant is requesting a side yard reduction to 40’ from 60’ along the southern property 
line. Per the applicant, the distance between the existing residential structures on the property 
to the south and the proposed duplex buildings will exceed 60’. In addition, a proposed 
boundary fence and heavy landscaping are proposed to provide a buffer between the 
properties. The applicant is also requesting a 5’ side yard setback reduction between the 
duplexes. The MF zoning requires a 15’ separation between apartment buildings with openings 
(windows and doors); the site plan shows a 10’ separation between the buildings. This is 
comparable to a 5’ side yard setback in a Single Family-3 (SF-3) zoning district and appears 
reasonable. All other setbacks – front and rear setbacks are within standards.  
 
Access: The applicant is proposing three means of access to this site – one on Toll Bridge 
Road and two on Interstate 35 Frontage Road, subject to TxDOT’s approval.  
 
Parking: According to Section 34, Off-Street Parking and Loading Requirements, of the Zoning 
Ordinance, multi-family developments with three bedrooms are required to have 2.5 off-street 
parking spaces. Staff believes this proposal is similar to a single family/duplex use which 
requires four parking spaces per dwelling unit. Per section 34.2, Special Off-Street Parking 
Provisions – Residential District, single family and duplex zoning districts are required to have 
two additional paved parking spaces behind the front property line to allow for stacking or 
maneuvering in addition to the two required covered parking spaces per section 34.6, Parking 
Requirements Based on Use. The minimum total number of parking spaces required is 760 (4 
x 190). Staff is concerned that the project will not provide enough parking, and access to the 
buildings may be blocked when needed by public safety personnel. If the future residents are 
forced to park on the private streets because there is not enough room on the duplex property, 
there will be challenges to access residents during an emergency.  
 
The applicant disagrees. This development proposes private roads (24’ wide) with parking 
internal to the development which will be managed by a leasing agent. The applicant indicated 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 4 of 5   
 

that each unit would have an oversized garage and two driveway spaces. Per the applicant, 
the oversized garage is adequate for the 1.5 parking required. The applicant is also proposing 
20 visitor parking spaces and is agreeable to provide additional parking spaces subject to a 
completed evaluation of the site including tree preservation and site engineering requirements 
to achieve 3.5 spaces per unit. This will yield 665 spaces at the duplexes and with additional 
visitor parking. From previous experiences with similar types of developments, staff 
recommends 3.5 parking spaces per unit, a total of 665. The applicant is proposing a 
compromise of 590 total parking spaces (3 x 190 + 20 visitor parking spaces). A variance is 
required to allow for a reduction in parking standards, from 760. The number of parking spaces 
proposed is 78% of the required number of spaces. The Planning and Zoning Commission 
recommended 590 spaces. 
 
Per the elevations provided, all the dwelling units are proposed to have a masonry veneer on 
the first floor and hardie plank siding on the second floor. As this is a highly visible Interstate 
35 corridor, staff recommended compliance with the City’s Building Design Standards, which 
requires 90% masonry construction on the first floor and 75% masonry construction on the 
second floor. Concrete material is proposed for the boundary fencing. Each unit will be 
individually metered for water service. Individual residential trash containers will be provided to 
service each unit. Landscaping plans have not been provided but must meet the requirements 
of the Design Standards. Internal trails and neighborhood parks are proposed to provide green 
space and amenities in the development. The Planning and Zoning Commission 
recommended against compliance with the City’s Design Standards. While elevation 
designs were shown to the Commission, no conditions were recommended that will 
ensure these designs will be achieved.  
 
Staff Recommendation 
 
We retain serious reservations about the approval of this zoning change due to the issues 
relating to the designed, funded, and built sewer system. While the Future Land Use Plan 
(FLUM) indicates higher density residential development may be permitted, the area appears 
to be better suited for commercial development due to its proximity to, and visibility from, 
Interstate 35. In addition, the sanitary sewer system constructed in this area supports 
commercial development and low density residential, not the higher density proposed. If 
approved, Staff concurs with the 590 parking spaces. However, Staff recommends that all of 
the buildings conform to the Building Design Standards and the fencing, wall and screening 
requirements of Belton’s Design Guidelines. 
 
Planning and Zoning Commission Recommendation 
 
At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted 5-2 to recommend 
approval of the requested zoning change as recommended by staff, with exceptions to allow 
for a minimum of 590 parking spaces and acceptance of applicant’s proposed building design 
with no design perimeters to achieve them.  
 
If recommended for approval by City Council, staff recommends the following conditions: 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 5 of 5   
 

1. The development must conform to all applicable uses indicated on the attached site plan 
and the Multiple Family Zoning District including adherence to Belton’s Design Standards 
relating to Building Design Standards, and Fencing, Wall and Screening Standards.  

2. A side yard setback of 40’ is allowed along the southern property line adjacent to single 
family residential zoning district.  

3. A reduction of the separation between buildings that have openings to 10’ is allowed.  
4. A minimum of 590 parking spaces shall be provided.  
5. A one lot subdivision plat is required.  
6. The applicant has agreed to cost share in the re-analysis of the sewer basin, at a cost not 

to exceed $15,000.  
7. The development of the property shall conform to all applicable Type Area 2 Design 

Standards, as identified in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Code, including:  
a. Building Design Standards 
b. Landscape Design Standards 
c. Tree Protection, Preservation, and Mitigation Standards 
d. Fencing, Wall and Screening Standards. 

 
Attachments 
Zoning application/Letter/Site Plan 
Property Location Map 
Zoning map 
Critical Zoning Decision Map 
Aerial photo 
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’)/Zoning notice to owners/Property owner’s list 
Field notes 
Applicant responses to staff comments 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance 































12
''

12
''

12''

12
''

15"

8"

12"

Lampasas River

Lampasas River

SHANKLIN RD

TO
LL

 BR
ID

GE
 RD

TOLL BRIDGE RD

ELMER KING

River Farms MUD

CRITICAL ZONING DECISION
IH 35/TOLL BRIDGE RD CORRIDOR

SHANKLIN TO ELMER KING

Lift Station

IH 
- 3

5

Water_line

South_Belton_Sewer_Project

Henninger Zoning Request

Zoning
Agricultural

Commercial Highway

Commercial-1

Commercial-2

Planned Development

Single Family-1 ´0 1,000500 Feet

*

*

WAGNER TRACT

MORRIS TRACT













1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton, City Hall 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, June 21, 2022
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Dave Jarratt, Quinton Locklin, 
Alton McCallum, Zach Krueger and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: Nicole Fisher and Luke Potts. 
The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, and IT Specialist Alex 
Munger.  
 
4. Z-22-17 - Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural (AG) to Planned Development 

- Multiple Family District (PD – MF) on approximately 18.168 acres located at 5890 Toll Bridge Road.   
 

Staff Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report.  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. With no other requesting to speak, the public hearing was closed.  
 
The applicant’s representative, Myra Goepp, spoke to the commission on the benefits of affordable housing 
development and addressed staff concerns related to parking and sewer capacity.  
 
Commission Member Jarratt made a motion to approve Z-22-17 as presented by staff with exception of City’s masonry 
provision item 6B and parking standards.  The motion failed without a second.  
 
Commission Member Jarratt made a motion to approve Z-22-17 as presented by staff, with exceptions to allow for a 
compromised total of 590 parking spaces and the waiver of City masonry provision in item 6B. The motion was 
seconded by Commission Member Krueger.  The motion was approved with 5 ayes, 2 nays. Chair Baggerly and Vice 
Chair Covington dissenting. Both stated they did not believe this proposal to be the best use of the property 



ORDINANCE NO. 2022-31 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON BY 
CHANGING THE DESCRIBED DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURAL TO PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT – MULTIPLE FAMILY DISTRICT ON APPROXIMATELY 18.168 ACRE 
PROPERTY LOCATED 5890 TOLL BRIDGE ROAD.   
 
WHEREAS, Avenue D Investments, LLC, representing Michael and Nancy Henninger, the 
property owner, has presented a petition duly signed, to the City Planning & Zoning 
Commission and filed said petition with the City Clerk of the City of Belton, and due notice 
of filing of said petition and hearing on said petition has been given as required by the City 
Zoning Ordinance and by law, and a hearing on said petition before the City Planning & 
Zoning Commission of the City of Belton was set for the 21st day of June, 2022, at 5:30 
p.m. for hearing and adoption, said district being described as follows: 
 

approximately 18.168 acres  
located at 5890 Toll Bridge Road  

(location map attached as Exhibit “A”) 
 
WHEREAS, said application for such amendment was duly recommended by the 

said City Planning & Zoning Commission and the date, time, and place of the hearing on 
said application by the City Council of the City of Belton was set for the 28th day of June 
2022, at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center and due notice of said hearing was 
given as required by ordinances and by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, a hearing was held upon the application by the City Council of the City 
of Belton at the time, place and date herein before set forth and no valid objection to said 
amendments was presented. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Belton, 
Texas, that the said district located on a tract of land as more fully and completely 
described above, be and is hereby changed Agricultural to Planned Development – Multiple 
Family, in accordance to Section 32, Planned Development District, and Section 15, 
Multiple Family District, and the Design Standards in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the 
Zoning Ordinance. The Zoning Ordinance of the City of Belton is hereby amended, subject 
to the following conditions: 

 
1. The development must conform to all applicable uses indicated on the attached site 

plan including adherence to Belton’s Design Standards relating to Building Design, 
fencing and screening, and the Multiple Family Zoning District.  

2. A side yard setback of 40’ is allowed along the southern property line adjacent to 
single family residential zoning district.  

3. A reduction of the separation between buildings that have openings to 10’ is 
allowed.  

4. A minimum of 590 parking spaces shall be provided.  
5. A one lot subdivision plat is required. 



6. The applicant will cost share in the re-analysis of the sewer basin up to $15,000. 
7. The development of the property shall conform to all applicable Type Area 2 Design 

Standards, as identified in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Code, 
including:  

a. Building Design Standards 
b. Landscape Design Standards 
c. Tree Protection, Preservation, and Mitigation Standards 
d. Fencing, Walls, and Screening Standards. 

 
This ordinance was presented at the stated meeting of the City Council of the City of Belton 
and upon reading was passed and adopted by the City Council on the 28th day of June 
2022, by a vote of ______ ayes and ______ nays. 
 

SIGNED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk on this the 
28th day of June, 2022. 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



EXHIBIT "A"



EXHIBIT "B"



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item                   
 
 
        

Date:  June 28, 2022 
Case No.: Z-22-19 
Request: Agricultural to MH 

Applicant/Owner: Emerald Oaks MHP –  
Kambiz Reissedonna 
 

Agenda Item #6 
 
Z-22-19 - Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Mobile Home 
District on approximately 6.422 acres located at 2061 Circle Oak Loop.  
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning Department – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Current Zoning: Agricultural District 
 
Proposed Zoning: Mobile Home District 
 
Proposed Uses: Mobile Home Park 
      
Future Land Use Map Designation: 
 
The FLUM identifies this general area as a commercial center suitable for smaller scale 
commercial uses.  
 
Design Standards Type Area 2: 
 
This Type Area includes various blocks along I-35 and I-14 that are projected for commercial 
highway frontage uses. 
 
Background/Case Summary 
 
The applicant is the property owner of the Emerald Oaks Mobile Home Park, which was 
annexed in 2006. The park was zoned Agricultural upon annexation and has been operating 
as a legal non-conforming use. The owner submitted this application to bring the park into 
compliance with Zoning requirements. There are currently 19 manufactured homes and two 
unused recreational vehicles that are stored at this location.  
 
The owner is not planning to locate any new homes onsite or to make improvements currently. 
Code Enforcement Officers and Building Inspection staff are actively working with the property 
owner to secure an annual permit as required for all Mobile Home Parks. The approval of this 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 2   
 

zoning change does not alleviate the owner’s responsibility to comply with the City’s Code of 
Ordinances, Chapter 12, Mobile Home Parks, to ensure minimum safety requirements are met. 
This zoning request is positive evidence that the owner is attempting to bring the property into 
compliance with City ordinances. 
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
Existing Conditions: The surrounding properties east and west of the subject property are also 
zoned Agricultural from annexation. The property west is also a non-conforming mobile home 
park. The property east is developed with a detached home. The properties south of Interstate 
14 are zoned Commercial-1 and Agricultural. 
  
Allowable Land Uses: The existing use is permitted in the MH District. New homes placed in 
this park will be required to comply with current standards.  
 
Area & Setback Requirements: The subject lot exceeds the minimum area requirement for the 
Mobile Home District, which requires a minimum of five acres and a maximum of 25 acres for 
a Mobile Home Park. This site is approximately six acres. The maximum density allowed is 20 
units per acre. The site currently has three units per acre.  
 
Recommendation 
 
At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted unanimously to 
postpone this item in favor of a Planned Development – Mobile Home Residential zoning district 
to establish a maximum density for the park.  
 
Attachments 
Zoning application  
Property Location Map 
Zoning map 
Aerial  
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’)/Zoning notice to owners/Property owner’s list 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  





















1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton, City Hall 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, June 21, 2022
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Dave Jarratt, Quinton Locklin, 
Alton McCallum, Zach Krueger and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: Nicole Fisher and Luke Potts. 
The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, and IT Specialist Alex 
Munger.  
 
5. Z-22-19 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Mobile Home District on 

approximately 6.422 acres located at 2061 Circle Oak Loop. 
 

Staff Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report.  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. With no other requesting to speak, the public hearing was closed. 
 
The applicant, Kambiz Reissedonna, addressed questions from the commission. 
 
Vice Chair Covington made a motion to postpone this request to the July meeting in favor of a Planned Development – 
Mobile Home district to provide a maximum density for this site, which was second by Commission Member Jarratt. 
The motion passed with 7 ayes, 0 nays.  



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2021 

Page 1 of 3   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item                   
 
 
      Date:  June 28, 2022
      Case No.: Z-21-05 

Request: PD-SF1 to PD-SF-1 w/ SUP for 
Accessory Dwelling Unit 

Applicant/Owner: LGGD Properties, LLC. 
   

 
Agenda Item #7 
 
Z-22-21 - Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Planned Development – 
Single Family-1 Zoning District to Planned Development – Single Family-1 with a Specific Use 
Permit for an Accessory Dwelling Unit on approximately 0.928 acres located at 517 E. 25th 
Avenue.  
  
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Current Zoning: Planned Development – Single Family Residential-1 (PD-SF1) 
 
Proposed Zoning: Planned Development – Single Family Residential-1 with a Specific Use 
Permit for an Accessory Dwelling Unit (PD-SF1 w/ SUP) 
     
Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Designation: Residential  
 
Design Standards Type Area 14:  
 
Type Area 14 is currently and projected to be primarily single lot developments. This includes 
the former Leon Valley Golf Course, River Fair, Red Rock and Smith Dawson Ranch areas.  
 
Background/Case Summary 
 
The applicant submitted this application to allow for an attached Accessory Dwelling Unit 
(ADU). The applicant is proposing to remodel the existing house into two separate living 
quarters with a kitchen in both sections. Our Zoning Ordinance was amended in October 2018 
to allow ADUs in certain zoning districts and established basic standards for this use. An ADU 
with a kitchen is allowed in the SF-1 Zoning District as an incidental use on the same lot as the 
main dwelling unit, subject to approval of a Specific Use Permit. The following standards apply: 
 
a. Lot must be zoned AG, RE, SF-1, SF-2, SF-3; 
b. Limit to ONE ADU per lot; 
c. Minimum lot size is 5000 square feet; 

 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2021 

Page 2 of 3   
 

d. Maximum square feet allowed shall be 800 square feet or no more than 60% of the square 
footage of the main building, whichever is greater; 

e. Maximum Height: must be compatible with surrounding structures, not to exceed 2½ 
stories; 

f. Building setbacks – ADU must be constructed to the rear of the main building and observe 
the same side yard setbacks as required for the main building. An ADU shall have a rear 
yard setback of no less than 10 feet, and if detached from the main structure, must be 
separated from the main structure by a minimum distance of 10 feet; 

g. One additional parking space is required for the addition of an ADU unless the parking 
requirement is already satisfied on the lot; 

h. Maximum lot coverage shall be no more than 60% with the addition of an ADU, including 
the main building and any other accessory buildings; 

i. Building materials shall be compatible with the main building and comply with the City of 
Belton Design Standards; 

j. Water and sewer utilities must share meters with the main building; 
k. Lot must be platted or exempt from platting per Section 45, Creation of Building Site; 
l. The ADU may not be sold separately from sale of the entire property, including the main 

dwelling unit. 
 
The applicant’s property consists of approximately 0.928 acres with the building envelope of 
the main structure comprising approximately 3,440 sq. ft. The main structure will be remodeled 
to provide two living areas connected by a covered breezeway. With the proposed remodel, 
the main dwelling unit will be approximately 1,650 sq. ft. The proposed ADU is approximately 
1,550 sq. ft. to accommodate a kitchen, two bedrooms, two and half bathrooms, living room, 
utility room and an office. The ADU will have a 2-car attached garage and will be accessed via 
the existing driveway. The main house has a 2-car garage and additional parking is available 
on the paved driveway, no additional parking spaces are needed. The units will share utilities 
including water, sewer, and electricity. The main structure was built in 1964 with a masonry 
exterior. A new masonry wall is proposed to create a private courtyard at the front of the 
residence.  
 
The proposed ADU does not exceed the maximum size permitted and is approximately 45% 
of the existing house. The existing house is approximately 3,440 square feet and is being 
remodeled to accommodate the two dwelling units. This seems like a reasonable request as 
the current building envelope is not being increased.  
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
Per Zoning Ordinance Section 33.2, in the spirit of determining the validity of the SUP request 
for an ADU, the following criteria should be considered: 
 

1. Is the use harmonious and compatible with surrounding existing uses or proposed uses? 
• The adjacent properties are developed as single-family detached residential 

units. The property with the proposed ADU is also on a lot with a single-family 
detached home.  



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2021 

Page 3 of 3   
 

2. Are the activities requested by the applicant normally associated with the requested 
use?  

• Yes, an ADU with a second kitchen area is allowed with an SUP and must comply 
with the adopted standards.  

3. Is the nature of the use reasonable? 
• Yes. The lot is 0.9 acres and is large enough to provide sufficient distance 

between the proposed ADU and the neighboring properties. 
4. Has any impact on the surrounding area been mitigated? 

• There are no visible impacts to the surrounding properties.  
 
The requested SUP appears to satisfy the criteria above. The proposal will not be noticeable 
as it is an attached ADU and will appear as a residential home with a four-car garage from the 
exterior. It appears the ADU will have little, if any, impact to the neighborhood.  
 
Recommendation 
 
At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted unanimously to 
recommend approval of the requested zoning change from Planned Development – Single 
Family-1 Zoning District to Planned Development – Single Family-1 with a Specific Use Permit 
for an Accessory Dwelling Unit subject to the following: 
 

1. The use of the property shall conform to SF-1 Zoning District in all respects.  
 

2. In addition, a specific use permit is authorized for an accessory dwelling unit with a 
kitchen, subject to standards identified in Ordinance 2018-36 and the attached site plan, 
elevations, and interior floor plan. 

 
Attachments 
Zoning application 
Property Location Map 
Zoning map 
Aerial photo 
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’) 
Zoning notice to owners 
Owner notification list 
Site plan, floor plan, and elevations 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance 
 























1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton, City Hall 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, June 21, 2022
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Dave Jarratt, Quinton Locklin, 
Alton McCallum, Zach Krueger and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: Nicole Fisher and Luke Potts. 
The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, and IT Specialist Alex 
Munger.  
 
6. Z-22-21   Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Planned Development – Single Family-1 

Zoning District to Planned Development – Single Family -1 Zoning District with a Specific Use Permit for an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit on approximately 0.928 acres located at 517 E. 25th Ave.  
 
Staff Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report.  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. With no other requesting to speak, the public hearing was closed. 
 
The applicant, Larry Guess, addressed questions from the commission.  
 
Commission Member Covington made a motion to approve Z-22-21. Commission Member Locklin seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved with 7 ayes, 0 nays.  



ORDINANCE NO. 2022-32 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON 
BY CHANGING THE DESCRIBED DISTRICT FROM PLANNED DEVELOPMENT—
SINGLE FAMILY-1 DISTRICT TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT—SINGLE FAMILY-1 
DISTRICT WITH A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT FOR AN ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT 
ON APPROXIMATELY 0.928 ACRES LOCATED AT 517 E. 25TH AVENUE. 
 

WHEREAS, LGGD Properties, owner of the following described property has 
presented a petition duly signed, to the City Planning & Zoning Commission and filed said 
petition with the City Clerk of the City of Belton, and due notice of filing of said petition 
and hearing on said petition has been given as required by the City Zoning Ordinance 
and by law, and a hearing on said petition before the City Planning & Zoning Commission 
of the City of Belton was set for the 21st day of June 2022, at 5:30 p.m. for hearing and 
adoption, said district being described as follows: 

 
517 E. 25th Avenue  

Guess Dulany Subdivision, Block 1, Lot 10, Belton, Texas  
(location map attached as Exhibit “A”) 

 
WHEREAS, said application for such amendment was duly recommended by the 

said City Planning & Zoning Commission and the date, time and place of the hearing on 
said application by the City Council of the City of Belton was set for the 28th day of June, 
2022, at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center and due notice of said hearing was 
given as required by ordinances and by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, a hearing was held upon the application by the City Council of the City 
of Belton at the time, place and date herein before set forth and no valid objection to said 
amendments was presented. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Belton, 
Texas, that the said district located on a tract of land as more fully and completely 
described above, be and is hereby changed from Planned Development – Single Family-
1 with a Specific Use Permit for an Accessory Dwelling Unit to Planned Development – 
Single Family-1 with an Amended Specific Use Permit for an Accessory Dwelling Unit, in 
accordance with Section 10 – Single Family-1 Zoning District, and the Design Standards 
in Ordinance No. 2014-1. The Zoning Ordinance of the City of Belton is hereby amended, 
subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The use and development of the property shall conform to the SF-1 Zoning District 

in all respects. 
 

2. In addition, a specific use permit is authorized for an accessory dwelling unit with 
a kitchen, subject to standards identified in Ordinance 2018-36 and the attached 
site plan (Exhibit B) and elevations (Exhibit C).  

 



 
This ordinance was presented at the stated meeting of the City Council of the City 

of Belton and upon reading was passed and adopted by the City Council on the 28th day 
of June, 2022, by a vote of ______ ayes and ______ nays. 
 

SIGNED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk on this the 
28th day of June, 2022. 

 
 

 
__________________________ 
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 



EXHIBIT "A"



EXHIBIT "B"



EXHIBIT "C"



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 4   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item                   
 
 
        

Date:  June 28, 2022    
Case No.: Z-22-22 
Request: Agricultural to PD-C-1 

Applicant/Owner: Piyush, Sharma and ZGL 
Engineering 
 

Agenda Item #8 
 
Z-22-22 - Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural (A) to Planned 
Development - Commercial-1 (PD-C-1) District on approximately 15.836 acres located at 2406 
Lake Road, generally located west of FM 2271 and east of Sparta Road to establish an RV 
Resort Park.  
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning Department – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Current Zoning: Agricultural District (A) 
 
Proposed Zoning: Planned Development Commercial-1 Zoning District 
 
Proposed Uses: Cabin and Recreation Vehicle Park/Campgrounds 
     
Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Designation:  
 
The FLUM identifies this general area for residential use. 
 
Design Standards Type Area 4: 
 
The projected growth for Type Area 14 is primarily single lot residential developments. 
 
Background/Case Summary 
 
The applicant has submitted a revised application for a zoning change from the Agricultural 
(AG) to Planned Development – Commercial-1 to allow for a commercial RV Park with cabins 
and amenities. This property contains 15.836 acres and proposes 36 cabins (1-3 bedrooms), 
41 RV lease spaces, office/clubhouse, boat rental area and outdoor amenities. This is a 
reduction from the previous zoning case that requested 40 cabins and 51 RV lease spaces.  
 
This property was annexed into the city limits in 1978 and assigned the Agricultural zoning 
district at that time. This property is developed as a mobile home park with 50 spaces and no 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 4   
 

sanitary sewer services but is served with city water. Currently, the park has 14 occupied 
homes on site.  
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
Existing Conditions: The properties north of this site are zoned Retail with a Specific Use Permit 
for Use Car Sales. Properties south are zoned Planned Development – Single Family-3 
Residential (PD-SF-3). Properties east are zoned Single Family-3 Residential (SF-3), and 
properties west are zoned Agricultural and Planned Development - Single Family-1 Residential 
(PD-SF-1). Most of the surrounding developments are detached single family homes. The 
Nomad’s convenience store and other retail stores (fireworks) are north of this lot.  
 
Allowable Land Uses: The proposed zoning change would limit the proposed use to an RV 
Park and Campgrounds, using the C-1 requirements for minimum area and setbacks. Any other 
proposed use in the future would require an amendment to the PD zoning district if approved.  
 
Area & Setback Requirements: The subject lot exceeds the minimum area requirements for 
the C-1 district, which requires a minimum lot size of 7,200 sq. ft, a minimum width of 60’ and 
depth of 100’. The proposed lot is 15.36 acres.  
 
An RV Park is defined in the Zoning Ordinance; however, it is not listed as a permitted use in 
any of the zoning districts. Thus, a Planned Development is the appropriate mechanism or 
consideration. The Planned Development Commercial-1 proposed would allow the applicant 
to construct the proposed RV and Campground facility.  
 
RV Parks must comply with the City Code of Ordinances Chapter 19, Recreational Vehicle 
Parks. The minimum required lot size is one acre and a maximum density of 20 RV sites per 
acre is allowed. This facility proposes a total limit count 77 cabins and RV spaces, with a density 
of 4.9 units per acre, which is below the adopted standards. This density is between SF-2 (4) 
and SF-3 (6) dwelling units per acre. Private streets require a minimum width of 20 feet and 
the applicant is proposing a one-way street that is 20’ wide and a two-way street with a width 
of 24 feet. Parkland/open space proposed exceeds the 8% requirements and features 
amenities including playgrounds, picnic areas, a fishing pod, horseshoe, miniature golf, and a 
dog park.  
 
The applicant is proposing a minimum 8’ wood privacy fence around the Campground to 
comply with the screening requirements, also an increase over its original proposal of 6’. The 
private road and landscaping function as a buffer between the adjacent single-family zoned 
areas and the RV sites. The Campground will utilize existing City water and establish 
connections to wastewater services available to the area.  
 
The conceptual elevations of the proposed 1,852 square feet clubhouse consist of stucco with 
stone wainscot and composition shingles. The proposed cabins will have hardie plank siding 
and composition shingles. The RV sites vary in size but meet or exceed the minimum 
requirement of 1,500 square feet with a width of 30’. The cabin sites also meet the minimum 
size requirements and show adequate separation between cabins (ranging from 10’ to 51’). 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 3 of 4   
 

Each space requires a minimum of 1.2 parking spaces. The applicant shows two parking 
spaces for each site in addition to boat parking throughout the Campground. The sites and 
private roadways are required to be constructed of a hard surface (asphalt or concrete) to 
adequately support the weight of the RVs. The proposed site circulation and turn radii are 
satisfactory for fire protection. The site plan shows adequate refuse and restroom facilities (six 
proposed) located within 300’ of each RV site. Shower facilities are required at a rate of one 
per 30 sites; six shower facilities are provided. The proposed cabins are equipped with 
restroom and shower facilities. 
 
The applicant plans to use the existing driveway on Lake Road. A gated access is proposed 
for the Resort. Lake Road is TxDOT’s right-of-way; therefore, access must be reviewed and 
approved by TxDOT. A preliminary review shows this site plan to be in compliance with the 
adopted standards of the City’s Code of Ordinances Chapter 19, RV Parks. Additional review 
of the subdivision plat, and utility and development plans, are required to ensure compliance 
with applicable zoning, subdivision ordinance, design standards, and adopted building and fire 
codes.  
 
The previous request was denied by both the Planning and Zoning Commission and City 
Council for inconsistency with the FLUM, reflective of single family residential uses. Staff 
originally supported the zoning change but acknowledges the Planning and Zoning 
Commission’s and City Council’s recommendation for denial. Nevertheless, the applicant has 
reduced the overall density, reduced the number of cabins and RV sites, and increased the 
fence height for transition to nearby properties.  
 
Recommendation 
 
At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted 5-2 to recommend 
disapproval with prejudice against the requested zoning change to Planned Development -
Commercial-1 (PD-C-1), given the response to expressed concerns. While not traditional site 
built single family development, the density is comparable to site built single family 
development.  
 
Should the City Council find the application acceptable, approval should be subject to the 
following conditions: 
 

1. The allowable uses of the property shall conform to the C-1 district in addition a 
recreational vehicle (RV) park is a permitted use in compliance with the PD site plan and 
the RV Park Ordinance.  
 

2. The development of the property shall conform to all applicable Type Area 14 Design 
Standards, as identified in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance, 
including: 
 

a. Site Development Standards, to include compliance with the attached site plan  
b. Building Design Standards, include compliance with the attached elevations 
c. Landscape Design and Tree Protection and Preservation Standards 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 4 of 4   
 

3. Sign Standards shall conform to Ordinance 2008-11.  
 

4. A subdivision plat and development plans are required. 
 

Given a recommendation for disapproval with prejudice from the Planning and Zoning 
Commission, a super majority (75%) vote will be required for approval from the Council. If 
Council desires to disapprove the project, it can be with or without prejudice. “With prejudice” 
prevents the applicant from resubmitting the project for six months. 
 
Staff recommends postponement of this item to the July 12, 2022, Council meeting so that a 
super majority of Council will be available for action on the item. 

 
Attachments 
Zoning application 
Conceptual Site Plan and Elevations 
Property Location Map, Zoning map, Aerial  
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’)/Zoning notice to owners/Property owner list 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 































1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton, City Hall 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, June 21, 2022
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Dave Jarratt, Quinton Locklin, 
Alton McCallum, Zach Krueger and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: Nicole Fisher and Luke Potts. 
The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, and IT Specialist Alex 
Munger.  
 
7. Z-22-22    Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural (A) to Planned Development - 

Commercial-1 (PD-C-1) District on approximately 15.836 acres located at 2406 Lake Road, generally located 
west of FM 2271 and east of Sparta Road to establish an RV Park.  
 
Staff Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report.  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. The following property owners spoke in opposition of the zoning change: 
Susan Bond, 2514 Twin Ridge Court; Tom Helm, 2507 Twin Ridge Court; Marty Janczak representing TABA; Cheri 
Ilse, 1605 Sandbar Circle; Ryan Long, 2605 Twin Ridge Court; Bill Carter, 2401 Spring Creek Trail. The following 
people spoke in support of the zoning change: Greg Cook, 11769 Roselle Drive; Scott Daniel, 3206 Wildcatter. With 
no one else requesting to speak, the public hearing was closed.  
 
The applicant and representatives, Zoe Grant, Piyush Sharma, and Jason William, spoke in support of the project.  
 
Vice Chair Covington made a motion to deny with prejudice for item Z-22-22 as recommended by Staff. Commission 
Member Krueger seconded the motion. The motion was approved with 5 ayes, 2 nays. Commission members Jarratt 
and McCallum dissenting.  



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 3   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item                   
 
 
        

Date:  June 28, 2022 
Case No.: Z-22-23 
Request: HI to HI w/SUP for Electronic 

Changeable Copy Sign 
Applicant/Owner: Lamar Signs 

 
Agenda Item #9 
 
Z-22-23 - Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Heavy Industrial to Heavy 
Industrial with a Specific Use Permit for refacing an existing off-premise bill board sign with an 
Electronic Changeable Copy Message Sign on approximately 0.269 acres located at the 
northeast intersection of E. 6th Avenue and Taylors Valley Road and described as Belton 
Terrace Addition, Block 2, Lot 1. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning Department – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Current Zoning: Heavy Industrial (HI) 
 
Proposed Zoning: Heavy Industrial w/SUP for Electronic Changeable Copy Message Sign (HI 
w/ SUP) 
 
Proposed Uses: Retrofit existing sign to add an Electronic Changeable Copy Message Sign   
      
Future Land Use Map Designation: The FLUM identifies this general area for industrial uses.  
 
Design Standards Type Area 10: Projected to be primarily industrial and manufacturing 
businesses.  
 
Background/Case Summary 
 
The applicant seeks to replace the face of an existing off-premise billboard with an electronic 
changeable copy message sign. The existing illuminated sign is approximately 240 square feet 
(10.5’ x 22.83”) with a total height of 35’.  
 
Belton recently amended the Sign Ordinance to establish electronic changeable message 
signage criteria. This amendment included technical standards for the electronic changeable 
copy message signs but retained the requirement for an SUP for each proposed location. There 
was also discussion about limiting changeable message signs to Interstate 14 and 35 locations, 
but recent changes did not establish a location limitation. 
 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 3   
 

Existing electronic changeable copy message signs include:  
 
Business- Zoning Square Footage of Changeable 

copy 
Maximum Square 
Footage Allowed 

CF Supply’s – CH w/SUP 
Electronic Changeable Copy 

18.5 sq. ft.  
72 sq. ft. non-changeable. 

225 sq. ft. 

CVS – PD - Retail 20 sq. ft.  40 sq. ft.  
Walgreens – PD-Retail 20 sq. ft. 40 sq. ft. 
Bell County Expo Center – 
Planned Development  

Unknown Government Facilities 
signs are exempt from 
Sign Ordinance. 

Belton Christian Youth Center 
(BCYC) 

18.4 sq. ft 
64 sq. ft. non-changeable 

Government Owned 
Facility – amended lease 
agreement permitted sign 

Crossroad Church  150 sq ft. (proposed) 150 sq. ft.  
 
The proposed sign must comply with the newly adopted standards for changeable copy 
message sign of Section 38.15D, Sign Lighting Standards. The standards require:  
  

1. The sign illumination from sunset to sunrise shall be reduced to 300-foot candles. 
2. The sign shall include a sensor that automatically determines the ambient illumination 

and automatically dims according to the natural ambient light conditions.  
3. Blinking, flashing, or shimmering or other intensity or brilliance that causes glare or 

otherwise distracts or impairs vision of a driver is not permitted.  
4. Each message should be displayed for at least 10 seconds to mitigate safety concerns.  
5. A change of message shall be accomplished within two seconds or less, and a change 

of message must occur simultaneously on the entire sign face.  
6. The sign shall contain a default mechanism that freezes the sign in one position if a 

malfunction occurs.  
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
Existing Conditions: Most of the adjacent properties are zoned Heavy Industrial (HI). Nearby 
properties west of the subject property are zoned Commercial-1 (C-1) and Retail (R).  
 
Allowable Land Uses: Billboard signs are allowed in the HI Zoning District.  
 
Sign Area Requirements: Section 38.24.C, Size of Off-Premise Signs, allows a maximum sign 
area of 672 square feet, maximum height 42.5’.  
 
Scenic Cities recognizes municipalities that implement high quality scenic standards for public 
roadways and public spaces. The Scenic Cities award program reviews adopted ordinances in 
place to protect scenic views. Requiring an SUP for the consideration of electronic changeable 
signs, and the associated evaluation of its anticipated impacts, meets the intent of the Scenic 
Cities program. 
 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 3 of 3   
 

Recommendation 
 
At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted unanimously to 
recommend approval of the requested zoning change from Heavy Industrial to Heavy Industrial 
with a Specific Use Permit for the replacement of the face of the existing sign with an Electronic 
Changeable Copy Message Sign.  
 
Attachments 
Zoning application 
Pictures of Current  
Property Location Map 
Zoning map 
Aerial  
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’)/Zoning notice to owners/Property owner’s list 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance 





UV93

UV93

§̈ ¦35

§̈ ¦35

E 6TH AVE

NI
NT

ER
ST

AT
E3

5

N I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

E C
EN

TR
AL

 AV
E

ON
RA

MP

N I
H 3

5 S
ER

VIC
E R

D

EX
IT

29
3A

N I
H 3

5 S
ER

VIC
E R

D

N
IH

35
SE

RV
IC

ER
D

TA
YL

OR
S

VA
LL

EY
RD

TA
YL

OR
S V

AL
LE

Y R
D

L
E

O
N

R
I

V
E

R

NO
LA

N
CR

EE
K

EL
LIS

 AV
E

E 4
TH

 AV
E

E 1
3T

H A
VE

WA
CO

 RD

E
AV

E M

E 1
2T

H A
VE

E 6T H AV E

E C
E N

T R
A L

A V E

E 1
4T

H A
VE

E
2 N

D
AV

E

S I
H 3

5 S
ER

VIC
E R

DS P
R I

N
G

ST

RIVER DR

TA
YL

OR
S

VA
LL

EY
RD

E 4
TH

 AV
EN BLAIR ST

E 1
1T

H A
VE

MAYS ST

PE
CA

N 
DR

E 9TH AVE

WOODALLST

E F
LA

T S
T

N BEAL ST

E 1
2T

H A
VE

E
8 T

H AV E

W CO MAY CIR

E
CE

NT
RA L

A V
E

E AVE A

FO
RE

ST DR

ROCK WOOL RD

SHAD
Y L

N

E A
VE

 J
SH

A DY L N

ON RAMP

HUBBARDLN

CIRCLED
R UV93

§̈ ¦35
§̈ ¦35

Ty
pe

 A
rea

 14
Ty

pe
 Ar

ea
 6

Ty
pe

 Ar
ea

 7

Ty
pe

 A
rea

 10
Ty

pe
 Ar

ea
 11Ty

pe
 Ar

ea
 2

G
EN

ER
AL

 B
RU

CE

G
EN

ER
AL

 B
RU

CE

LE
GE

ND
Z_

22
_2

3

Zo
ni

ng
 C

as
e #

  
Zo

ni
ng

 C
as

e #
   

Z-
22

-2
3 

Lo
ca

tio
n

 Z
-2

2-
23

 L
oc

at
io

n

0
30

0
15

0
Fe

et
µ

Ma
p D

ate
: 5

/2
4/

20
22

Path: E:\City of Belton Projects Folders\Maps and Data\Zoning Cases\2022\!Zoning Change Cases!\Z-22-23\Z-22-23 Location.mxdAuthor: Anthony Notgrass, City of Belton

Ma
ps

 a
nd

 d
ata

 
are

 f
or

 i
nf

or
ma

tio
na

l 
pu

rp
os

es
 a

nd
 

ma
y 

no
t 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
pr

ep
ar

ed
 

for
or

 
be

 
su

ita
ble

 
fo

r 
leg

al,
 

en
gin

ee
rin

g 
or

 
su

rv
ey

ing
 

pu
rp

os
es

. 
Th

ey
 

do
 

no
t 

rep
re

se
nt

an
 o

n-
the

-gr
ou

nd
 s

ur
ve

y 
an

d 
rep

re
se

nt
 o

nly
 t

he
 a

pp
ro

xim
ate

 r
ela

tiv
e 

loc
ati

on
 o

f 
pr

op
ert

y 
bo

un
da

rie
s. 

No
 w

ar
ran

ty 
is 

ma
de

 by
 th

e C
ity

 of
 B

elt
on

 re
ga

rd
ing

 sp
ec

ific
 ac

cu
rac

y o
r c

om
ple

ten
es

s.

ZO
NI

NG
 C

HA
NG

E:
H

I
to H

I-S
U

P

BE
LT

O
N

 T
ER

R
AC

E 
AD

D
IT

IO
N

, 
BL

O
C

K 
00

2,
 L

O
T 

00
01

, A
C

R
ES

 .2
69

LE
GA

L 
DE

SC
RI

PT
IO

N:

PR
OP

ER
TY

 O
W

NE
R:

IC
EM

AN
 IN

C
.

E 
6T

H
 S

T 
& 

TA
YL

O
R

'S
 V

AL
LE

Y 
R

D
AD

DR
ES

S/
LO

CA
TI

ON
:



















1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton, City Hall 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, June 21, 2022
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Dave Jarratt, Quinton Locklin, 
Alton McCallum, Zach Krueger and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: Nicole Fisher and Luke Potts. 
The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, and IT Specialist Alex 
Munger.  
 
8. Z-22-23      Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Heavy Industrial to Heavy Industrial with 

a Specific Use Permit for the Placement of an Electronic Changeable Sign on approximately 0.269 acres located 
at the northeast intersection of E. 6th Avenue and Taylors Valley Road and described as Belton Terrace 
Addition, Block 2, lot 1.  
 
Staff Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report.  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. With no other requesting to speak, the public hearing was closed. 
 
The applicant, Mat Naegele, Lamar Advertising, spoke in support of the item.  
 
Commission Member Knowles made a motion to approve Z-22-23 as recommended by staff. Commission member 
Locklin seconded the motion, which passed with 7 ayes, 0 nays.   



ORDINANCE NO. 2022-33 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON BY 
CHANGING THE DESCRIBED DISTRICT FROM HEAVY INDUSTRIAL TO HEAVY 
INDUSTRIAL WITH A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT FOR AN ELECTRONIC MESSAGE COPY 
SIGN ON APPROXIMATELY 0.269 ACRES LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST 
INTERSECTION OF E. 6TH AVENUE AND TAYLORS VALLEY ROAD.  
 
WHEREAS,  Lamar Signs, representing Iceman Inc., the property owner, has presented a 
petition duly signed, to the City Planning & Zoning Commission and filed said petition with 
the City Clerk of the City of Belton, and due notice of filing of said petition and hearing on 
said petition has been given as required by the City Zoning Ordinance and by law, and a 
hearing on said petition before the City Planning & Zoning Commission of the City of Belton 
was set for the 21st day of June, 2022, at 5:30 p.m. for hearing and adoption, said district 
being described as follows: 
 

approximately 0.269 acres  
located at the Northeast Intersection of E. 6th Avenue and Taylor Valley Road 

described as Belton Terrace Addition, Block 2, lot 1. 
(location map attached as Exhibit “A”) 

 
WHEREAS, said application for such amendment was duly recommended by the 

said City Planning & Zoning Commission and the date, time, and place of the hearing on 
said application by the City Council of the City of Belton was set for the 28th day of June 
2022, at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center and due notice of said hearing was 
given as required by ordinances and by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, a hearing was held upon the application by the City Council of the City 
of Belton at the time, place and date herein before set forth and no valid objection to said 
amendments was presented. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Belton, 
Texas, that the said district located on a tract of land as more fully and completely 
described above, be and is hereby changed Heavy Industrial to Heavy Industrial with a 
SUP for an Electronic Message Copy Sign, in accordance to Section 28, Heavy Industrial, 
and Section 38, Sign Regulation, and the Design Standards in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 
7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Zoning Ordinance of the City of Belton is hereby 
amended, subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. A maximum overall total sign area of 240 square feet. 
2. The sign shall comply with adopted standards of Section 38.15D, Sign Lighting 

Standards, of the Zoning Code.  
 
This ordinance was presented at the stated meeting of the City Council of the City of Belton 
and upon reading was passed and adopted by the City Council on the 28th day of June 
2022, by a vote of ______ ayes and ______ nays. 



 
SIGNED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk on this the 

28th day of June, 2022. 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



UV93

UV93

§̈ ¦35

§̈ ¦35

E 6TH AVE

NI
NT

ER
ST

AT
E3

5

N I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

E C
EN

TR
AL

 AV
E

ON
RA

MP

N I
H 3

5 S
ER

VIC
E R

D

EX
IT

29
3A

N I
H 3

5 S
ER

VIC
E R

D

N
IH

35
SE

RV
IC

ER
D

TA
YL

OR
S

VA
LL

EY
RD

TA
YL

OR
S V

AL
LE

Y R
D

L
E

O
N

R
I

V
E

R

NO
LA

N
CR

EE
K

EL
LIS

 AV
E

E 4
TH

 AV
E

E 1
3T

H A
VE

WA
CO

 RD

E
AV

E M

E 1
2T

H A
VE

E 6T H AV E

E C
E N

T R
A L

A V E

E 1
4T

H A
VE

E
2 N

D
AV

E

S I
H 3

5 S
ER

VIC
E R

DS P
R I

N
G

ST

RIVER DR

TA
YL

OR
S

VA
LL

EY
RD

E 4
TH

 AV
EN BLAIR ST

E 1
1T

H A
VE

MAYS ST

PE
CA

N 
DR

E 9TH AVE

WOODALLST

E F
LA

T S
T

N BEAL ST

E 1
2T

H A
VE

E
8 T

H AV E

W CO MAY CIR

E
CE

NT
RA L

A V
E

E AVE A

FO
RE

ST DR

ROCK WOOL RD

SHAD
Y L

N

E A
VE

 J
SH

A DY L N

ON RAMP

HUBBARDLN

CIRCLED
R UV93

§̈ ¦35
§̈ ¦35

Ty
pe

 A
rea

 14
Ty

pe
 Ar

ea
 6

Ty
pe

 Ar
ea

 7

Ty
pe

 A
rea

 10
Ty

pe
 Ar

ea
 11Ty

pe
 Ar

ea
 2

G
EN

ER
AL

 B
RU

CE

G
EN

ER
AL

 B
RU

CE

LE
GE

ND
Z_

22
_2

3

Zo
ni

ng
 C

as
e #

  
Zo

ni
ng

 C
as

e #
   

Z-
22

-2
3 

Lo
ca

tio
n

 Z
-2

2-
23

 L
oc

at
io

n

0
30

0
15

0
Fe

et
µ

Ma
p D

ate
: 5

/2
4/

20
22

Path: E:\City of Belton Projects Folders\Maps and Data\Zoning Cases\2022\!Zoning Change Cases!\Z-22-23\Z-22-23 Location.mxdAuthor: Anthony Notgrass, City of Belton

Ma
ps

 a
nd

 d
ata

 
are

 f
or

 i
nf

or
ma

tio
na

l 
pu

rp
os

es
 a

nd
 

ma
y 

no
t 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
pr

ep
ar

ed
 

for
or

 
be

 
su

ita
ble

 
fo

r 
leg

al,
 

en
gin

ee
rin

g 
or

 
su

rv
ey

ing
 

pu
rp

os
es

. 
Th

ey
 

do
 

no
t 

rep
re

se
nt

an
 o

n-
the

-gr
ou

nd
 s

ur
ve

y 
an

d 
rep

re
se

nt
 o

nly
 t

he
 a

pp
ro

xim
ate

 r
ela

tiv
e 

loc
ati

on
 o

f 
pr

op
ert

y 
bo

un
da

rie
s. 

No
 w

ar
ran

ty 
is 

ma
de

 by
 th

e C
ity

 of
 B

elt
on

 re
ga

rd
ing

 sp
ec

ific
 ac

cu
rac

y o
r c

om
ple

ten
es

s.

ZO
NI

NG
 C

HA
NG

E:
H

I
to H

I-S
U

P

BE
LT

O
N

 T
ER

R
AC

E 
AD

D
IT

IO
N

, 
BL

O
C

K 
00

2,
 L

O
T 

00
01

, A
C

R
ES

 .2
69

LE
GA

L 
DE

SC
RI

PT
IO

N:

PR
OP

ER
TY

 O
W

NE
R:

IC
EM

AN
 IN

C
.

E 
6T

H
 S

T 
& 

TA
YL

O
R

'S
 V

AL
LE

Y 
R

D
AD

DR
ES

S/
LO

CA
TI

ON
:

EXHIBIT "A"



 
 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 2   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
      

Date:  June 28, 2021  
Case No.: P-22-16 Preserve at Nolan Creek 

      Request: Final Plat 
      Applicant: Belton Engineering  

Owner: Crossroad Advisors, LLC.  
 
Agenda Item #10 
     
P-22-16 Consider a final plat of Preserve at Nolan Creek, comprising 2.841 acres, located at 
702 Shine Street, south of West 8th Avenue and north of West 7th Avenue.  
 
Originating Department: Planning – Tina Moore Planner 
 
Current Zoning: Multifamily Zoning District  
 
Case Summary 
 
This subdivision proposes a consolidation of two lots, approximately 2.841acres, into one for a 
multifamily development. The proposed development consists of eight buildings with six units, 
for a total of 48 units. The proposed subdivision satisfies all requirements of the Multifamily 
(MF) zoning district.  
 
The reason this plat is on the agenda is because the applicant requested a variance to the park 
fee requirements. In lieu of paying the park fee, the applicant would like to make private park 
improvements. Please see the Parkland Dedication/Fee section below for details of this 
request. 
 
Project Analysis and Discussion  
Following is a summary of the subdivision ordinance requirements as they apply to this 
subdivision plat. 
 
Water/Sewer: The applicant will connect to an existing 6” water line on Shine Street. 
Wastewater line will be extended to provide services to this lot. An offsite easement is required 
from UMHB to allow for this extension. The applicant is negotiating this easement which is 
listed as a condition of plat approval in the staff comment letter. The wastewater line will be 
privately maintained.  
 
Drainage: Preliminary drainage plans have been provided. A final drainage plan will be 
reviewed with the submittal of the site plan. 
 

 



 
 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 2   
 

Streets: Shine Street is a local street which requires 50’ of right of way and 31’ of pavement 
with curb and gutter. An approximate 5’ ROW dedication is proposed on the plat. The existing 
roadway is 24’ edge to edge with no curb and gutter. Minimum width for a local street is 31-
feet back-of-curb to back-of-curb. The Developer is required to participate in upgrades to Shine 
Street to either pave the road up to 31’ or half the needed width to achieve 31’, per the 
requirements of Section 502H of the Subdivision Ordinance. Sidewalks are not required on 
local streets.  
 
Parkland Dedication/Fee: According to the Subdivision Ordinance Section 517, residential 
subdivisions are required to dedicate suitable lands for the purpose of parkland and/or make a 
financial contribution for the acquisition and development of such parkland. The applicant has 
submitted a variance request to allow for an alternative compensation with a proposal for a 
private park. Amenities proposed include decking, dog park, park benches, grills, and a walking 
path. The total value of the proposed improvements is approximately $56,300, which exceeds 
the required parkland fee required of $9,600.  
 
Conclusion: We have reviewed the plat for the Preserve at Nolan Creek and find it acceptable 
as a final plat subject to the conditions identified in the City’s letter of conditions to the applicant 
dated June 15, 2022. 

Recommendation 

At its meeting on June 21, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted unanimously to 
approval of the final plat of Preserve at Nolan Creek, subject to the following: 
 

1. Approval of an alternative Parkland compensation to allow the private improvements, in 
lieu of Parkland dedication or fees.  

2. Staff comment letter dated June 15, 2022. 
 
Attachments 
Final Plat Application 
Final Plat 
Location Map 
City letter of conditions dated June 15, 2022 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 

























1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton, City Hall 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, June 21, 2022
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Dave Jarratt, Quinton Locklin, 
Alton McCallum, Zach Krueger and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: Nicole Fisher and Luke Potts. 
The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, and IT Specialist Alex 
Munger.  
 
9. P-21-16    Consider a final plat for the Preserve at Nolan Creek, comprising of 2.841 acres, located at 710 Shine 

Street, south of West 8th Avenue and north of West 7th Avenue.  
 
Staff Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report.  
 
Staff addressed questions from the commission.  
 
Vice Chair Covington made a motion to approve P-22-16 as recommended by Staff. Commission Member Jarratt 
seconded the motion. The motion was approved with 7 ayes, 0 nays.  



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 3   
 

Staff Report – City Council Meeting 
 
 
Agenda Item #11 
 
Hold a public hearing and consider an amendment to the Belton Thoroughfare Plan relating 
to S. Toll Bridge Road, from the Lampasas River to Elmer King Road. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Bob van Til, Planning Director 
 
Summary Information 
 
The purpose of this item is to conduct a public hearing on a proposed amendment to the 
Thoroughfare Plan, specifically, as it relates to S. Toll Bridge Road, from the Lampasas 
River to Elmer King Road. 
 
Discussion 
 
The City adopted numerous amendments to the Belton Thoroughfare Plan on January 11, 
2022. Due to the unique circumstances related to the historic Toll House on S. Toll Bridge 
Road, the Plan was adopted, except for a deferred recommendation related to this portion 
of Toll Bridge Road. 
 
At that time, the recommendation for S. Toll Bridge Road was to designate it as a Major 
Collector with a proposed ultimate 80-feet of right-of-way. This proposed cross-section 
would have placed the future edge of pavement approximately ten feet from the historic 
building at its nearest point. Even though there is no formal State or local historic 
designation assigned to the building, the Thoroughfare Plan could be adjusted to preserve it 
by keeping the edge of the future pavement away from the building. 
 
Staff recommended at the time of adoption in January that this section of Toll Bridge Road 
south to Elmer King Road be shown as “Project Under Evaluation”, until a study by KPA 
could be completed. 
 
Staff’s recommendation at the time of the other amendments was a commitment to: “return 
to Council within six months, no later than July 12, 2022, with a recommendation for the Toll 
Bridge Road alignment in the vicinity of the Lampasas River.” 
 
Below are comments relating to the discussions with property owners on S. Toll Bridge 
Road: 
 
S. Toll Bridge Road – In late 2021, staff met with Mr. Neese, and then later with Mr. Trader 
and Mr. Gilchrest. Each own property south of the Lampasas River, if not along the River. 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 3   
 

The issue identified by the property owners was the width of the future right-of-way (80-feet) 
and how it may impact their homes and their quality of life. Of particular importance to Mr. 
Trader is the present proximity of his home (the former Toll Bridge House) to the edge of the 
pavement. The home currently is approximately 20 feet from the edge of pavement at the 
closest point. According to Bell CAD maps, the home is in the right-of-way of S. Toll Bridge 
Road. 
 
KPA Study - KPA was retained to analyze potential routes and right-of-way options for 
future Toll Bridge Road south to Elmer King Road. KPA reduced the 80-foot right-of-way 
and prepared a 60-foot right-of-way with a 36-foot-wide pavement option. That was 
presented to the property owners. To avoid the Toll House, property owners on the west 
side of the road would be impacted and would need to dedicate or convey property for 
future right-of-way (approximately 0.08 acres for one property owner and 0.06 acres for the 
other, a depth of 12 to 17 feet and 300 feet in length, approximately), when required in the 
future. 
 
After a meeting with the property owners on May 3, 2022, this option met with significant 
resistance. At that time, they suggested a 50-foot right-of-way section. 
 
KPA then prepared a 50-foot right-of-way option with a 36-foot-wide pavement section. This 
reduces the right-of-way requirement but preserves the anticipated capacity needs with 36 
feet of pavement, matching the 36 feet with the bridge width over the Lampasas River and 
the street width planned to the north. This is a hybrid cross section specifically for S. Toll 
Bridge from the Lampasas River to Elmer King Road. It is referred to as a Minor Collector 
Option “C” (see attached Hybrid Minor Collector C). 
 
This 50-foot right-of-way option fits between the Toll House and the property lines on the 
west side without requiring any new right-of-way on the west side of the road. The future 
distance of the Toll House to the edge of the pavement would be reduced from its current 
20 feet to an estimated 10 feet, whenever needed for actual future road construction.  
 
With the anticipated future development north of the Lampasas River (River Farms), a 
minimum of 50-feet of right-of-way and 36 feet of pavement is recommended to 
accommodate future traffic impacts on the section south of the Lampasas River. Although, 
the majority of future traffic is anticipated to travel north, some of that traffic will choose a 
southern option to access IH 35. 
 
When staff met with the property owners on June 10, 2022, they rejected this idea as well. It 
is apparent that the property owners are opposed to any growth or development in the area, 
and no alternative pavement/right-of-way configuration, except the current 20-foot 
pavement, will be acceptable. Unfortunately, this position does not address the legitimate 
need for Belton’s Thoroughfare Plan to project a reasonable future ROW and pavement 
section for anticipated traffic demand in this area. 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 3 of 3   
 

In summary, to preserve the Toll House the City reduced the original recommendation of a 
Major Collector with an 80-foot right-of-way and 36 feet of pavement, to a Minor Collector 
with 60 feet of right-of-way and 36 feet of pavement, to a hybrid cross section with 50 feet of 
right-of-way and 36 feet of pavement (Minor Collector “C”) in an effort to achieve consensus. 
This is apparently not possible. 
 
Implementation – The key message to the property owners has been that the Plan is 
implemented when and if their property is redeveloped. The property owners are in a unique 
position to influence the timing of the future street widening in this location. Nevertheless, 
the Thoroughfare Plan needs to reflect a realistic future condition addressing the projected 
need. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
Not applicable, until right-of-way is needed, typically when property is platted for new 
development and right-of-way is dedicated by the owner. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Conduct a public hearing and recommend approval of the amendment to the Thoroughfare 
Plan Amendments relating to S. Toll Bridge Road from the Lampasas River to Elmer King 
Road as a Major Collector. 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission held a public hearing on this item during their regular 
meeting on June 21, 2022. There was no public input during the meeting. The Commission 
recommended that Toll Bridge Road from the Lampasas River to Elmer King Road be 
reflected as a Major Collector on the Thoroughfare Plan, with 80-foot ROW, the same cross 
section that is planned for north of the Lampasas River. 
 
The Commission stated that north of the river is a Major Collector, and the same 
classification should be extended south to Elmer King Road. In addition, the added capacity 
is critical to the future development of area, not only south of the river, but also to 
accommodate the potential development north of the river. 
 
Staff concurs with the Commission’s recommendation.  
 
Attachments 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance approving the Thoroughfare Plan Amendments with Major Collector 
Hybrid Minor Collector C 



1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton, City Hall 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, June 21, 2022
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Dave Jarratt, Quinton Locklin, 
Alton McCallum, Zach Krueger and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: Nicole Fisher and Luke Potts. 
The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, and IT Specialist Alex 
Munger.  
 
10. Hold a public hearing and consider an amendment to the Belton Thoroughfare Plan relating to S. Toll Bridge 

Rd., from Lampasas River to Elmer King Rd.  
 
Director Bob van Til presented the staff report.  
 
Staff addressed questions from the commission related to communication with the neighbors impacted by the 
development.   
 
Commission Vice Chair Covington made a motion to identify this segment of right of way (ROW) as a Major Collector 
Road requiring 80’ of ROW, identical to the northern section, in anticipation of further growth.  Commission member 
Krueger second the motion. The motion passed with 7 ayes, 0 nays.  



Hybrid Minor Collector C



ORDINANCE NO. 2022-34 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE 2022-05 AND ADOPTING ADDITIONAL 
AMENDMENTS TO THE 2022 THOROUGHFARE PLAN RELATING TO SOUTH TOLL 
BRIDGE ROAD FOR THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS.  
 
WHEREAS, the City Council recognizes the need for a Thoroughfare Plan to provide 
direction, goals, assessments, standards, recommendations and strategies for 
implementation in an effort to provide for and continually improve mobility in the City of 
Belton; and  
 
WHEREAS, the primary objective of the Thoroughfare Plan is to provide guidance in 
decision-making related to future growth and development of the City of Belton; and  
 
WHEREAS, public hearings were held by the Planning and Zoning Commission on June 
21, 2022, and by the City Council on June 28, 2022; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BELTON, TEXAS, 
 
Section 1 - That the South Toll Bridge Road amendments to the 2022 Amendments of 
the Belton Thoroughfare Plan for the City of Belton, Texas, are hereby officially adopted, 
as shown on Exhibit “A”, attached hereto and incorporated herein for all intents and 
purposes. 
 
Section 2 – That a specific cross section was developed to protect and preserve the 
historic Toll Bridge House that will be observed from south of the Lampasas River to the 
intersection of South Toll Bridge Road and Elmer King Road, as shown on Exhibit “B”.  
 
PRESENTED AND PASSED on this the 28th day of June 2022, at a regular meeting of 
the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 



Lam
pas

as 
Rive

r

La
mp

asa
s River

Lampasas Rive r

BE
LT

ON
 E

TJ
BE

LT
ON

 E
TJ

TE
MP

LE
 ET

J

BE
LT

ON
 E

TJ

INTERSTATE 35

ELM GROVE RD

TA
HU

AY
A D

R

S.
TO

LL
 B

RI
DG

E R
D

EL
ME

R 
KI

NG
 R

D

TOLL BRIDGE RD

BE
LT

ON
 TH

OR
OU

GH
FA

RE
 PL

AN
AM

EN
DM

EN
T

S.
TO

LL
 B

RI
DG

E R
D

JU
NE

 20
22

Re
co

mm
en

de
d b

y t
he

 
Pla

nn
ing

 an
d Z

on
ing

 C
om

mi
ss

ion

FR
EE

W
AY

, E
XI

ST
IN

G
 (5

5+
 m

ph
)

M
AJ

O
R

 A
R

TE
R

IA
L,

 E
XI

ST
IN

G
 (1

20
' R

O
W

 4
5-

55
 m

ph
)

M
AJ

O
R

 A
R

TE
R

IA
L,

 P
R

O
PO

SE
D

 (1
20

' R
O

W
 4

5-
55

 m
ph

)

M
IN

O
R

 A
R

TE
R

IA
L,

 E
XI

ST
IN

G
 (1

00
' R

O
W

 3
0-

45
 m

ph
)

M
IN

O
R

 A
R

TE
R

IA
L,

 P
R

O
PO

SE
D

 (1
00

' R
O

W
 3

0-
45

 m
ph

)

M
AJ

O
R

 C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

, E
XI

ST
IN

G
 (8

0'
 R

O
W

 3
0-

45
 m

ph
)

M
AJ

O
R

 C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

, P
R

O
PO

SE
D

 (8
0'

 R
O

W
 3

0-
45

 m
ph

)

M
IN

O
R

 C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

, E
XI

ST
IN

G
 (6

0'
 R

O
W

 3
0-

45
 m

ph
)

M
IN

O
R

 C
O

LL
EC

TO
R

, P
R

O
PO

SE
D

 (6
0'

 R
O

W
 3

0-
45

 m
ph

)

BE
LT

O
N

 C
IT

Y 
LI

M
IT

S

BE
LT

O
N

 E
TJ

TE
M

PL
E 

ET
J

´
0

2,
00

0
1,

00
0

Fe
et

EXHIBIT "A"





City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #12 
     
Consider a resolution adopting the Imagine Belton Plan. 
  
Originating Department 
 
Administation – Sam A. Listi, City Manager 
 
Summary Information 
 
On May 10, 2022, City Council, BEDC, and TIRZ conducted a joint meeting for a presentation 
of the Imagine Belton Plan. The Plan, in the works for several months, began as a marketing 
vision of the Belton Economic Development Corporation, with several goals in mind: 
 

• Serve as a guide for investment in the core of the Belton Community; 
• Improve connections into Downtown Belton; and 
• Utilize unique characteristics of Belton, especially Nolan Creek, more effectively. 

 
Guided by BEDC, a robust Advisory Committee, and consultants from Covey Planning and 
Landscape Architects and KPA Engineers, the result is a dynamic Plan that seeks to build on 
unique Belton assets and partnerships to achieve meaningful and visible results in six (6) 
subdistricts in the vicinity of Downtown. UMHB also provided valuable input into Plan 
development. 
 
With strong community interest in the Imagine Belton Plan resulting from the joint meeting, 
and other positive feedback, Director of Planning Bob van Til and I developed the attached 
Imagine Belton Plan Implementation Memo. It includes recommendation of a Resolution for 
approval by BEDC, County, and City Council, indicating roles for each entity. These elements 
track the Recommendations and Action Plan included in the BEDC Study, and will serve as 
the building blocks for next steps, to include: 
 

1. A Resolution that formally adopts the Plan, under consideration by BEDC, City Council, 
and Bell County Commissioners. 

2. Inclusion of Plan Implementation in the City Strategic Plan Update. 
3. Codes/Standards review to ensure predictability and flexibility of local processes. 
4. Financial Incentives focused on the Plan study areas. 

 
The proposed Resolution was crafted to identify appropriate partnership roles for each of the 
three entities key to Plan implementation. 
 

• BEDC adopted the Resolution on June 15, 2022. 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 2   
 

• A work session to present the Plan was conducted with the entire Bell County 
Commissioners Court on June 20th, and the Resolution is expected to be voted on by 
the Court on June 27, 2022. 

• City Council action on the Resolution is scheduled at this meeting, hopefully completing 
this initial step to implement the Plan. 

 
We believe the vision, the partnerships, and the timing is right for effective implementation of 
the Imagine Belton Plan. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
Approval of Resolution has no immediate costs, yet there will be future costs to implement 
the Plan. We are working to secure a final scope of work from Covey Planning and Landscape 
Architects to assist us in evaluating existing City codes and ordinances, and in evaluating 
financial incentives. BEDC has agreed to cost share this consulting work with the City. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Recommend adoption of Resolution. 
 
Attachments 
Imagine Belton Plan Implementation Memo 
Resolution 
Imagine Belton Plan 



Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 

                                          Memorandum 
 
 
TO:  Sam A. Listi, City Manager 
   
FROM: Bob van Til, Planning Director 
 
RE:  Imagine Belton Marketing Plan Implementation 
 
DATE:  May 26, 2022  
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Below are several recommendations to begin the implementation of the “Imagine 
Belton Downtown Marketing Plan.” 
 
1. Adopt a Resolution that formally approves the Plan.  

a) This will create legitimacy of the plan and a pathway forward for all the 
partners.  

b) The Plan should be adopted by all the participants who worked on creating 
the Plan and will share in the opportunity to implement it.  

c) This Resolution would provide clear evidence of support for, and an 
enthusiastic endorsement of, the Plan. The Resolution should be adopted 
by these entities. Consider one resolution with all organizations’ signatures: 
• Belton Economic Development Corporation 
• Bell County Commissioners Court 
• Belton City Council 

d) The City’s Strategic Plan Update for FY ’23 – ’27 should include an Economic 
Development goal that emphasizes implementation of the Imagine Belton 
Plan. 

 
2. Local Ordinances 

a) Evaluate zoning, platting, design standards, and building codes to ensure 
predictability of the planning and permitting process. 



Page 2 of 2 
 

b) Explore the possibility of an “Imagine Belton Overlay District” that will 
contain streamlined local development regulations and provide incentives 
to ensure maximum flexibility for the implementation potential of the plan. 
• Retain a consultant to assist with the implementation of 

recommendations referenced on p. 73 – 80 of the Imagine Belton Plan. 
 

3. Financing 
a) Create an “Imagine Belton Partnership Fund” or annual budget allocation.  
b) The partners could include the City of Belton, BEDC, the County, and other 

possible partners, such as UMHB, for example. 
c) Expand the boundary in which façade grants can be awarded to include the 

entire Belton Downton Core Area identified in the Plan, including Main 
Street, Pearl Street, and E. 6th Avenue.  

d) Expand the types of financial incentives, to include assistance with: 
• Flood plain studies 
• Accessibility enhancements (ADA improvements) 
• Fire protection 
• Sidewalks, trails, and signage 
• Water and wastewater enhancements 
• Asbestos abatement 
• Landscaping and tree preservation 
• Public art, murals 
• Streetscape enhancements such as benches, bollards, wayfinding 

signage 
• Sales tax rebates 
• Tax abatements for desired residential development 
• Permit fee reductions/waivers 

 
Please let me know if you have any questions and know that the Planning 
Department is ready to take the lead in coordinating actions to achieve many of 
the exciting goals included in the Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2022-23-R 
 
 
A RESOLUTION ENDORSING, SUPPORTING AND ADOPTING THE IMAGINE BELTON 
PLAN FOR THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS. 

 
 
WHEREAS, the Belton Economic Development Corporation initiated the planning process that 

resulted in development of the IMAGINE BELTON PLAN; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Bell County Commissioners Court recognizes the importance of Belton as the 

Bell County seat, and its role as a property owner and policy maker for Bell County matters; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Belton City Council recognizes the need for a Plan to provide direction, goals, 

standards, recommendations and strategies for implementation in an effort to provide for and 
continually improve the City of Belton; and 
 

WHEREAS, the primary objective of the Imagine Belton Plan is to provide guidance in 
decision making related to future growth and development in a critically important area in Central 
Belton; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed recommendations establish a framework to ensure that current and 
future issues are assessed, and decisions concerning future development are made, grounded on 
Plan objectives; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Imagine Belton Plan includes a vision, a framework, and opportunities for 

partnerships for implementation of the community’s goals; and 
 
WHEREAS, various public meetings were conducted by the BEDC, City Council and Bell 

County Commissioners Court during 2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, each public body, having taken into consideration the results of the Imagine 

Belton Plan, determines that the Plan is reasonable and achievable. 
 
ROLES: 
 
(1) Possible collaborative roles for each of the three (3) entities – BEDC, Bell County and 

Belton – include: 
 

• Work to enhance public-private partnerships among these entities, as well as with 
UMHB, BISD, CTCOG, KTMPO, TxDOT and others. 

• Coordinate Capital Improvement Plan Projects undertaken by each entity, recognizing 
relationship to one another’s facilities. 

• Exercise stewardship and care given public land inventory held by each entity and in 
land use decisions. 

• Consider land banking to maximize opportunities for development or redevelopment of 
properties within the Plan boundary. 

• Solicit investments that reinforce historical and cultural aspects of Belton’s quality of 
life. 

 



(2) Possible roles for the Belton Economic Development Corporation in Imagine Belton Plan 
implementation: 

 
• Consider land acquisition, assembly, and property development as needed. 
• Support City of Belton infrastructure extension and upgrade projects to induce 

commercial development. 
• Facilitate economic development activities emphasizing investment and job creation. 
• Continue to enhance training opportunities in collaboration with BISD and UMHB. 
• Market Belton’s quality of place, partnering with the City of Belton and Belton Area 

Chamber of Commerce. 
 
(3) Possible roles for Bell County Commissioners Court in Imagine Belton Plan 

implementation: 
 

• Explore opportunities for public-to-private property conversion, i.e., returning publicly 
held properties to the property tax rolls where feasible. 

• Coordinate with the City on the future of major institutional facilities located in Belton’s 
Plan boundary – i.e., Bell County offices, Downtown Jail, Sheriff’s office, parking 
facilities, among others. 

• Recognize the historical context of buildings, such as the Bell County Courthouse, Bell 
County Museum and the former Carnegie Library, and preserve them for future 
generations. 

 
(4) Possible roles for the Belton City Council in Imagine Belton Plan implementation: 

 
• Update the City’s Strategic Plan for FY2023-2027 to include an Economic 

Development Goal that emphasizes implementation of the Imagine Belton Plan. 
• Evaluate zoning, platting, design standards and building codes to ensure predictability 

and streamlining of the planning and permitting process. 
• Explore an “Imagine Belton” Overlay Zoning District to signal support for plan 

implementation. 
• Consider expansion of financial incentives for development/redevelopment: 

o Create an “Imagine Belton Partnership Fund” for special project funding, with 
support from City, BEDC, Bell County, TIRZ, others. 

o Expand boundary for Façade Improvement Grants to Plan boundary. 
o Offer private property assistance for flood plain studies, ADA improvements, fire 

protection, asbestos abatement. 
o Emphasize funding for public improvements such as sidewalks, benches, trails, 

streetscapes, murals, water, wastewater, and streets, wayfinding signage. 
o Evaluate permit fee waivers/reductions; property tax abatement; sales tax rebates. 

• Work with TxDOT and KTMPO on transportation needs within the Plan boundary, 
balancing the need to accommodate all modes – vehicles, bikes, pedestrians – with 
maintaining the vitality and attractiveness of the area for commerce and living. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BELTON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

CORPORATION, THE BELL COUNTY COMMISSIONERS COURT, AND THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, that the Imagine Belton Plan for the City of Belton, Texas, is hereby 
officially adopted, as shown on Exhibit “A”, attached hereto and incorporated herein for all intents and 
purposes. 
 



 PRESENTED AND PASSED on this the ______ day of ___________, 2022, by a vote of 
________ ayes and ________ nays at a regular meeting of the Belton Economic Development 
Corporation. 
 
 
 PRESENTED AND PASSED on this the ______ day of ____________, 2022, by a vote of 
________ ayes and ________ nays at a regular meeting of the Bell County Commissioners Court. 
 
 
 
 PRESENTED AND PASSED on this the ______ day of ____________, 2022, by a vote of 
________ ayes and ________ nays at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Belton, 
Texas. 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________ __________________________ _________________________ 
Joe Shepperd, President  David Blackburn, Judge  Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 
Belton EDC   Bell County   City of Belton, Texas 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
   
_________________________ __________________________ _________________________ 
Cynthia Hernandez, Exec Dir Shelley Coston, County Clerk  Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 



Imagine Belton

A path forward, while preserving the past.

April 6, 2022





City Council 

Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 
David K. Leigh, Mayor Pro Tem 
Dan Kirkley, Councilmember 
John Holmes, Councilmember 
Craig Pearson, Councilmember 
Daniel Bucher, Councilmember 
Guy O’Banion, Councilmember

Advisory Committee 

Joe Shepperd 
Brandon Bozon 
Wayne Carpenter 
David Leigh 
Sam Listi 
Bob Van Til 
Tina Moore 
Matt Bates 
Gene Ellis 
Judy Garrett 
Kayla Potts 
Trey Gallaway 
Narunya Estrada 
Lina Chtay 
Ronnie Schoepf 
Dusty Miller 
Paul Crane 
Mike Emmons 
Dave Covington

Consultant Team 

Covey Planning and Landscape Architecture
Travis Crow, Principal 
Joshua Donaldson, Planner and Landscape Architect 
Elizabeth Lane, Landscape Designer

KPA Engineers
David Patrick, Partner 
Ginger R. Tolbert, Partner 
Alvin R. “Trae” Sutton, Partner

Numerous individuals including City of Belton 
elected and appointed officials, City staff, 
members of the Advisory Committee, key 
stakeholders and citizens provided knowledge, 
assistance and insight throughout the process of 
developing the vision and strategy for the plan. 

Specific contributions of the following are greatly 
appreciated:

BEDC Board

Joe Shepperd, President 
Griff Lord, Vice President 
Stevie Spradley, Secretary 
Brandon Bozon, Board Member 
Matt Wood, Board Member

BEDC Staff

Cynthia Hernandez, Executive Director
Ana V. Borchardt, Director of Business Expansion 
and Retention 
Katherine Mutchler, Administrative Assisstnt 
Judy Garrett, City of Belton CVB/ Retail Development 
Coordinator 

iImagine Belton



This page was intentionally left blank.

ii Imagine Belton



Introduction and Goals
2 Project Background 
4 History 
6 Advisory Committee/Goals and Objectives
8 Demographics 
11 Regional Growth 
12 Visitor Profile 

Existing Conditions and Analysis
14 Nolan Creek Corridor 
16 Nolan Creek Corridor 
18 Infill Opportunities and Catalyst Sites
20 Gateways and Approaches
22 South Main Street: Existing Use Character
23 South Main Street: Street Environment
24 6th Street: Existing Use Character
24 6th Street: Street Environment
26 Takeaways

Vision
28 Subdistrict Introduction
30 Central Downtown Subdistrict
42 The Fields Subdistrict
50 South Main Subdistrict 
56 Nolan Creek Corridor
58 West 2nd Subdistrict
62 North 6th Subdistrict
66 University Heights

Recommendations and Implementation
74 Strategic Initiatives
77 The Regulatory Environment
79 Action Plan

Table of Contents

iiiImagine Belton



This page was intentionally left blank.

iv Imagine Belton



Introduction
This chapter provides a background on the 
project, a brief history of Belton, plan goals, 

and a demographic snapshot of the plan area. 

1Imagine Belton



Project Background 
The Belton Economic Development Corporation 
(BEDC) was created in 1990 and has a mission 
to enhance the economy of the City of Belton 
by assisting primary industry expand or locate 
into the community, thereby creating new job 
opportunities. This plan will further this mission by 
exploring opportunities for investment throughout 
the Downtown plan area. This plan also serves 

35

W Ave J

W Ave I

W Ave H

W Ave F

W Ave E

W Ave D

W Ave C

E 6th Ave

W Ave B

W 1st Ave

W 2nd Ave

W 5th Ave

W MLK Jr. Ave

N 
Ma

in 
St

N 
Pe

ne
lop

e
N 

W
all

 S
t.

N 
Be

al 
St

.
N 

Bl
air

 S
t.

Hi
llto

p S
t.

Le
on

 S
t.

Waco Rd.

W 10th Ave

W 3rd Ave

N
olan Creek

as a guide for future growth and development in 
Downtown, striving to capitalize on the unique 
features of the plan area. Building on the concepts 
in the 2030 comprehensive plan, this plan utilizes 
public input and site analysis to create a vision for 
a connected, safe, and walkable Downtown. 

Plan Area Map

2 Imagine Belton



The Landing at Creekside Park

3Imagine Belton



History 
Belton was first settled in 1850 and called Nolanville, 
which was named for Texan explorer Philip Nolan. 
In 1851, its name was changed to Belton after being 
designated County seat for the new Bell County. At 
the time, Belton was the only town in the County 
and was said to be the last place of civilization 
seen by the pioneers heading West. After the civil 
war, Belton experienced unrest, with supplies and 
money dwindling- forcing many stores to close. 
However, the 1870’s and 80’s saw a boom with 
building, new businesses and new enterprises, 
including the building of the existing courthouse 

and Baylor Female College, now known as the 
University of Mary Hardin Baylor.  By 1882,  Belton 
contracted with  M.K.T. and a depot was built a block 
from the courthouse.  The town began to thrive and 
grow rapidly until 1928. Belton was hit hard by the 
Great Depression, but managed to recover thanks 
to World War II and the arrival of Fort Hood. This 
brought economic relief and a surge of growth. 
Since then, two large lakes have been built that 
provide tourist attractions and IH-35 makes Belton 
appealing to businesses.

4 Imagine Belton



Planning Context Map

5Imagine Belton



Advisory Committee
The advisory committee was a group of Belton 
business leaders and residents who were selected 
to help guide the planning process.  This group is 
responsible for helping craft the plan’s vision and 
corresponding recommendations through their 
active engagement. The advisory committee was 
directly responsible for the development of the 
plan title and the project goals and objectives. The 
group met throughout the plan’s development to 
review and comment on the document content. 

Goals and Objectives
The following goals and objectives were developed 
at the beginning of this planning process. They were 
used as guiding parameters for the development 
of visioning ideas and plan recommendations. The 
icons for each goal will be used throughout the 
document to highlight plan goal relationships to 
vision ideas and recommendations.

Better utilize unique characteristics of Belton, specifically Nolan Creek
Objectives:

 ■ Continue to showcase unique architecture of downtown, allowing it to radiate out into the 
surrounding areas

 ■ Reorient development to front Nolan Creek
 ■ Increase entrepreneurial opportunities near Nolan Creek
 ■ Capture more students and alumni of UMHB through improved housing choice and 

increased employment opportunities, i.e. use expanded quality of life to attract more 
employers that are locating in Central Texas/Austin area 

 ■ Utilize public/private partnerships to expand UMHB branding and footprint within the 
downtown 

A guide for investment into the core of the Belton Community
Objectives:

 ■ Unifying visioning that shows the preferred future for Downtown Belton
 ■ Expanded set of development tools to increase activity levels and housing opportunities 

within downtown and its adjoining neighborhoods, include public/private partnerships
 ■ An emphasis on the balance between programming Belton to be a destination and providing 

amenities for the local community
 ■ Account for and mitigate where possible, floodplain limitations to improve certainty of 

developable areas

Improve connections into Belton Downtown
Objectives:

 ■ Enhance the arrival sequences into the core of downtown
 ■ Continuation of attractive and desirable development along key corridors
 ■ Improved physical connection to UMHB
 ■ Realization of the existing infrastructure, capitalize on the proximity of residential 

neighborhoods to downtown core

6 Imagine Belton



7Imagine Belton



Demographics 
A better understanding of the local demographics helps frame the recommendations and policies for the 
plan area. This information is derived using Esri’s Community Analyst software that aggregates multiple 
block groups that make up the plan area, with the base data coming from the 2015-2019 American 
Community Survey (ACS) 5-year estimate.

Race and Ethnicity

20.7%

66.4%

Black

Asian
American Indian
Pacific Islander

2 or more races

Some other race
White

7.0%
3.6%

1.2%
0.9% 0.2%

52%
Hispanic

Median Age

30.1
Median Age

2.63 
People per 
Household 

Average Household 
Size

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Population by Age Cohort

Under 5 years
5 to 9 years

10 to 14 years

15 to 24 years

25 to 34 years

35 to 44 years

45 to 54 years

55 to 64 years

65 to 74 years

75 to 84 years

85 years+ 

Total Population

2,648

8 Imagine Belton



$44,234
Median Household

Income

20.9%
Households Below

Poverty Line

Financial Characteristics

21.9%
Less Than

High School

36.4%
High School/GED

26.8%
Some College/

Associates

14.9%
Bachelors or 

Higher

Educational Attainment

54.5 %

18.6%

8.5%

8.3%

3.1%
2.8%

2.6%
1.5% 0.1%

Agriculture/ Mining

Public Administration

Wholesale Trade

Finance, Insurace, Real Estate

Employment in the field of Information was not reported.

Manufacturing
Retail Trade Transportation/ Utilities

Services

Construction

Employment of Residents by Industry

9Imagine Belton



Housing
Rent vs. Own

43.4%
Rent

56.6%
Own

Years Homes Built

    1939 or earlier
    1940 to 1949
    1950 to 1959

    1960 to 1969
    1970 to 1979

    1980 to 1989

    1990 to 1999

    2000 to 2009
    2010 to 2013

    2014 or later

0 50 100 150 200

3.2%
Bicycle, 

Motorcycle, Other

0.2%
Transit

84.0%
Car/Truck

12.6%
Walk or Work 

from Home

Means of Transportation
to Work

Vehicles Per Household

12.2%

22.7%

23.8%

        3 or more

        2 Vehicles

        No Vehicles

        1 Vehicle
41.3%

Demographic Takeaways
The following are a few summary conclusions derived from reviewing the demographics within the plan 
area:

 ■ Large Hispanic population. 
 ■ A significant portion of the population works in services. 
 ■ There is a high number of people who walk or work from home. 
 ■ Homes in the plan area were predominantly built before the 1980s, and there are few recent builds. 

10 Imagine Belton



���������

������

�����������

���������������
�

	���������������

�������� ����

����������

������

�������

�������

�������

������

������

�������

�������

�������

����
�����

�����
�����

�����
����������������������������

�����
����	���
	���������������������	�
���
���
�������		�����	�
��

����������������������
������

����������������������

Regional Growth 
The central Texas area has  seen a significant amount of growth in the past decade. In comparison to 
surrounding cities and counties, the Downtown plan area has a lower rate of population growth. While 
the city of Belton as a whole has a high growth rate, the lack of growth Downtown should be addressed 
in order to reach its highest social and economic potential. 

11Imagine Belton



Visitor Profile 
Esri Tapestry segments provide insight to 
demographic and socioeconomic composition for 
similar neighborhoods. These segments identify 
shared characteristics of the population that 
correlate with consumer markets. This data can 
help identify visitors of the plan area. The top 5 
tapestry segments are described below.

����������������

�����������������

�������������������

������������������� �������������������

������������������� �������������������

��������������������

�������������������� ��������������������

����������������������������������������

������������������������������

�������������

������������������������

�����������������������������������������
���	������������������
�������������

�������
�����������
���������������
����� ������� ���������
���� ���� ��
���
���������
������
�����������������
�����
����
����������
���������������
�����
�������
���������������� ������
��
��������

�������
����������
������������
������������
���
���� ���� ��
���������
������
�����������������
�����
������
�����
�����
������
����������� ����
����� ������
 �����������������
�����
��������

�������
���������������������
�
�����������������
���� ���������
�����
����
��������� ���� ��
��
����
������������������������
�����
����
�
����

�������������� ��
���������������
����� ����������

�������
�������
���������������������������� ��


��������������
������������
�����
�����������
���� ��
������������
���
��������� ���� ��
�����
������
�����������������������
�����
����
��
������
�����

������
��������������������������
�
���������
�����������

�������
������� ��
������������
���������������� ������������
�����������������
����
���� ���� ��
���
���������
����
���������
����
�������
�
�����������������
�����
������
�����
�����������
���������
����
����

	��������������������������������������������
��

36.1
Median 

Age

43.9
Median 

Age

48.0
Median 

Age

42.0
Median 

Age

40.3
Median 

Age

Single 
Family 

Housing

Single 
Family 

Housing

Single 
Family 

Housing

Single 
Family 

Housing

Single 
Family 

Housing

$59,800
Median Household

Income

$76,800
Median Household

Income

$75,000
Median Household

Income

$73,000
Median Household

Income

$47,800
Median Household

Income

2.75
People Per 
Household

2.70
People Per 
Household

2.52
People Per 
Household

2.52
People Per 
Household

2.67 
People Per 
Household

Takeaways
 ■ These segment profiles all indicate that family units with children present is common
 ■ Four of the top five segments have a relatively high median household income, suggesting extra spending on 

dining and entertainment is more readily available
 ■ Secondary education is common among this group

Tapestry Segment Study Area

12 Imagine Belton



Existing Conditions 
and Analysis

This chapter looks into the plan area’s physical and 
environmental conditions and  the corresponding 

opportunities and constraints. 

13Imagine Belton



Nolan Creek Corridor 
Nolan Creek passes through the heart of Downtown 
Belton, and acts as an important recreation and 
amenity space for the city. However, this corridor 
is also prone to dangerous flood conditions, 
and creates a major constraint to Downtown 
development. By analyzing the existing topography, 
floodplains, and natural space in the plan area, 

recommendations can be made to minimize flood 
hazard and improve the safety for Downtown 
users, while providing improved open space and 
increased development. The Nolan Creek Corridor 
is a unique element to the city of Belton and is loved 
by residents, businesses, and tourists, and should 
therefore be a safe accessible space for everyone.

14 Imagine Belton



Topography
The topography of downtown Belton 
shows the plan area elevations with 
the lowest point being Nolan Creek. 
The site is more gently sloped on 
the north side of the creek, with a 
steeper  slope on the south side. 

Existing Topography

Flood Hazard

Green Space

Nolan Creek

<500

540 to 549

Nolan Creek

Floodway

500 to 509

550 to 559

Parks

1 % ACF (100-year flood)

510 to 529

560 to 569

580 to 589

Natural Areas

0.2% ACF (500-year flood)

530 to 539

570 to 579

590<

Floodplain 
A  significant portion of downtown 
Belton is located within the 100-year 
flood zone of Nolan Creek. Many 
existing roads and buildings are 
located in this flood zone and are 
heavily impacted. No areas within  
Downtown are impacted by the 500-
year flood zone. 

Green Space 
Most of the park space within 
Downtown is located along  the river. 
Natural areas follow the bank of the 
river where land is not developed. 
Natural areas have denser vegetation 
that is not currently maintained. 

15Imagine Belton



520

530

510

500

490

Floodway

Creek

100 Year Flood

The GinAvenue CResidential 
Home

The Landing at 
Creekside Park

Nolan Creek 
Trail

Water 
Street

Public 
Parking

520

530

540

510

500

Belton 
Municipal 

Court
S Davis 
Street

Nolan Creek 
Trail

Pearl 
Street

Floodway

100 Year Flood

Creek

Creek

Floodway

100 Year Flood

Veterans 
Way

Liberty
Park

Central 
Avenue

Central 
Avenue 
Business

Flat 
Street

Parking 
Lot

Belton 
Christian Youth 

Center

520

510

500

490

Nolan Creek Corridor 
Flooding is a prominent issue throughout the Nolan 
Creek Corridor and has a significant impact on 
downtown Belton. Many of the areas along Nolan 
Creek provide park space and trails for Belton 
residents and visitors. However, in some locations, 
the flooding extends into areas with roads and 

buildings. This creates a safety hazard and limits 
development opportunities within Downtown. The 
following sections study different areas within 
downtown and how the different flood zones may 
affect future development.

Nolan Creek Trail near the Belton Municipal Court 
and Yettie Polk Park provides open space along the 
creek that is not heavily impacted by flooding. The 
floodway impacts parkland only, while the 100 year 
flood further impacts some buildings. 

The Landing at Creekside Park and surrounding 
area near The Gin is a popular space for both 
visitors and residents of Belton. While this area is 
mostly impacted by the floodway, parking and The  
Gin building are directly impacted.

Liberty Park to Central Avenue is one of the highest 
impacted areas by flooding. Water will regularly 
cover Central Avenue as well as Flat Street. This can 
heavily impact development in this key gateway 
and retail area, making sites inaccessible and 
causing some inundation.

16 Imagine Belton



520

530

510

500

490

Floodway

Creek

100 Year Flood

The GinAvenue CResidential 
Home

The Landing at 
Creekside Park

Nolan Creek 
Trail

Water 
Street

Public 
Parking

520

530

540

510

500

Belton 
Municipal 

Court
S Davis 
Street

Nolan Creek 
Trail

Pearl 
Street

Floodway

100 Year Flood

Creek

Creek

Floodway

100 Year Flood

Veterans 
Way

Liberty
Park

Central 
Avenue

Central 
Avenue 
Business

Flat 
Street

Parking 
Lot

Belton 
Christian Youth 

Center

520

510

500

490

17Imagine Belton



Infill Opportunities and Catalyst Sites
Identifying opportunities for infill and catalyst sites within the plan area can help 
determine key points of investment in Downtown. Overlaying undeveloped or 
underdeveloped parcels with the flood plain and publicly owned property shows 
which areas may be primed for infill. Development in these areas will have the highest 
impact in positive changes to the built environment at the lowest cost. 

Underdeveloped Parcels
Properties within Downtown are 
evaluated for development status 
based on their improved value to 
land value ratio. Undeveloped or 
underdeveloped identifies properties 
where the improvement value is less 
than the land value. The floodplain 
overlay shows which parcels may 
not need to be redeveloped. 

Property Valuation

Property Owners
Bell County

Undeveloped or 
Underdeveloped
100-year Floodplain
Potential Catalyst Site

BISD
City of Belton
BEDC
City of Belton Parks
Belton Housing Authority

Publicly Owned Property 
Much of the property along Nolan 
Creek is  owned by the City and is 
currently used as park space. Bell 
County owns many of the buildings in 
the Downtown core, while BISD owns 
several blocks within the plan area. 
The housing authority and BEDC also 
own a few parcels within Downtown. 

18 Imagine Belton



0’ 200’ 400’ 800’

19Imagine Belton



Gateways and Approaches
This exhibit identifies the key gateways and decision points 
within the plan area in relation to important Downtown 
destinations. The parks/ trails system, UMHB, and the downtown 
core are all points of interest within the plan area, and creating 
a cohesive and easily accessible network will foster a more 
walkable and vibrant Downtown. 

Routes
Major Arterial
Future Minor Arterial
Minor Collector
Future Minor Collector
Trail

Downtown Access 
The plan area relies on the major 
arterials of 6th Avenue, Main Street, 
Waco Road, and 2nd Avenue to 
provide the majority of the vehicular 
access to the Downtown District. A 
connective trail also follows the south 
side of the creek and passes through 
the city parks. 

20 Imagine Belton



0’ 200’ 400’ 800’

21Imagine Belton



South Main Street: Existing Use 
Character
South Main is a commercial corridor that provides 
important access into downtown Belton. The 
existing character is largely auto-oriented and 
residential. As part of the overall composition, there 
is very little neighborhood commercial along South 
Main Street. 

Residential character highlights the single-family 
nature of the structure and its corresponding 
architectural style. When sidewalks are present this 
development is complimentary to a comfortable 
pedestrian environment. Vehicle accessibility is 
limited by preservation of residential front yard.  

Auto-oriented character is defined by the site’s 
relationship to catering to vehicle accessibility 
where parking accounts for a large portion of 
the property. The pedestrian environment often 
becomes secondary to vehicle access, limiting 
the ability for a complementary relationship to 
surrounding properties. 

Neighborhood commercial character are properties 
where businesses rely on the surrounding area 
to provide local customers and the additional 
parking needed to accommodate them. The street 
environment, specifically the sidewalk realm, 
is important to connecting businesses to area 
residents and visitor parking areas. 

�����������

�������������

������������
������
���

����������������������

0’ 25’ 50’ 100’

22 Imagine Belton



South Main Street: Street 
Environment
As one of the major streets into and out of 
Downtown, South Main Street plays a key role in 
safety and walkability. It is important to identify 
interactions between sidewalks, driveways, and 
travel lanes in order to reduce conflicts between 
vehicles and pedestrians. Managing these points of 
conflict can enhance the corridor’s aesthetic and 
functionality. 

The sidewalks along South Main are inconsistent 
in terms of condition and continuity. Curb cuts for 
driveways interrupt the sidewalk multiple times per 
block, with varying widths and spacing between 
each driveway. 

����������������
������������

��������

��������

����
��	�����������

��������	�����������

	����������������
��������

������������������

0’ 25’ 50’ 100’

23Imagine Belton



6th Street: Existing Use Character
The 6th Street corridor is part of an access route to both UMHB and Downtown. This corridor is one of 
the major connections between Downtown and I-35.  The existing character is largely auto-oriented with 
some residential. There is very little neighborhood commercial along this corridor. 

6th Street: Street Environment
This corridor is characterized by inconsistent sidewalks with a significant number of driveways. There are   
a large amount of intersections with this street, with widely varying distances between them. With only 
two stoplights, the walkability and safety of this corridor is low.

24 Imagine Belton



�����������

�������������

������������
������
���

����������������������

����������������
������������

��������

��������

����
��	�����������

��������	�����������

	����������������
��������

������������������

0’ 75’ 150’ 300’

0’ 75’ 150’ 300’

25Imagine Belton



Takeaways
Nolan Creek Corridor

 ■ Significant portions of Central Avenue and the businesses along that 
street are found within floodplain inundation areas. In these areas 
at grade first floor habitable space may be limited because of flood 
conditions without floodplain mitigation efforts.  

 ■ Businesses and underdeveloped properties adjacent to Nolan Creek 
have the ability to orient activity back towards the creek corridor.

 ■ Expansive floodplain has resulted in parks and open space along 
Nolan Creek. Further opportunities exists for expanded public or 
private programming of open space.

Infill Opportunities and Catalyst Sites
 ■ There is a considerable amount of underdeveloped property in areas 

nearby the Downtown core. Some of this includes land controlled by 
public entities.

 ■ Three areas are identified as high impact areas that provide 
opportunity to be catalyst sites. These areas are located: along South 
Main Street, west of Yettie Park and northeast of Downtown. 

Gateways and Approaches
 ■ The intersections of Main Street and 6th Street is a major decision 

point. The long term function and aesthetic treatment of this 
intersection can have a lasting impact on residents and visitors 
experiences. 

 ■ Central Avenue and South Main off of I-35 can create a first impression 
and begin the arrival sequence into Belton. 6th Street of I-35 is an 
opportunity for both Belton and UMHB to begin the arrival sequence 
with signage and monumentation. 

 ■ A trail and sidepath along old rail lines provides an opportunity for a 
north connection from downtown. 

Existing Character and Street Environment
 ■ The development along South Main is predominately auto oriented, 

with little commercial that makes strong connection back into the 
adjoining neighborhoods. 

 ■ Pedestrian facilities are inconsistent along South Main, with multiple 
curb cuts and driveways per block. The street lacks landscape and 
street trees that would help soften the street environment.

 ■ 6th Street is heavily auto oriented with a small mix of neighborhood 
scaled commercial. 

 ■ Sidewalks along 6th Street are inconsistent, especially on the north 
side of the street. The street lacks a consistent feel and function that 
unifies the corridor and contributes to a clear sense of place. Street Environment along 6th Street

6th and Main Intersection

Northeast Downtown Impact Area

Nolan Creek Corridor

26 Imagine Belton



Vision
This chapter illustrates the potential direction 

for the plan area ‘s built environment.

27Imagine Belton



0’ 150’ 300’ 600’

Why Subdistricts?
Dividing the plan area into subdistricts 
allows each unique area to better 
define its role within Downtown and 
for recommendations to respond to 
their corresponding issues. The six 
subdistricts were determined based 
on delineation of streets, land uses, 
and character considerations. Each 
subdistrict has key projects and land 
use recommendations that are intended 
to guide future development in the area. 
Together, these subdistricts create a 
cohesive and connected Downtown.

28 Imagine Belton



Subdistricts 
Central Downtown
Effectively what is the core of Downtown Belton,  the 
Central Downtown subdistrict is what most people 
think of when referencing Downtown Belton.  This 
area is home to a variety of businesses, government 
agencies, dining and shopping. The eastern portion 
of the subdistrict deals with some of the more 
prominent flooding issues affecting Downtown. 

South Main
The South Main subdistrict is the first impression 
visitors see when arriving into Downtown from 
the south with access from both I-14 and I-35.  
The street is predominately commercial, but the 
sub-categories of uses varies from neighborhood 
supporting to auto-oriented businesses. 

The Fields
The fields subdistrict is just north of Central 
Downtown and home to a number of Belton ISD 
properties, churches, businesses and residential 
homes. There are few large tracts of undeveloped 
or underdeveloped property that is responsible for 
the subdistrict’s name sake. 

North 6th
With the exception of commercial located along the 
north side of 6th Avenue, the North 6th subdistrict 
is a largely residential neighborhood. These homes 
include both stately and historically significant 
structures, small single-family homes, and a few 
smaller apartments. 

West 2nd
Residential, park space, and public buildings 
define the West 2nd subdistrict.  Nolan Creek and 
the corresponding Nolan Creek Trail make up the 
eastern boundary.

University Heights
The University Heights subdistrict is comprised of 
a significant amount of land that is part of UMHB. 
The north bank of Nolan Creek has a large bluff 
spanned with large lot single-family homes.

29Imagine Belton



Belton City 
Hall

Belton Fire 
Department

Pe
ne

lo
pe

 S
tre

et

Infill and Mitigation
The north bank of Nolan Creek along Central Avenue 
is a prime location for redevelopment as mixed-use 
and public space. A boardwalk and amphitheater 
can be accessed from the Nolan Creek Trail or from 
Central Avenue. Uses could include professional 
service, retail, dining and entertainment. Additional 
stores would be able accommodate office or 
residential uses. Structured parking that provides 
both resident, employee and visitor parking 
would be needed. Below grade parking that can 
accommodate flood inundation has the potential to 
address site development limitations. 

The City has the opportunity to leverage 
existing property to partner nearby properties 
to increase the development intensity at a 
prime location within the core of downtown.

This proposed development would contribute 
an additional building with significant 
architectural interest while improving the 
adjacent property engagement of Nolan 
Creek.

Not to Scale

30 Imagine Belton



Central Avenue

W
al
l S

tre
et

Bl
ai
r S

tre
et

North Bank Redevelopment and Flood Mitigation
Central Downtown Subdistrict

31Imagine Belton



North Bank
The North Bank Redevelopment site provides 
additional commercial space that is central to 
the redevelopment of the impacted sites. The 
resulting development would be a proposed 
building engaging outward in each direction, 
while the current development only engages the 
adjoining parking lots and does not contribute any 
additional activity or interest to the public realm.  
The development would create signature outdoor 
spaces that capitalize on the relationship to Nolan 
Creek. An amphitheater, outdoor dining, and 
connection to the existing Nolan Creek Trail are all 
attractions that benefit local residents as well as 
attract visitors to the community. 

Performance space and outdoor dining are 
ways private property adjacent to Nolan Creek 
can attract visitors to Belton’s downtown.

32 Imagine Belton



North Bank Business Engagement
Central Downtown Subdistrict

33Imagine Belton



Main Street
Main Street north of Central Avenue currently 
exists as a two-way road with a dedicated turn 
lane. Reducing the width of the paving area along 
this road will allow for better pedestrian facilities 
with landscape and lighting, while providing 
more room for pedestrians along the store fronts. 
The existing buildings are exceptional attributes 
to the character of Downtown, but the lack of a 
comfortable pedestrian environment limits the 
draw of this portion of the downtown. The addition 
of street trees and on-street parking will act as 
elements that soften the impact of vehicles and 
reassure pedestrians they are welcome in the 
adjoining sidewalk space.  

Increasing the pedestrian environment will 
undoubtedly allow businesses and shops 
along Main Street to attract more customers 
and in turn the contributions to the City’s 
economic base.

Main Street is one of the important routes into 
downtown Belton.  Changes to the street’s 
aesthetic appeal is key to improving the 
arrival sequence to the downtown.

34 Imagine Belton



Main Street  Re-envisioned
Central Downtown Subdistrict

35Imagine Belton



Private To Public Back To Private
Unique buildings within Downtown can be 
enhanced through better engagement of the 
adjoining street and appealing outdoor spaces.  
Currently this building is used by Bell County. Their 
ownership likely helped maintain its existence 
and kept the building in good condition. This was 
an admirable decision by public officials, but as 
available property and lease space are harder to 
obtain, the opportunity to bring this structure and 
property back onto the tax rolls.  

Adding properties back onto tax rolls will 
help support the economic environment 
needed to support downtown improvements 
by increasing the overall tax base.

Look to maximize the historic structures and 
their role in creating desirable places to shop 
or dine within the downtown core.

36 Imagine Belton



Main Street Cafe
Central Downtown Subdistrict

37Imagine Belton



MKT Depot
The Historic MKT Depot, which is no longer located 
along a, rail line, is a clear remnant of Belton’s past.  
Currently there is a proposed redevelopment that 
will celebrate history while creating a unique space 
within the downtown.  The addition of a rail car to 
the site will contribute to the site’s story telling 
and experience development. The commercial 
space will provide dining opportunities found 
inside the historic building, within train cars, and 
potential outside seating. This reinvestment has the 
opportunity to strengthen a fragmented block and 
extend the activity from the downtown core further 
north. 

Finding creative ways to make new space 
for commercial enterprise is important 
to expanding the activity levels from the 
downtown core outwards. 

Creating unique experiences while better 
orienting existing buildings for business 
success strengthens the ties to the unique 
and historical structures in Belton.

38 Imagine Belton



MKT Depot
Central Downtown Subdistrict

39Imagine Belton



Existing Trial/Sidepath

Proposed Trial/Sidepath

Locating a hotel within the downtown is a key 
to supporting the business community and 
UMHB. Visitors will be able to spend more time 
and money with convenient accommodations 
within the downtown.

A hotel should be located along an existing 
or proposed trail or sidepath.  This allows 
for hotel visitors to experience downtown on 
foot providing more exposure to downtown 
businesses.  

A hotel location located along Nolan Creek 
would allow for improved views and the 
downtown building or the riparian setting of 
the creek. 

Hotel Locations 
Capturing a hotel within Downtown Belton 
is important to improving the stay and play 
experience with the community. Whether its a 
weekend getaway from Dallas or Austin, or a trip 
to see children at college, the experiential stay 
is currently absent. A downtown hotel would 
accommodate those visitors in close proximity to 
the best concentration of dining, recreation, arts, 
and culture. The hotel should be integrated into the 
environment taking advantage of both the existing 
pedestrian and trail infrastructure. Locating the 
hotel next to the trail and close to destinations 
encourages visitors to choose walking over driving. 
The locations on the exhibit to the right show 
potential sites that could be receptive to a hotel. 
Locating a hotel within Downtown Belton will be 
no small feat and likely require a public-partnership 
to address the complexities surrounding such an 
undertaking.  

2. Nolan Creek At Penelope

1. Belton County Jail

40 Imagine Belton



3
1

2

4 Hotel Locations
Central Downtown Subdistrict

4. Liberty Park Overlook2. Nolan Creek At Penelope

1. Belton County Jail 3. 2nd and Blair

41Imagine Belton



AFTER

6th Street Infill/Redevelopment 
The 6th Street corridor is a key arrival sequence for 
both Downtown Belton and UMHB.  The corridor 
is the first impression for many visitors to the 
community experience.  As such it is important for 
the corridor to make a statement about Belton upon 
entering the street and along its length of travel.

Development regulations should reflect 
higher design aesthetic and provide 
confidence that investment along the corridor 
will only improve moving forward.

Utilize UMHB as a key destination at the  
end of corridor. Utilize them as a partner to 
encourage outside investment that promotes 
the experiences and activity levels associated 
with a college town. 

BEFORE

Challenges
 ■ Majority of corridor lacks appeal to visitors
 ■ Overhead utilities and parking lots dominate 
existing development

 ■ Limited dining and retail establishments

Close proximity to I-35 and key route to UMHB 
should make 6th Street an ideal location to 
establish causal dining and chain retail. 

42 Imagine Belton



6th Street
The Fields Subdistrict

Solutions
 ■ Encourage infill
 ■ Streetscape and buildings with architectural 
interest should soften current harshness of 
corridor

 ■ Signage and community branding material 
should be prevalent along corridor

43Imagine Belton



Urban 
Apartment

Townhome

Live-Work

Attached 
Single-family

60
units

55
units

59
units

36
units13

units

Mixed-use 
Apartment

Infill Development 
The Fields subdistrict provides the unique  
opportunity for infill development. Creating 
increased housing choice will encourage more 
people to live in the downtown. Housing choices 
may include mixed-use apartments, urban 
apartments, live-work units, townhomes, and 
attached single-family units. A trail follows the south 
side of the development to improve walkability to 
the new housing units. 

E 2nd Ave.

E 6th Ave.

E 4th Ave.

E 3rd Ave.

Support development along trail corridors 
as to capitalize on the initial investment and 
promote alternative modes of connectivity 
within downtown. 

Housing is a key addition needed to add 
vibrancy that supports the downtown business 
community and expands the economic base 
to help with infrastructure investments. 

Not to Scale

44 Imagine Belton



Urban 
Apartment

Townhome

Live-Work

Attached 
Single-family

60
units

55
units

59
units

36
units13

units

Mixed-use 
Apartment

The Fields Infill
The Fields Subdistrict

N
 Birdw

ell St.

45Imagine Belton



Housing Types and Housing Choice

Lot  Character Minimum Maximum

Width 100’ 160’

Depth 80’ 100’

Units per Acre 8 12

Front Yard Setback 10’ 15’

Lot Coverage - 75%

Structure Height 2 Stories 4 Stories

Lot  Character Minimum Maximum

Area 3,000 sq. ft. 5,000 sq. ft.

Width 30’ 50'

Depth 90’ 100’

Front Yard Setback 10’ 20'

Lot Coverage - 85%

Structure Height 2 Stories 4 Stories

Lot  Character Minimum Maximum

Area 1,920’ 4,000 sq. ft.

Width 24’ 40'

Depth 80’ 100’

Front Yard Setback 10’ 15'

Lot Coverage - 85%

Structure Height 2 Stories 4 Stories

Lot Character Minimum Maximum

Units per Acre 10 20

Front Yard Setback 15’ 25’

Lot Coverage - 90%

Structure Height 3 Stories 5 Stories

Lot Character Minimum Maximum

Units per Acre 20 40

Front Yard Setback 0 15’

Lot Coverage - 90%

Structure Height 3 Stories 5 Stories

Housing Type Roles:
 ■ May provide home ownership 

opportunities 
 ■ Housing with little maintenance  

needs
 ■ Housing type that is neighborhood 

scaled and human scaled, while 
allowing for increased overall units.

Housing Type Roles:
 ■ Encourages both entrepreneurship 

and home ownership
 ■ Street engagement is a critical 

component for business interface
 ■ Provides transition between 

commercial and residential uses

Housing Type Roles:
 ■ Encourages home ownership in 

plan area 
 ■ Allows for individual yard space
 ■ Contributes to a sense of 

community and consistency 
provided by single-family housing.

Housing Type Role:
 ■ Contributes to increased rooftops 

needed for neighborhood services
 ■ Efficient way to increase housing 

options near activity and 
employment centers

 ■ Housing type for new arrivals to the 
community

Housing Type Role:
 ■ Housing for individuals wanting 

more urban lifestyle
 ■ Promotes increased activity with 

symbiotic relationship between 
housing, dining, retail, and services

Townhouse

Live-work

Multiplex/Stacked housing

Urban Apartment

Mixed-use apartment

Meeting the variety in demand and needs for housing results in a more complete and desirable community.  
Identifying and implementing land use controls that account for housing choice should be done in regards 
to the community context. Areas near destination nodes are better suited for accepting more units per 
acre when appropriate as they contribute to increased activity.  This relationship can create an improved 
sense of place for area retail, dining, and services. Additionally, an increased number of residents that are 
within walking distance reduces parking demand on a per capita visitor basis for area businesses. 

46 Imagine Belton



Investors, businesses, and existing property owners appreciate the certainty afforded by planning.  There 
is a willingness to take the entrepreneurial risk on new development and redevelopment undertakings 
when the project is supported by a clearly laid out vision.  Additionally, protection from a future threat that 
could compromise the success of the business or livability of a residence is equally important to assuage 
the hesitancy to commit to a choice. The following land use directives help set the table for infill and 
redevelopment, with a focus on the regulatory decision making process. 

Land Use Directives

Prominent Street Engagement. 
The downtown should be a street focused environment 
finding balance between aesthetic appearance, 
pedestrian scale, and automotive accessibility. The 
street should not be an afterthought, but instead at the 
forefront of the  conversation of site design. Buildings 
should set the backdrop, with parking meeting demands 
while removed from visual focus.

Flexible.
Flexibility is important in allowing for innovation and 
encouraging experiential environments. This however 
is not a carte blanc for development to take any form. 
Instead, its about meeting the intent of the regulatory 
guidance and desired sense of place, without 
compromising or negatively impacting function and 
appeal of the built environment. 

Context Sensitive
A key to allow for flexibility is to ensure that the 
proposed development considers the surrounding 
context. Often time this requires development to be 
incremental, transitioning between use intensities or 
providing buffering to lessen impact.  More often than 
not, addressing concerns for content sensitivity is about 
responding to the site as opposed to forcing a one size 
fits all solution.  

provide the base customers that allow shopping and 
dining establishments to thrive throughout the course 
of a day.

Mix of Uses
Promoting a mix of uses, both vertically and across 
a site, is the solution to a problem most people didn’t 
know existed. Different uses can balance out an area 
to provide the infrastructure, workforce, patrons, and 
activity support needed for a vibrant downtown. As 
an example, downtown residents and office workers 

Maximize Public Investment
One of the most important things a City should do is 
make sure they maximize on the investments they have 
made. This includes promoting highest and best use 
near public open space. People are willing to live in 
smaller units and pay a higher portion of their income 
to be adjacent to park land and activity nodes.  This 
may require the City to have a minimum unit count and 
maximum lot sizes to fully realize the economic impacts. 
Additionally, the City can then achieve benefits from 
economies of scale and fuller utilization of resources.

Goals Addressed

Goals Addressed

Goals Addressed

Goals Addressed

Goals Addressed

47Imagine Belton



6th Street Gateway 
As one of the main gateways into Downtown Belton, 
6th Street serves as an important entrance into the 
plan area and should have a prominent gateway 
element. This will help residents and visitors know 
when they have arrived in Downtown,  and create 
a strong sense of arrival. 

AFTER

BEFORE

Challenges
 ■ First impression is underwhelming
 ■ Existing directional signage scale too small 

As a key decision and entry point into Belton, 
community monumentation needs to reflect 
the scale of importance and make an impact 
to the arrival sequence.

UMHB will be the main reason for the visitors 
trip, opportunity to partner with them on 
showcases Belton and its downtown. 

48 Imagine Belton



6th Street Gateway
The Fields Subdistrict

Solutions
 ■ Iconic monumentation that announces arrival to 
Belton

 ■ Opportunity to increase exposure of UMHB

49Imagine Belton



 Mixed-Use Building

 Neighborhood Commercial

 Single-family Detached

 Trail Connection

 Multi-Family

 Townhouse

1

5

4

2

6

3

South Main Redevelopment  
The South Main subdistrict provides a unique 
opportunity for redevelopment and infill within the 
plan area. A combination of mixed-use, apartments, 
townhomes, and single-family attached houses 
will expand the housing choice within Downtown 
and increase density. A connective trail runs 
through the development, improving walkability 

and access to Downtown, as well as providing 
additional park/ open space for the new residential 
units. New housing units should engage the street, 
with parking provided through alley access and off- 
street parking to minimize traffic congestion and 
clutter. 

50 Imagine Belton



1

5

2

3

6

4

M
ain Street

Avenue C

Avenue D

Avenue E

Avenue F

Penelope Street

South Main Redevelopment 
South Main Subdistrict

Not to Scale

51Imagine Belton



Penelope Street

Avenue C Overlook 
The redevelopment of this area along South 
Main Street will provide a significant amount 
of new housing units for those wanting to live 
close to Downtown. Additionally, a new trail 
has the opportunity to provide meaningful 
contributions to alternative means of connectivity. 
The development’s proximity to the Nolan Creek 
Trail and its adjoining park land allow for new 
development to consider encouraging more overall 
housing units, as significant open space and 
recreation opportunities provide a higher capacity 
for residents that would otherwise not be possible. 

Utilize Nolan Creek as a means to support 
residential investment, as it provides 
recreation opportunities that are unique and 
impactful on quality of life. 

Opportunity to increase housing choice 
in adjacent downtown neighborhoods. 
Increased housing units can add additional 
customers and workforce for downtown 
businesses. 

52 Imagine Belton



Ave
nue

 C

Avenue C Overlook 
South Main Subdistrict

53Imagine Belton



AFTER

South Main Improvements 
The overall aesthetic and safety of South Main can 
be greatly improved by the addition of sidewalks, 
landscape, lighting, and crosswalks. Additionally, 
closing driveways in key locations can help the 
continuity of sidewalks and streetscape, as well 
as reduce vehicle and pedestrian conflict points. 
The corridor’s auto-oriented nature reduces its 
aesthetic appeal and compromises the arrival 
sequence into downtown. Re-orienting businesses 
to engage the surrounding neighborhood will 
help provide the customer base that will help 
these businesses thrive. However, this means that 
investment and redevelopment in surrounding 
residential development will also be key to the long 
term success of the South Main Corridor.

BEFORE

AFTER

Challenges
 ■ Auto-oriented nature of corridor limits 
opportunity for streetscape improvements

 ■ Narrow R.O.W. constrains on-street parking 
opportunity

 ■ Some building architecture is absent aesthetic 
character

South Main Street is a corridor that can 
improve its appeal through investment in the 
streetscape and in turn improve one of the  
key arrival sequences into downtown.

It is important to encourage business that 
caters to the surrounding community to 
address the corridor’s limited ability to 
accommodate auto-oriented development .

54 Imagine Belton



South Main Street
South Main Subdistrict

Solutions
 ■ Consolidate driveways and use cross streets to 
provide parking or access large parking lots in 
rear of property

 ■ Maximize streetscape plantings where allowed 
 ■ Develop strategy to minimize overhead utility 
impact, uses of smaller ornamental trees is one 
proven method

 ■ Encourage human scale addition to soften 
buildings along corridor, such as outdoor seating

55Imagine Belton



Nolan Creek Interaction 
Interaction with Nolan Creek is an important 
attraction for both residents and visitors of 
Downtown Belton. Capitalizing on this unique 
feature is key to the success of the plan area. 
Providing public access to Nolan Creek through 
parks, trails, and development makes the creek 
a unifying amenity throughout all of Downtown. 
Ultimately getting the most out the properties that 
are along Nolan Creek or affected by its floodplain 
will require site specific approaches that mix 
creative and pragmatic thinking.

540

550

560

570

530

520

510

500

490

Avenue C Nolan 
Creek Trail

Water 
Street

City 
Hall

Central 
Avenue

Millers 
Smokehouse

100 Year Flood
Floodway

Creek

56 Imagine Belton



540

550

560

570

530

520

510

500

490

Avenue C Nolan 
Creek Trail

Water 
Street

City 
Hall

Central 
Avenue

Millers 
Smokehouse

100 Year Flood
Floodway

Creek

Nolan Creek Development Profile
Nolan Creek Corridor

Floodway
 ■ Great for park and open space
 ■ Avoid placing structures within the floodway, 
effectively cost prohibitive to get development 
approval

 ■ Flatwork  and paving should resistant to stress 
from floodwater torrents

Floodplain
 ■ Parking and park amenities would be 
appropriate

 ■ Any structure within the floodplain needs to be 
able to handle flood water inundation 

 ■ Buildings should consider use of piers to allow 
finished floor of habitable space to be well 
above floodplain elevation line

57Imagine Belton



West 2nd  
The redevelopment of West 2nd is intended to 
address a number of issues including increased 
commercial opportunities near the downtown, more 
housing choice, and strategies for development in 
the floodplain. The conversion of Central Avenue 
to a pedestrian promenade terminating into a 
food truck court is intended to provide a vibrant 
connection to Central Downtown from West 2nd. 
This desire for increased vibrancy is supported 
by a variety of housing, such as vertical mixed-
use, multi-family, live-work, and single-family 
attached residential. Not only is Nolan Creek a 
desirable location to live next to, it is a key location 

for additional retail and dining opportunities. 
Increasing commercial real estate in this area feeds 
off the Nolan Creek Trail and its users as potential 
customers. 

The increased scale of development in this area 
provides the opportunity for sites and structures 
to work with nature to reduce impacts of flooding 
through a more resilient design mind set. 
Development should place structures finished floor 
elevation above the floodplain while increasing 
intensity vertically and overall reducing building 
footprint and impervious cover in the floodplain. 

 Food Truck Plaza

Outdoor Dining

 Single-family Attached  Live-work

 Pedestrian Board Walk

 Multi-Family

 Mixed-Use

1

6

4 5

2

7

3

58 Imagine Belton



17

6
5

3

4

2

Floodplain

Floodplain

West Second Redevelopment
West 2nd Subdistrict

D
avis Street

N
ew

 Street

Alexander Street

Sm
ith Street

Avenue A

Townhouse
 Infill

1st Aven
ue

Avenue CNot to Scale

59Imagine Belton



West 2nd
West 2nd  is a prime location to see more robust 
investment into residential housing that will support 
downtown and provide the housing choice needed 
to capture younger professionals, recent grads, 
and retiring alumni from UMHB. Nolan Creek and 
the adjacent park land provide justification for 
this type of development as it is an extension of 
quality of life present within the community.  With 
the additional housing, the opportunity exists for 
flexible entrepreneurship to occur on the fringe of 
park land, such as a food truck court.

Central Avenue bridge is to narrow to 
accommodate existing two-way vehicular 
traffic. Convert to pedestrian mall from Main 
Street to Davis Street.

Utilize Nolan Creek as a means to support 
residential investment, as it provides 
recreation opportunities that are unique and 
impactful on quality of life. 

Allow for redevelopment to include a mix of 
uses at a scale that is context sensitive to the 
surrounding neighborhood. 

60 Imagine Belton



Expanding Entrepreneurship
West 2nd Subdistrict

61Imagine Belton



North 6th Residential Infill
A portion of the North 6th subdistrict has a historic 
district designation limiting the scale and type 
of redevelopment that may happen within that 
boundary.  The remainder of the subdistrict is without 
those restraints. Encouraging redevelopment of 
this area’s residential will help improve the overall 
corridor appeal while providing more housing 
opportunities to support the downtown core 
and UMHB campus.  It is important to consider 
alternative housing types, or the missing middle 
housing, to increase the overall number of rooftops 
while keeping the human scale of residential 
neighborhood. Properties along 6th street should 
be focused on meeting the neighborhood’s needs 
while improving the overall aesthetic feel of the 
corridor.

Encourage redevelopment along the north 
side of 6th Avenue to improve the corridor’s 
aesthetic appeal. Business should focus on 
meeting the needs of the neighborhood.

Allow and encourage redevelopment of 
residential to provide more housing to support 
downtown and UMHB. Redevelopment should 
keep a residential neighborhood scale.

62 Imagine Belton



Residential Reclamation
North 6th Subdistrict

63Imagine Belton



 Accessory Dwelling Units

Courtyard Housing

 Duplex

Townhouse

Middle Housing
Middle housing refers to residential unit types that 
fall between traditional single-family and large 
multi-family complexes. This unit type meets a 
variety of housing needs for different stages of life 
and lifestyle choices. Middle housing provides an 
opportunity for sized rental units that are still part 
of a neighborhood fabric that can be gradually 

added. Their presence would provide an alternative 
to larger complexes that will undoubtedly be 
further away from the downtown core. Increasing 
living opportunities while maintaining a strong 
neighborhood and community character is afforded 
through middle housing types.

 ■ Accessory dwelling units  (adu) can provide 
expanded opportunities for student and young 
professional housing.

 ■ They allow individual property owners to add 
additional sources of income

 ■ Adds increased housing units without need for 
significant infrastructure changes

 ■ Duplexes can be used to encourage infill and 
increase total housing units without significant 
changes the look and feel of the neighborhood

 ■ Parking should not negatively impact the 
building or front yard through increased paving

 ■ Courtyard housing clusters homes on a central 
green space 

 ■ Allows for smaller lots and conveniences with 
shared common space and parking areas

 ■ Potential solution to awkward shaped lots and 
properties

 ■ Townhouses can be accommodated on smaller 
lots

 ■ Townhouses can be used to buffer other single-
family from more intense uses

 ■ Provides housing for those wanting to forgo 
property maintenance 

64 Imagine Belton



Building Architecture

Single-lane side driveways

Front yard engagement

Alleys

Human Scale Design
Human scale design focuses on catering buildings 
and spaces to reflect a environment that is 
comfortable and inviting to people. This starts with 

making streets comfortable and walkable, and 
buildings that orient to the pedestrian as opposed 
to the automobile. 

 ■ The residential structure should be a focal point 
of the lot.

 ■ Design elements should be integral to the 
building’s facade to add interest 

 ■ A visible front door entry promotes the human 
scale of the structure

 ■ Garages that are too large overpower the 
building aesthetics making the building vehicular 
scale

 ■ Porches and other prominent entry features are 
important in activating the front yard.

 ■ Front yard activation results in stronger sense 
of community and the benefits of passive 
surveillance

 ■ Reduces the likelihood of the front yard 
becoming a parking lot

 ■ Requires building to be placed in a manner that 
makes property, specifically the back yard, more 
accessible

 ■ Allows for parking and garages to be secondary 
to the house as the primary structure found on 
the property

 ■ Alleys enable smaller lots by providing access 
to the rear of the property where parking can be 
better accommodated 

 ■ Alleys also provide a space for utility placement 
that reduces the front yard clutter

 ■ Alleys should be considered a necessity for 
housing that increases the unit per acre count 
and would otherwise force parking to consume 
the front building face and front yard space

65Imagine Belton



Student Housing

Roundabout University Welcome Center

Pearl Street Shops

Mixed-Use 

UMHB Grand Entry  
The removal of the First Baptist Church and 
realignment of 6th Avenue will create a grand entry 
for UMHB at 6th Avenue and Main Street. This new 
configuration will provide a better edge for the 
campus, while better connecting it into Downtown. 
A roundabout, new housing units, and new campus 
buildings all contribute to an improved pedestrian 
and vehicular experience entering into the UMHB 
campus. 

Improve traffic flow on both Main Street and 
6th Avenue. Create signature monument for 
UMHB at 6th Avenue Focal Point

Provide opportunity for UMHB to have a 
prominent location along two important 
corridors within Belton.

66 Imagine Belton



Grand Entry
University Heights

Not to Scale

W 8th Avenue

W
ells Street

College Street

N
 Pearl Street

N
 M

ain Street

Martin Luther King Jr. Avenue

W 6th Avenue

Shine Avenue

W 7th Avenue

67Imagine Belton



Grand Entry 
Replacing the existing First Baptist Church with 
new campus buildings and a continued street 
creates a unique sense of arrival and improved 
aesthetic. Street trees and sidewalks can help 
create a comfortable pedestrian environment and 
increase walkability between Downtown and the 
UMHB campus. 

BEFORE

AFTER

Challenges
 ■ Lack of front door or threshold to UMHB
 ■ Turning sequence to arrive at UMHB impedes 
Main Street 

 ■ Narrow right of way limits the ability to add 
dedicated turn lanes

68 Imagine Belton



Grand Entry
University Heights

Solutions
 ■ Continue 6th Street through, allowing for UMHB 
traffic to make turning motion at Pearl Street

 ■ Buildings west of Main Street should act as a 
threshold to signify boundary of UMHB

 ■ Pearl Street and 6th Street roundabout creates 
space for a focal point entry monument 

69Imagine Belton



P

P

UMHB Campus

Crusader 1/4 Mile

Adaptive Re-Use

Pedestrian Mall

Public Parking

Historic District

Pearl Street Corridor
The Pearl Street Corridor will be an important 
longterm pedestrian connection from UMHB to 
downtown. Structures within the corridor are 
protected by the Historic District designation and 
long-term uses may better serve the downtown 
as commercial space through the application of  
adaptive reuse. The structures would be preserved, 
but the use of the building would switch from 

residential to commercial. The neighborhood feel 
and scale would be preserved by maintaining a 
pedestrian realm where front yards are not allowed 
to be used for parking. This long-term change to 
the corridor could be marketed as something as 
simple as the phrase the Crusader 1/4 mile, the 
approximate length of the Pearl Street to the start of 
the UMHB campus.

Not to Scale

Shine Avenue

2nd Avenu
e

M
ain Street

Pearl Street

D
avis Street

70 Imagine Belton



Pearl Street
University Heights

Utilize the proximity of UMHB to influence and 
contribute to the branding of a signature and 
unique commercial corridor.

Increase commercial space near the 
downtown core allowing overflow boutique or 
smaller scale retail, dining, and commercial 
service. 

71Imagine Belton



This page was intentionally left blank.

72 Imagine Belton



Recommendations
and Implementation

This chapter frames the vision elements of the plan 
into workable strategies and initiatives.

73Imagine Belton



Strategic Initiatives
Partnerships
The ability to grow and support the downtown 
directly corresponds with implementing a long-
term vision efficiently and effectively.  This will 
require partnerships between the vested interests 
within the downtown. Businesses are dependent 
on the City of Belton and Bell County decision 
making that will have direct and indirect impacts 
on composition and function of downtown.

Public-Private Partnerships
Public-private partnerships are often undertaken 
to find solutions where more flexibility is needed 
to accomplish the desired outcomes. The form of  
which public-private partnerships should result is 
a mutual beneficial relationship between the public 
entity and the private business.  The most typical 
benefit for the public would be increased property 
values and commercial activity which increase the 
tax base. The private benefit is realized in a variety 
of manners but most typically these benefits are 
either improved supporting infrastructure or some 
monetary benefit that help defer or mitigate the 
cost of investment. 

Public-Public Partnerships
Partnerships between public entities are equally 
important for the investment in the future of 
downtown. The City of Belton, Belton Independent  
School and Bell Country are all important land 
holders and decision makers within the boundaries 
of downtown. Additionally, they are all taxing entities 
that are impacted by commerce and property 
values within the downtown. Mechanisms exist in 
which downtown reinvestment and growth can be 
enabled by the short term sacrifices in revenues.  In 
order for a shared vision for downtown to occur it 
needs to be supported by continuous coordination 
and communication between these different 
groups. 

Readily Available Toolbox 
Public entities in Belton have three readily available 
tools that can be used to directly improve the 
downtown area. Available funds for downtown 
improvements are always a limiting factor for public 
entities, but public land investments, tax abatement, 
and Capital Improvements Plans can be utilized 
in a manner to increase investment in downtown. 
Each one of these elements already exists to some 
degree within downtown, focusing them to work 
together may help magnify their impact. 

The sidewalk is a public realm where private enterprise is often facilitated.

74 Imagine Belton



Public Land
Public land should be considered infrastructure 
used to support development. Currently the Nolan 
Creek Corridor is the biggest and most important 
public land investment in downtown. The creek 
corridor includes park land and natural areas 
under control of the City that provide stability 
and certainty for nearby properties. The long-
term provision of recreation and amenity space 
is an incentive for redevelopment where business 
and residential properties promote and utilize 
this amenity. This utilization may include allowing 
commercial vendors to set up within parks to 
providing goods and services to park patrons that 
furthers the park experience. 

A similar approach for public land investments 
can be applied to parking.  Identifying centralized 
properties that can be used as part of a parking 
strategy can help address parking shortfalls within 
the downtown. These properties will likely require an 
overall strategy where placement and wayfinding 
help make the parking experience easy to navigate. 
As downtown Belton sees activity levels increase 
parking availability will become more of an issue. 
A strategy that accounts for future growth is key 
to supporting commerce and in turn protecting 
the walkable and engaging environment that make 
downtown Belton special. 

Tax Abatement
The City of Belton’s tax abatement program provides 
an incentive for investments and improvements 
to properties within the downtown. There area 
impacted includes property found in the tax 
abatement Downtown Development District as well 
as property located within a Enterprise Zone or the 
City’s Tax Increment Finance Reinvestment Zone. 
Investments into facilities can have a percentage 
of the increased tax value abated over 5 years.  
For properties inside the Downtown Development 
District (the City’s official tax abatement district) 
can have 100% of the increased value abated so 
long as it meets the minimum requirements of 
$25,000 in real property improvements, $100,000 
in business personal property investment, or that 
results in the creation of at least 5 jobs. 

Currently the tax abatement program applies 
primarily to business development, though mixed 
use that includes residential is eligible. The City 
of Belton should consider the expansion of the 
Downtown Development District to include 
some or all of the subdistricts identified in this 
plan.  Additionally, the City should increase the 
eligibility for abatement into residential properties 
encouraging investment into near downtown 
housing stock. 

Yettie Polk Park is one of many public amenities found along Nolan Creek.

75Imagine Belton



Capital Improvement Planning
The City and County investment into its streets, 
utility infrastructure, park land, and other facilities 
should be done in a manner that furthers the 
investment into downtown. This can be as simple 
as a restructuring of the Capital Improvement 
Plan (CIP) process to correspond with targeted 
investment areas within downtown. Identifying 
projects that support growth and expansion of 
downtown and allowing project prioritization to 
be influenced by private sector investors can help 
realize full development potential and increased 
revenues faster. Using the CIP projects as a 
marketing tool communicates intent of the City 
and County to existing business and developers 
allowing these members of private sector to plan 
their own capital expenditures to complement and 
take advantage of pending improvements. 

Additionally, the City has the opportunity to take 
advantage of the presence of the University 
of Mary-Hardin Baylor. This large entity has a 
meaningful impact and contribution to the culture 
and population of the City’s residents.  Their long-
term integration into the downtown is inevitable 
and the City should identify and partner with the 
university on capital investment so both entities 
are able to meet their needs. 

Regulatory 
One tool that can promote increased certainty, 
and in turn confidence for developer investment, is 
preemptively changing the regulatory environment 
to allow the desired development to occur by right.  
This includes both updating the City’s development 
standards and land uses, as well as identifying 
methods for shared access and regional detentions 
that support the increased development intensity 
vital to downtown growth and investment.  The 
areas that should be considered for expanded 
regulatory guidance include the subdistricts of 
South Main, West 2nd, and the Fields.  Additionally, 
updated regulatory considerations for expanding 
housing types maybe appropriate all of the 
downtown plans area where applicable. 

Land Banking
When trying to promote redevelopment, land 
assembly maybe a difficult process for the private 
sector. Acquiring parcels to make large enough 
tracts for desired development can take an 
extended period of time. This can limit the private 
sectors ability to meet the desired vision as terms of 
financing often dictate a more immediate action on 
properties. The BEDC, City of Belton, Bell County, 
and other community interest should consider 
working together to acquire contiguous sections of 
land where coordination between the entities and 
supporting public and the corresponding private 
sector investments can be maximized.

Public to Private Conversion
There are number of properties that are currently 
held by the Bell County and the City of Belton that 
may benefit from transitioning back into private 
property ownership.  Property availability in 
Downtown Belton is becoming more scarce and 
growth of the region requiring expanded facilities 
to accommodate City and County needs should 
consider relocation outside of downtown’s core. If 
the public sector workforce is complementary to 
the downtown needs, consider partnerships where 
new facilities share space with the private enterprise. 
This may include dedicating some space to retail 
and dining on the first floor or parking agreements 
where city staff is accommodate during the 
weekday, but transitions to public parking during 
nights and weekends. 

76 Imagine Belton



The Regulatory Environment
In order to accommodate the development put 
forth in the Vision Chapter of this plan, changes to 
the regulatory environment are necessary.  There 
are two ways to start this process. Those are, a 
private developer initiated master plan tied to a 
regulatory plan or a City of Belton initiated zoning 
code change applied that would correspond with 
a district boundary. These regulatory changes may 
take the form of a planned unit development (PUD), 
creation of zoning overlay, or development of a 
special zoning district.

PUD 
A PUD allows a development the flexibility to 
meet land use goals  for the built environment that 
otherwise would not be able to be accomplished 
under the existing regulatory environment. This 
is typically a privately initiated development code 
that corresponds with a master plan for affected 
properties.

Zoning Overlay
A zoning overlay is a series of additional code 
requirements or allowance that applies to an area 
within the boundary. This can be helpful for simple 
zoning adjustments, but is not as practice for larger 
more encompassing zoning changes. This process 
would need to be initiated by the City. 

Special Zoning District 
This process is an amendment to the City’s zoning 
code which provides a new district or districts.  This 
new district would provide a complete set of land 
use and development standards that are applicable  
within the boundaries of the development. This 
process can often be treated as a stand alone 
section of the code or amendment. The overlap 
between the existing zoning code and the special 
zoning district(s) is outlined with parameter of 
the new zoning district. This process would be 
appropriate where there is significant additions to 
the City’s zoning code would be needed to enable 
the development types of development flexibility 
desired.

Steps for Regulatory Change

Step 1: Determine applicable boundaries and 
properties impacted 
Step 1a: If City initiated begin public engagement 
informing community about intent of undertaking

Step 2: Identify and define districts or subdistricts 
for the development and corresponding land use 
charts

Step 3: Identify elements of public realm that will 
have new or enhanced infrastructure standards

Step 4: Create property development standards

Step 5: Develop additional design guidelines 
(Private development may have more flexibility in 
control over materials and construction practices)

Step 6: Submit application/initiate formal zoning 
change process

Step 7: Public hearing

Step 8: Final adoption

77Imagine Belton



Elements that should be Included
At a minimum the following elements should 
accounted for in any revisions to zoning regulations. 

Public Street Interaction
One of the biggest changes to the downtown 
neighborhoods is reliance on the street environment 
provide connectivity, activity areas, parking, 
takeout pickup, and ridesharing. These changes 
help improve the function as well as safety for 
pedestrians, business owners, and drivers. 

Form, Massing, Lot Coverage
Building form and placement is a key determinate 
factor distinguishing downtown from suburban 
environments. Any zoning code should address 
building placement so that buildings are closer to 
the street and parking is located in the rear of the 
property.

Setbacks
Setback in this downtown and supporting 
neighborhoods will be inherently different with 
the use of build to lines or max building setbacks. 
Encroachment by ancillary building component 
or site element into setbacks, or the public right of 
way, maybe more accommodating. 

Mixed Use Allowance
Expanding the application of multiple-uses within 
a building can contribute to more vibrant and 
efficient built environment. This can include live-
work housing type, first floor parking garage, as 
well as others approaches to differing vertical uses.  
.

Connectivity
Development should look to additional connection 
requirement through cross access easement or  
pedestrian greenways to provide better offstreet 
circulation or access to open/public spaces.  

Shared Parking
Shared parking can help align uses to be more 
complementary where parking demands overlap 
making a more efficient use of available parking. 
Direction on how to account for shared parking 
provides more certainty for development.  

Expanded Housing Types 
Allow additional housing types and development 
standards that are more supportive of the tighter and 
more compact nature of downtown neighborhoods. 
Townhouses, Lofts, and Apartments (multiplexes) 
are important unit types that should balance 
ownership and rental occupancy demands

78 Imagine Belton



Action Initiative Goals Met Subdistrict Action Type Priority Involved 
Partners

1

North Bank Redevelopment Work with 
the City of Belton, Tax Appraisal District 
to, and PNC Bank to assemble property 
to allow for expanded redevelopment of 
North Bank site. 

 
Central 

Downtown

Coordination,
Land 

Assembly
Medium

City of Belton, PNC 
Bank, Bell County Tax 
Appraisal District

2

North Bank Flood Mitigation. 
Encourage redevelopment of the North 
Bank Site to incorporate flood mitigation 
as part of site development. 

 
Central 

Downtown

Capital, 
Partnership, 
Regulatory, 

Study

Low City of Belton, Private 
Development

3

Main Street. Reconstruct Main Street 
in Central Downtown to be more 
pedestrian friendly and activity focused 
street. 

 
Central 

Downtown
Capital,
Study Medium City of Belton, 

TXDOT

4

Identify publicly owned buildings that 
would help increase available office, 
retail, and dining space in Central 
Downtown and develop plan to 
transition them to private ownership. 

 
Central 

Downtown Coordination High City of Belton
Bell County

5 Work to recruit a hotel presence to 
downtown Belton.    

Central 
Downtown Coordination Medium Bell County, UMHB

6

6th Street. Design and reconstruct 
6th street to improve pedestrian and 
vehicular experience. Consider access 
management, enhanced landscaping, 
signage, and branding. 

 
The Fields, 
North 6th

Study, 
Coordination,

Capital
High City of Belton, UMHB, 

TXDOT

7

6th Street Infill. Encourage 
redevelopment to focus business 
along 6th Street to enhance the arrival 
sequence to Belton.

  The Fields Coordination Medium UMHB, City of Belton

8

The Fields Infill. Encourage 
redevelopment on th southwest corner 
6th Street and Birdwell Street.  Infill 
should include commercial development 
adjacent to 6th and be complemented 
by variety of housing types.

 The Fields

Coordination, 
Capital, 

Study, Land 
Assembly

High Private Development, 
City of Belton

9
Develop Trail along rail line from 
Blair Street to 6th Avenue with the intent 
to continue trail further North  

The Fields, 
Central 

Downtown

Study,
Capital Medium City of Belton

10

6th Street Gateway. Design and 
construct a prominent gateway element. 
This will help residents and visitors know 
when they have arrived in Downtown,  
and create a strong sense of arrival.

  The Fields Coordination,
Capital High City of Belton, UMHB, 

TXDOT

Action Plan
This section of the plan summarizes the 
recommendations derived from the plan into an 
Action Plan. These actions are reflective of the 
vision for Downtown Belton put forward in this plan. 
The initiatives should be viewed as a check list that 
allow for community to evaluate it ’s progress.  Each 
action initiative identifies the action type that frames 
the efforts. The action type includes, coordination, 

land assembly, study,  capital (or capital project), or 
some combination. Each action initiative was given 
a priority level of high, medium, or low based off 
feedback from the Advisory Committee. Lastly, the 
partners outside of the BEDC were identified as 
entities would be have integral involvement in the 
realization of the project. 

79Imagine Belton



Action Initiative Goals Met Subdistrict Action Type Priority Involved 
Partners

11

South Main/Overlook Redevelopment. 
New development can provide housing 
units for those wanting to live close to 
Downtown. Additionally, a new trail has 
the opportunity to provide meaningful 
contributions to alternative means of 
connectivity.

  South Main

Regulatory, 
Study, 

Capital, Land 
Assembly

High

City of Belton, 
Private Development, 
Property/Business 

Owners

12

South Main Street. Design and 
reconstruct South Main to improve 
vehicle and pedestrian experience as 
well as better connections back into the 
surrounding neighborhood. Consider 
access management, enhanced 
landscaping, signage, and branding. 

 South Main Capital Medium City of Belton

13

West 2nd Redevelopment. Encourage 
redevelopment that allows a mix of 
uses to increase housing choice, work 
opportunities, and create a more flood 
resilient community. 

   West 2nd 

Regulatory, 
Capital,  

Study, Land 
Assembly

Low

City of Belton, Private 
Development, Central 

Texas Housing 
Consortium

14

Central Avenue Pedestrian Boulevard.  
Convert Central Avenue West of Main 
Street to a pedestrian mall to improve 
connection to Yettie Polk Park and West 
2nd Redevelopment.

   

West 2nd 
Central 

Downtown
Capital Low City of Belton

15

North 6th Residential Infill. Encourage 
residential redevelopment in the North 
6th Subdistrict. Consider new housing 
types that increase the overall number of 
rooftops while keeping the human scale 
of the neighborhood.

 North 6th
Regulatory
Study, Land 
Assembly

Low City of Belton,
Private Development

16

UMHB Grand Entry. A roundabout, 
new housing units, and new campus 
buildings all contribute to a better edge 
for the campus, while better connecting 
it into Downtown.

  
University 
Heights

Study,
Capital Medium City of Belton

17
Pearl Street Corridor. Encourage 
building reuse along the Pearl Street 
Corridor to create urban edge.  

University 
Heights Regulatory Low

City of Belton, UMHB, 
Property/Business 

Owners

80 Imagine Belton



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #13 
     
Consider authorizing the award of small business grants funded by the American Rescue 
Plan Act of 2021 for Belton small businesses impacted by COVID-19 in the total amount of 
$850,000. 
  
Originating Department 
 
Administration – Sam A. Listi, City Manager 
 
Summary Information 
 
On March 22, 2022, the Belton City Council adopted Resolution 2022-14-R, allocating nearly 
$5.7 million for numerous purposes to address community impacts of COVID-19. Of that 
amount, $850,000 was set aside for grants to support small businesses. The Council 
approved an Interlocal Agreement on May 10, 2022, with the Central Texas Council of 
Governments (CTCOG), to receive and batch the applications for City review. Our thanks to 
Jim Reed, Uryan Nelson, and Anna Barge for their assistance in this substantial task. 
 
Program criteria included the following elements (see entire Grant Criteria Packet attached): 
 

1. Eligible recipients must be a Belton small business currently in operation; 
2. Must have fewer than 100 employees; 
3. Must have a physical location in Belton city limits; 
4. Must demonstrate a negative impact from COVID-19; 
5. Maximum one-time assistance is $20,000, with a minimum of $5,000; 
6. Assistance is available for any business, including ones which received previous relief 

funding; and 
7. Non-profits are eligible, but faith-based non-profits are ineligible. 

 
Eligible expenses include capital expenditures such as building renovations, kitchen equip-
ment, office furniture, and equipment, environmental remediation, façade improvements, and 
sanitary enhancements. Salaries and operating expenses are ineligible. 
 
A 5-member Small Business Grant Committee was appointed by Mayor Carpenter to review 
grant applications and develop recommendations, including: 
 

• Mayor Wayne Carpenter 
• Councilmember Craig Pearson 
• Councilmember John Holmes 
• Chamber Board Chair Brent Burks 
• Director of Finance Mike Rodgers 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 2   
 

• CVB/Retail Coordinator Judy Garrett 
• City Manager Sam Listi 

 
There were a total of 64 applications, including for-profit firms and not-for-profit agencies. 
Grant eligibility required ensuring all due taxes had been paid; confirming each firm had a 
valid certificate of occupancy; and an understanding that proposed expenditures involved 
capital improvements to be done in the future, since this is a reimbursement grant. Please 
see Grant Application Spreadsheet with all applications referenced. 
 
Following review, 55 for-profit and 4 not-for-profits met all criteria and were recommended by 
the Committee. Available funds allowed the Committee to recommend granting an applicant’s 
request, up to the maximum amount of $15,240 for agencies. Please see List of Grant 
Recipients, and the amount recommended attached, totaling $849,970. 
 
Following approval by Council, an award letter, terms for expenditure and reimbursement, 
and a commitment by the awardee to comply with grant conditions will be prepared for each 
grant recipient. 
 
Recipients will have until December 31, 2023, to spend these grant funds. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
$850,000 in ARPA funds 
 
Recommendation 
 
Consistent with the Small Business Grant Committee recommendation, recommend approval 
of allocation of grant funds as indicated in the List of Grant Recipients. 
 
Attachments 
CM Memo to Council 
Grant Criteria Packet 
Grant Application Spreadsheet 
List of Grant Recipients 



E-MEMO 
 
 
Date: June 17, 2022 
 
To: Mayor Wayne Carpenter 

Councilmember Craig Pearson 
Councilmember John Holmes 
Mike Rodgers, Dir. of Finance 
Judy Garrett, CVB/Retail Coordinator 
Dr. Brent Burks, Chair-Chamber of Commerce 

 
C: Anna Barge 
 Uryan Nelson 
 
From:  Sam A. Listi, City Manager 
 
RE: Small Business Grant Applicant Update 
 
 
Attached is the final printout of recommended grants and grant recipients. 
 
Summary Comments: 
 

• Bold Republic reduced its request from $20,000 to $5,000 for purchase and installation of 
a single piece of equipment, a mini split air conditioner that will stay on site at the property. 
We recommend this item for funding. 
 

• The following 7 of 8 businesses provided certificates from the Bell County Tax Appraisal 
District indicating payment of all taxes due: 
 

o Schoepf’s 
o BeYoutiful Salon 
o Wat Tha Truck 
o La Luncheonette 
o Water Street Waffle Co. 
o Arusha’s 
o Summer Fun Water Park 

 
• 6th Street Antiques and Nature’s Way Rainbow did not provide tax certificates and are 

ineligible for a grant. 
 



• The two businesses without a proper Certificate of Occupancy were not able to comply and 
are ineligible for a grant – the Spa at Lunaria and Confetti Rentals. 
 

• Red’s Custom Tees is ineligible due to items already purchased. 
 

• Belton Fire Corps was deemed ineligible due to it being a City-related organization. 
 

• 55 for-profit agencies are recommended for funding with a grant amount equaling their 
request up to a maximum amount of $15,240 for a total of $789,010. 
 

• 4 non-profits are recommended for $15,240 in funding each, for a total of $60,960: 
 

o Belton Area Chamber of Commerce 
o Foster Love Bell County 
o Children’s Advocacy Center of Central Texas 
o Belton Christian Youth Center 

 
• Total recommended grant awards: $849,970 

 
• This recommendation will be presented to City Council on June 28, 2022, unless there is 

an objection by any Committee member. 
 

• Following approval by Council, an award letter, terms for expenditure and reimbursement, 
and a commitment by the awardee to comply will be prepared for each grant recipient. 
 

Thank you for your service on this Committee and to the City of Belton. 









































City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #14 
     
Consider and take action on authorizing the BEDC Executive Director to execute a contract 
for the sale of 19.23 acres in the Belton Business Park to Tradition Land, LLC. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Belton Economic Development Corporation – Cynthia Hernandez, Executive Director 
 
Summary Information 
 
The Belton Economic Development Corporation has been working with Tradition Land, LLC 
for a light industrial speculative development in the Belton Business Park. Given the limited 
inventory in Belton, this project will serve to facilitate business relocations and/or 
expansions into Belton. In April, the BEDC Board of Directors approved an LOI for the sale 
of property to facilitate the development. Accordingly, a contract was presented to the Board 
in June from Tradition Land, LLC, to purchase 19.23 acres in the Belton Business Park. The 
offer of $1,114,384 was made for the 16.4-acre tract south of Digby Drive and 2.8 acres on 
IH-14.  
 
The terms of the contract provide for a 90-day inspection period with the option to extend, 
up to two times, at a fee of $25,000 per extension. The extensions are limited to 30 days 
each. Extension fees will be applied at the closing and are non-refundable. Survey and 
platting cost will be shared, as will be the closing costs. BEDC will be responsible for 3% of 
the commission.  
 
Upon the sale of property, the 16 acres will remain light industrial, and the 2.8 acre will need 
to be rezoned to LI. As per the repurchase clause, the developer will begin construction on 
no less than 100,000 sf building within 24 months from the sale of property. The 
development will be subject to the Restrictive Covenants for Phase II of the Belton Business 
Park and the City of Belton Design Standards.  
 
The BEDC Board of Directors met on Wednesday, June 15, 2022, and unanimously 
approved the contract for the sale of property to Tradition Land, LLC. Staff recommends the 
approval of the contract as presented.  
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
The sale of property will generate an estimated at $1,114,384 in revenues. BEDC’s 
obligation for the commission is 3% of sales at $33,431.52. 
 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 2 of 2   
 

Amount: $1,114,384 
 
Budgeted:    Yes    No 
 
If not budgeted:  Budget Transfer  Contingency  Amendment Needed  Capital Project Funds 
 
Recommendation 
 
The BEDC Board and staff recommend City Council approval authorizing the BEDC 
Executive Director to execute a contract for the sale of 19.23 acres on Digby Drive to 
Tradition Land, LLC. 
 
Attachments 
Contract for Sale of Property 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

[BELTON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION] 
AS SELLER 

AND 

TRADITION LAND, LLC 
AS PURCHASER 

DATED ______________ _____, 2022 
 

 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 Page No. 

ARTICLE 1 BASIC INFORMATION .......................................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.1 Certain Basic Terms .......................................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.2 Closing Costs .................................................................................................................................... 2 
Section 1.3 Notice Addresses: ............................................................................................................................. 2 

ARTICLE 2 PROPERTY .............................................................................................................................................. 3 
Section 2.1 Property ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

ARTICLE 3 EARNEST MONEY ................................................................................................................................. 3 
Section 3.1 Deposit and Investment of Earnest Money ....................................................................................... 3 
Section 3.2 Independent Consideration................................................................................................................ 3 
Section 3.3 Form; Failure to Deposit ................................................................................................................... 3 
Section 3.4 Disposition of Earnest Money ........................................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 4 DUE DILIGENCE .................................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 4.1 Due Diligence Materials To Be Delivered ........................................................................................ 4 
Section 4.2 Property Information Disclaimer ...................................................................................................... 4 
Section 4.3 Physical Due Diligence ..................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 4.4 Extension of the Inspection Period.................................................................................................... 5 
Section 4.5 Due Diligence/Termination Right ..................................................................................................... 5 
Section 4.5 Purchaser's Responsibilities .............................................................................................................. 5 
Section 4.6 Insurance; Purchaser's Agreement to Indemnify ............................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 5 TITLE AND SURVEY ............................................................................................................................. 6 
Section 5.1 Title Commitment ............................................................................................................................. 6 
Section 5.2 Survey ............................................................................................................................................... 6 
Section 5.3 Title Review ...................................................................................................................................... 6 
Section 5.4 Delivery of Title Policy at Closing ................................................................................................... 6 
Section 5.5 Zoning; Building Permit; Platting ..................................................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE 6 OPERATIONS AND RISK OF LOSS ..................................................................................................... 7 
Section 6.1 Ongoing Operations .......................................................................................................................... 7 
Section 6.2 Condemnation ................................................................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE 7 CLOSING ................................................................................................................................................. 8 
Section 7.1 Closing .............................................................................................................................................. 8 
Section 7.2 Conditions to Purchaser's Obligation to Close .................................................................................. 8 
Section 7.3 Seller's Deliveries in Escrow ............................................................................................................. 9 
Section 7.4 Purchaser's Deliveries in Escrow ...................................................................................................... 9 
Section 7.5 Closing Statements .......................................................................................................................... 10 
Section 7.6 Purchase Price ................................................................................................................................. 10 
Section 7.7 Possession ....................................................................................................................................... 10 
Section 7.8 Delivery of Books and Records ...................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

ARTICLE 8 PRORATIONS, DEPOSITS, COMMISSIONS ..................................................................................... 10 
Section 8.1 Prorations ........................................................................................................................................ 10 
Section 8.2 Closing Costs .................................................................................................................................. 10 
Section 8.3 Adjustment After Closing ............................................................................................................... 10 
Section 8.4 Commissions ................................................................................................................................... 10 



 

ARTICLE 9 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES ....................................................................................... 11 
Section 9.1 Seller's Representations and Warranties ......................................................................................... 11 
Section 9.2 Purchaser's Representations and Warranties ................................................................................... 12 
Section 9.3 Survival of Representations and Warranties ................................................................................... 13 
Section 9.4 Disclaimers By Seller ...................................................................................................................... 13 
Section 9.5 Sale "As Is, Where Is"; FEMA Disclaimer ..................................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE 10 DEFAULT AND REMEDIES .............................................................................................................. 14 
Section 10.1 Seller's Remedies ....................................................................................................................... 14 
Section 10.2 Purchaser's Remedies ................................................................................................................. 14 

ARTICLE 11 MISCELLANEOUS ............................................................................................................................. 14 
Section 11.1 Parties Bound; Assignment ........................................................................................................ 14 
Section 11.2 Invalidity and Waiver ................................................................................................................. 15 
Section 11.3 Governing Law; Survival; Time ................................................................................................. 15 
Section 11.4 Entirety and Amendments .......................................................................................................... 15 
Section 11.5 Force Majeure ............................................................................................................................ 15 
Section 11.6 Limitation of Liability ................................................................................................................ 15 
Section 11.7 Notices ....................................................................................................................................... 15 
Section 11.8 Construction; Waiver ................................................................................................................. 16 
Section 11.9 Calculation of Time Periods ....................................................................................................... 16 
Section 11.10 Execution in Counterparts .......................................................................................................... 16 
Section 11.11 Further Assurances ..................................................................................................................... 16 
Section 11.12 No Marketing; Exclusivity ......................................................................................................... 16 
Section 11.13 Confidentiality ............................................................................................................................ 16 
Section 11.14 Confidentiality ............................................................................................................................ 16 

ARTICLE 12 SELLER REPURCHAS RIGHT .......................................................................................................... 17 
Section 12.1 Seller Repurchase Right ............................................................................................................. 17 
Section 12.2 Excusable Delay ......................................................................................................................... 17 
Section 12.3 Initial Trigger Date ..................................................................................................................... 17 
Section 12.4 Repurchase Right ....................................................................................................................... 17 

 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 1 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 
 

This Purchase and Sale Agreement (this "Agreement") is made and entered into by and between Seller and 
Purchaser. 

RECITALS: 

A. Defined terms are indicated by initial capital letters.  Defined terms shall have the meaning set forth 
herein, whether or not such terms are used before or after the definitions are set forth. 

B. Purchaser desires to purchase the Property and Seller desires to sell the Property, all upon the terms 
and conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

AGREEMENTS: 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual terms, provisions, covenants and agreements set forth 
herein, as well as the sums to be paid by Purchaser to Seller, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, Purchaser and Seller agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 
BASIC INFORMATION 

Section 1.1 Certain Basic Terms.  The following defined terms shall have the meanings set forth 
below: 

(a) Seller: [BELTON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION] 
 

(b) Purchaser: TRADITION LAND, LLC 
 

(c) Purchase Price:   Estimated to be $914,384, based on a total of (i) $1.00 
per square foot based on the Survey of the 
approximately 16.4 acre tract, plus (ii) an additional 
$200,000 with respect to the 2.833 Acres located on the 
IH 14 frontage road. 
 
 

(d) Earnest Money: $100,000.00, together with the Inspection Period 
Extension Fee(s) (if applicable) and interest thereon, to be 
deposited in accordance with Section 3.1 hereof. 

(e) Title Company: Monteith Abstract & Title Company, Inc. 
2500 Bacon Ranch Road 
Killeen, Texas 76542 
Attn.:  Ty Hendrick 
Telephone No.: 214-542-6100 
E-mail: Ty.Hendrick@monteithtitle.com 
 

(f) Escrow Agent: Title Company 
 

(g) Effective Date: The date on which (i) this Agreement is executed by the 
latter to sign of Purchaser or Seller, as indicated on the 
signature page of this Agreement and (ii) the Title 
Company acknowledges receipt of the initial deposit of 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 2 

Earnest Money and delivers its executed joinder page to 
this Agreement to both Seller and Purchaser. 

(h) Execution Date: The date on which this Agreement is executed by the 
latter to sign of Purchaser or Seller, as indicated on the 
signature page of this Agreement. 

(i) Information Delivery Date: The date which is five (5) days after the Effective Date. 

(j) Title Commitment Delivery 
Date: 

The date which is ten (10) days after the Execution Date. 

(k) Title and Survey Review 
Period: 

The period ending on the expiration of the Inspection 
Period. 

(l) Inspection Period: The period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on 
the date which is ninety (90) days after the Effective 
Date[, subject to extension as provided in Section 4.4]. 

(m) Closing Date: The date which is the latest of (i) thirty (30) days after the 
Inspection Period (as the same may be extended), (ii) the 
date that is three business days after the date that at all of 
the Conditions to Closing have been satisfied and (iii) 
September 8, 2022 (the "Outside Closing Date").  
Notwithstanding the preceding, Purchaser shall the have 
the right to require the Closing Date to occur on or before 
September 8, 2022, by delivering written notice to Seller 
on or before September 1, 2022. 

(n)    

(o) Intended Use: The development, construction and operation of an 
industrial warehouse facility on the Property. 

Section 1.2 Closing Costs.  Closing costs shall be allocated and paid as follows: 

 
COST 

 
RESPONSIBLE PARTY 

Title Commitment required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.1 Purchaser 
Premium for extended coverage Title Policy required to be delivered pursuant to 
Section 5.4 

Purchaser 

Premium for any upgrade of Title Policy for any other additional endorsements desired 
by Purchaser 

Purchaser 

Any inspection fee charged by the Title Company, tax certificates, municipal and 
utility lien certificates, and any other Title Company charges 

Purchaser: ½ 
Seller: ½ 

Costs of Survey and/or any revisions, modifications or recertifications thereto Purchaser: ½ 
Seller: ½ 

Recording fees Seller 
Any escrow fee charged by Escrow Agent for holding the Earnest Money or 
conducting the Closing 

Purchaser: ½ 
Seller: ½ 

Real Estate Sales Commission to Broker Seller 
All other closing costs, expenses, charges and fees The party incurring the 

same 
 

Section 1.3 Notice Addresses: 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 3 

Seller: 
Belton Economic Development Corporation 
415 E. Central Ave., Suite B 
Belton, TX  76513 
Attention: Cynthia Hernandez 
Telephone:     
E-mail:      
 

Purchaser: 
Tradition Land, LLC 
7701 Lemmon Ave., Suite 220 
Dallas, TX 75209 
Attention: Jonathan Perlman, Sr. 
Telephone: 214-221-8200 
E-mail: jperlman@thetradition.com 
 

Copy to: 
 
Neale Potts    
118 S. East Street    
Belton, Texas 76513    
Attention:    
Telephone: 254-939-1818   
E-mail: neale@mpmlaw.net  
  

Copy to: 
 
Frost Brown Todd LLC 
2101 Cedar Springs Road, Suite 700 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
Telephone:  214-580-8622 
Attention:  Clay Pulliam 
E-mail: cpulliam@fbtlaw.com 
 

  
ARTICLE 2 
PROPERTY 

Section 2.1 Property.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Seller agrees to sell, 
convey and assign to Purchaser, and Purchaser agrees to purchase and accept from Seller, the following property 
(collectively, the "Property"):  (A) the land consisting of an approximately 16.4 acre tract and approximately 2.833 
acre tract, in the City of Belton, Bell County, Texas, described in Exhibit A hereto (the "Land"), together with (1) all 
improvements located thereon ("Improvements"), if any, (2) all and singular the rights, interests, benefits, privileges, 
easements, tenements, hereditaments, and appurtenances thereon or in any way appertaining thereto, and (3) without 
warranty, all right, title, and interest of Seller, if any, in and to all strips and gores and any land lying in the bed of any 
street, right-of-way, road or alley, open or proposed, adjoining such Land (collectively, the "Real Property"), (B) all 
governmental permits, approvals, grading or mitigation plans, licenses, or similar documents relating to the Property, 
if any (the "Permits"), and (C) all of Seller's right, title and interest in and to the Property Information (as defined in 
Section 4.1). 

ARTICLE 3 
EARNEST MONEY 

Section 3.1 Deposit and Investment of Earnest Money.  Within five (5) Business Days after the 
Execution Date, Purchaser shall deposit the Earnest Money with Escrow Agent.  Escrow Agent shall invest the Earnest 
Money in government insured, interest-bearing accounts satisfactory to Purchaser (provided, however, the Earnest 
Money may not be invested in a money market account), shall not commingle the Earnest Money with any funds of 
Escrow Agent or others, and shall promptly provide Purchaser and Seller with confirmation of the investments made.  
Such account shall have no penalty for early withdrawal.  The term "Earnest Money" as used herein shall include the 
initial deposit of Earnest Money and, if applicable, the Inspection Period Extension Fee(s).   

Section 3.2 Independent Consideration.  Promptly following the delivery of the Earnest Money to 
the Title Company by Purchaser, the Title Company shall disburse to Seller $100.00 from the Earnest Money as 
independent consideration for Seller's performance under this Agreement ("Independent Consideration"), which 
shall be retained by Seller in all instances, and, if Closing occurs, shall be applied against the Purchase Price. 

Section 3.3 Form; Failure to Deposit.  The Earnest Money shall be in the form of a certified or 
cashier's check or the wire transfer to Escrow Agent of immediately available U.S. federal funds.  If Purchaser fails 
to timely deposit any portion of the Earnest Money within the time periods required, Seller may terminate this 
Agreement by written notice to Purchaser at any time prior to the date on which Purchaser deposits such portion of 
the Earnest Money, in which event the parties hereto shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder, except for 
rights and obligations which, by their terms, survive the termination hereof. 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 4 

Section 3.4 Disposition of Earnest Money.  The Earnest Money shall be applied as a credit to the 
Purchase Price at Closing.  However, if Purchaser elects to terminate (or is deemed to have terminated) this Agreement 
as permitted under this Agreement, Escrow Agent shall pay the entire Earnest Money to Purchaser one Business Day 
following the termination (or deemed termination) of this Agreement, and no notice to or approval from Seller shall 
be required for such payment of the Earnest Money to Purchaser; provided, however, if Purchaser terminates this 
Agreement pursuant to Section 4.5, then any Inspection Period Extension Fees that are a part of the Earnest Money 
will be paid to Seller.  In the event of a termination of this Agreement by Seller, Escrow Agent is authorized to deliver 
the Earnest Money to the party hereto entitled to same pursuant to the terms hereof on or before the fifth (5th) Business 
Day following receipt by Escrow Agent and Purchaser of written notice of such termination from the terminating 
party, unless the Purchaser notifies Escrow Agent that it disputes the right of Seller to receive the Earnest Money.  In 
the event of such a dispute, Escrow Agent may interplead the Earnest Money into a court of competent jurisdiction in 
the county in which the Earnest Money has been deposited.  All attorneys' fees and costs and Escrow Agent's costs 
and expenses incurred in connection with such interpleader shall be assessed against the party that is not awarded the 
Earnest Money, or if the Earnest Money is distributed in part to both parties, then in the inverse proportion of such 
distribution.  

ARTICLE 4 
DUE DILIGENCE 

Section 4.1 Due Diligence Materials To Be Delivered.  Seller shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, 
to Purchaser the following documents and information (collectively, the "Property Information"), to the extent such 
Property Information exists and is in Seller's possession, on or before the Information Delivery Date: 

(a) Title and Survey.  Copy of Seller's most current title insurance information and survey 
(including any topographical information) of the Property, including all agreements, easements, permits, licenses, 
contracts or ground leases. 

(b) Tax Statements.  Copies of ad valorem tax statements for the current tax period and the 
immediately preceding tax period. 

(c) Permits and Incentives.  Copies of all Permits, if any. 

(d) Other Information.  All other documents in Seller's possession pertaining to the 
development or ownership of the Property, including, but not limited to, (i) topographical surveys, geological surveys 
and tree surveys, (ii) environmental reports, (iii) property condition reports, (iv) all engineering reports, (v) prior 
developed site plans and other development plans, (vi) utility and drainage improvement information, (vii) property 
taxes, (viii) property financials, (ix) rent rolls, (x) any agreements affecting the property such as leasing agreements, 
and maintenance agreements, and (xi) construction cost estimates. 

(e) Additional Information.  Any other information related to the Property (and the 
development thereof) reasonably requested by Purchaser. 

Section 4.2 Property Information Disclaimer.  Purchaser further acknowledges that some if not all 
of the Property Information was prepared by third parties other than Seller.  Seller expressly disclaims any and all 
liability for representations or warranties, express or implied, statements of fact and other matters contained in such 
information, or for omissions from the Property Information, or in any other written or oral communications 
transmitted or made available to Purchaser.  Except for Seller's representations and warranties expressly set forth in 
this Agreement, Purchaser shall rely solely upon its own investigation with respect to the Property, including, without 
limitation, the Property's physical, environmental or economic condition, compliance or lack of compliance with any 
ordinance, order, permit or regulation or any other attribute or matter relating thereto.   

Section 4.3 Physical Due Diligence.  Commencing on the Effective Date and continuing until the 
Closing, Purchaser and its agents and representatives shall have reasonable access to the Property at all reasonable 
times during normal business hours, for the purpose of conducting inspections and tests, including surveys and 
architectural, engineering, geotechnical and environmental inspections and tests; provided, however, that Purchaser 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 5 

shall not be permitted to conduct physical or invasive testing (including, without limitation, any environmental testing 
other than a Phase I study) without Seller's prior written consent.  Seller's prior written consent for physical or invasive 
inspections or testing may not be unreasonably withheld and may be conditioned upon receipt of a detailed description 
of the proposed physical or invasive inspection or testing, a list of contractors who will be performing the physical or 
invasive inspection or testing, evidence of insurance reasonably satisfactory to Seller, and such other information as 
Seller reasonably requires in connection with such proposed inspection or testing.  Seller and its agents and 
representatives shall cooperate with Purchaser and its agents and representatives in supplying such historical and 
operational information as may be reasonably requested by such persons, including notices, permits, or other written 
communications pertaining to the environmental or physical condition of the Property.  Seller hereby authorizes 
Purchaser and its agents and representatives to enter upon the Property for the purpose of conducting the above 
inspections and tests and agrees that such parties may take such samples as may be necessary to conduct such 
inspections and tests.  

Section 4.4 Extension of the Inspection Period.  Purchaser shall have the right to extend the 
Inspection Period for two additional periods of thirty (30) days each by (i) delivering written notice of such extension 
to Seller and (ii) depositing an additional $25,000 with the Escrow Agent (each an "Inspection Period Extension 
Fee") prior to the then-current expiration date of the Inspection Period.  Such Inspection Period Extension Fees shall 
be applicable to the Purchase Price and shall be nonrefundable to Purchaser unless Purchaser terminates this 
Agreement pursuant to Section 5.3, Section 5.4, Section 5.5, Section 6.2, Section 7.2 or Section 10.2.  

Section 4.5 Due Diligence/Termination Right.  Purchaser shall have through the last day of the 
Inspection Period in which to examine, inspect, and investigate the Property Information and the Property and, in 
Purchaser's sole and absolute judgment and discretion, determine whether the Property is acceptable to Purchaser.  In 
the event that Purchaser, in its sole and absolute discretion and for any reason or no reason, determines that the Project 
Property is not suitable for Purchaser's needs, then Purchaser may terminate this Agreement by either (a) sending 
written notice thereof (the "Due Diligence Termination Notice") to Seller on or before the last day of the Inspection 
Period, or (b) failing to give the Acceptance Notice (as defined below) to Seller prior to the expiration of the Inspection 
Period.  Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Purchaser shall conclusively be deemed to 
have terminated this Agreement pursuant to this Section 4.5 unless, on or prior to the expiration of the Inspection 
Period, Purchaser delivers to Seller written notice that Purchaser has elected to waive its right to terminate this 
Agreement under this Section 4.5 (the "Acceptance Notice").  If Purchaser delivers a Due Diligence Termination 
Notice to Seller before the end of the Inspection Period, or fails to timely deliver an Acceptance Notice, this Agreement 
shall terminate and be of no further force and effect subject to and except for those obligations of the parties that by 
their terms survive the termination of this Agreement, and, upon such termination, (i) the initial Earnest Money (i.e., 
excluding any Inspection Period Extension Fees) shall be delivered to Purchaser and (ii) any Inspection Period 
Extension Fees will be paid to Seller.  If Purchaser delivers the Acceptance Notice to Seller prior to the expiration of 
the Inspection Period as provided above, then Purchaser shall be deemed to have waived its right to terminate this 
Agreement under this Section 4.5.   

Section 4.6 Purchaser's Responsibilities.  In conducting any inspections, investigations or tests of the 
Property and/or Property Information, Purchaser and its agents and representatives shall:  (a) not unreasonably 
interfere with the operation and maintenance of the Property; (b) not damage any part of the Property; (c) not injure 
or otherwise cause bodily harm to Seller or its agents, guests, invitees, contractors and employees; (d) comply with 
all applicable laws; (e) maintain comprehensive general liability insurance in terms and amounts reasonably 
acceptable to Seller; (f) not permit any liens to attach to the Real Property by reason of the exercise of its rights 
hereunder; and (g) repair any damage to the Real Property resulting directly from any such inspection or tests. 

Section 4.7 Insurance; Purchaser's Agreement to Indemnify.  Purchaser shall procure and continue 
in force from and after the date Purchaser first enters the Property, and continuing throughout the term of this 
Agreement, comprehensive general liability insurance with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence, or commercial general liability insurance, with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and 
$2,000,000 per event.  Purchaser indemnifies and holds Seller harmless from and against any and all liens, claims, 
causes of action, damages, liabilities and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) arising out of Purchaser's 
inspections or tests permitted under this Agreement or any violation of the provisions of Section 4.3 and Section 4.6; 
provided, however, the indemnity shall not extend to (a) protect Seller from any pre-existing liabilities for matters 
merely discovered by Purchaser (i.e., latent environmental contamination), or (b) any liens, claims, causes of action, 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 6 

damages, liabilities or expenses that are attributable to the action or inaction of Seller or its agent or employees.  
Purchaser's obligations under this Section 4.7 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and shall survive the 
Closing. 

ARTICLE 5 
TITLE AND SURVEY 

Section 5.1 Title Commitment.  On or before the Title Commitment Delivery Date, Purchaser  shall 
cause to be prepared and delivered to Purchaser:  (a) a current commitment for title insurance or preliminary title 
report (the "Title Commitment") issued by the Title Company, in the amount of the Purchase Price and on the current 
TLTA form commitment, with Purchaser as the proposed insured, and (b) true, complete and legible copies of all 
documents of record referred to in the Title Commitment as exceptions to title to the Property. 

Section 5.2 Survey.  Purchaser, at Purchaser's sole cost, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
obtain a new survey (the "Survey") of the Property within sixty (60) days following the Effective Date; provided, 
however, Purchaser must deliver any objections to the Survey to Seller prior to the expiration of the Title and Survey 
Review Period.  The Survey must: (1) be prepared by a Registered Professional Land Surveyor using the most current 
ALTA/NSPS minimum standards of detail; (2) be in a form reasonably acceptable to Purchaser, Seller and the Title 
Company; (3) set forth a legal description of the Property by metes and bounds or by reference to a platted lot or lots; 
(4) show that the Survey was made on the ground with comers marked with monuments either found or placed; (5) 
contain the surveyor's certificate that the Survey is true and correct; (6) be certified to Purchaser, Seller and the Title 
Company; (7) show the gross land area of the Land and the Net Land Area; (8) show all improvements and paving 
within adjacent road rights of way; and (9) any other items requested by Purchaser or the Title Company.  Upon the 
approval of Seller, Purchaser and the Title Company, the Lot and Block description in the plat will be used as the legal 
description for the Property in the Deed (as hereinafter defined). 

Section 5.3 Title Review.  At any time during the Title and Survey Review Period, Purchaser may 
object in writing to any liens, encumbrances, and other matters reflected by the Title Commitment or Survey.  All 
such matters to which Purchaser so objects shall be "Non-Permitted Exceptions"; if no such objection notice is given 
during the Title and Survey Review Period, except as otherwise provided below, all matters reflected by the Survey 
and Title Commitment shall be "Permitted Exceptions".  If, between the end of the Title and Survey Review Period 
and Closing, Purchaser receives notice of additional liens, encumbrances or other matters not reflected in the initial 
Title Commitment or Survey or otherwise becomes aware of such matters, Purchaser may submit a revised list adding 
additional Non-Permitted Exceptions.  Seller may, but shall not be obligated to, at its sole cost and expense, cure, 
remove or insure around all Non-Permitted Exceptions and give Purchaser written notice thereof within ten (10) days 
after the Title and Survey Review Period expires or, if applicable, after delivery of any revised list; provided, however, 
Seller, at its sole cost and expense, shall be obligated to cure, remove or insure around by Closing, to the satisfaction 
of the Title Company, all mortgages, deeds of trust, judgment liens, mechanic's and materialmen's liens, and other 
liens and encumbrances against the Property (other than liens for taxes and assessments which are not delinquent) 
which either secure indebtedness or can be removed by payment of a liquidated sum of money, whether or not 
Purchaser objects thereto during the Inspection Period, and all such matters shall be deemed Non-Permitted 
Exceptions.  If Seller does not timely cause all of the Non-Permitted Exceptions to be removed, cured or otherwise 
omitted from Purchaser's Title Commitment and timely deliver written notice thereof to Purchaser, Purchaser may, at 
any time and at its election, (a) terminate this Agreement and recover the Earnest Money (including any Inspection 
Period Extension Fees) by providing written notice of termination to Seller, and neither Purchaser nor Seller shall 
have any obligations under this Agreement except those that expressly survive the termination of this Agreement, (b) 
extend the Closing Date one or more times until three (3) Business Days after Seller has caused all of the Non-
Permitted Exceptions to be removed, cured or otherwise omitted from Purchaser's Title Commitment, or (c) purchase 
the Property subject to the Non-Permitted Exceptions (other than liens that Seller is obligated to cure, remove or insure 
around), in which event the Non-Permitted Exceptions (other than liens that Seller is obligated to cure, remove or 
insure around) subject to which Purchaser elects to purchase the Property shall thereafter be Permitted Exceptions. 

Section 5.4 Delivery of Title Policy at Closing.  In the event that the Title Company does not issue at 
Closing, or unconditionally commit at Closing to issue, to Purchaser, an extended coverage owner's title policy in 
accordance with the Title Commitment, insuring Purchaser's title to the Property in the amount of the Purchase Price, 
subject only to the Permitted Exceptions, in the form promulgated by the Texas Department of Insurance, without 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 7 

modification or deletion thereto (the "Title Policy"), Purchaser shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, in 
which case the Earnest Money (including any Inspection Period Extension Fees) shall be immediately returned to 
Purchaser and the parties hereto shall have no further rights or obligations, other than those that by their terms survive 
the termination of this Agreement.  

Section 5.5 Zoning; Building Permit; Platting .  Upon receipt and approval by Purchaser of the 
Survey, Purchaser, at Purchaser's expense, shall apply for and pursue approval of (i) final, unappealable zoning from 
the applicable Governmental Authorities authorizing the development of the Property for the Intended Use (the "Re-
Zoning"), (ii) a non-appealable site development permit from the applicable Governmental Authorities for the 
development of the Property for the Intended Use (the "Building Permit") and (iii) a final replat of the Property into 
one or more legal lots, including, at Purchaser's sole cost and expense, access drives between the 16.4 acre parcel and 
the 2.833 acre parcel, as shown on Exhibit A-1 (the "Re-Platting").  Seller shall cooperate with Purchaser to obtain 
from the applicable Governmental Authorities Re-Zoning, a Building Permit, and Re-Platting for the Intended Use. 
If, at any time prior to the Closing Date, the applicable Governmental Authorities reject Purchaser's application for 
the Re-Zoning, the Building Permit or the Re-Platting, Purchaser may (i) elect to waive the requirement of the Re-
Zoning, the Building Permit or the Re-Platting as a condition to Purchaser's obligations to close, as set forth in Section 
7.2, or (ii) terminate this Agreement, in which event the Title Company will return the Earnest Money (including any 
Inspection Period Extension Fees) to Purchaser, and the parties hereto will have no further obligations one to the other 
except for those that expressly survive termination. The term "Governmental Authority(ies) " includes the United 
States of America, the State of Texas, Bell County, the City of Belton, and any political subdivision in which the 
Property is located or which exercises jurisdiction or extra-territorial jurisdiction, over the Property, and any agency, 
department, commission, board, bureau, courts, utility district, flood control district, improvement district or similar 
district, or other instrumentality of any of them which exercises jurisdiction or extra-territorial jurisdiction over the 
Property or construction thereon.   

ARTICLE 6 
OPERATIONS AND RISK OF LOSS 

Section 6.1 Ongoing Operations.   

(a) Contracts.  From the Effective Date through Closing (or earlier termination of this 
Agreement pursuant to the terms hereof), Seller will not enter into any contract that could be an obligation affecting 
the Property subsequent to the Closing, unless (1) Seller obtains Purchaser's prior written approval, which approval 
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed and (2) such contract is of the type that is entered into in 
the ordinary course of business and is terminable without cause and without the payment of any termination penalty 
on not more than thirty (30) days' prior notice. 

(b) Leasing.  From the Effective Date through Closing (or earlier termination of this 
Agreement pursuant to the terms hereof), Seller will not enter into any leases, subleases, franchises, licenses, 
occupancy agreements or other agreements demising space in, providing for the use or occupancy of, or otherwise 
similarly affecting or relating to, the Real Property without Purchaser's prior written approval, which approval shall 
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 

(c) Zoning/Development Approvals.  Seller agrees to cooperate reasonably with Purchaser, 
without material expense to Seller, in Purchaser's effort to obtain, modify or assign (to the extent held by Seller) any 
such building permits or other zoning, platting and site plan approvals (including the Re-Zoning, Building Permit and 
the Re-Platting) from applicable Governmental Authorities as may reasonably be necessary for Purchaser's proposed 
development of the Property (collectively, the "Development Approvals").  Seller agrees to execute all documents 
reasonably required for the Development Approvals, including applications for the Development Approvals; provided, 
however, that such documents are acceptable to Seller in its reasonable discretion.  Purchaser shall notify Seller in 
advance of any public hearings, scheduled meetings with city staff or other scheduled meetings related to the 
Development Approvals and Seller shall have the right to be present at any such meetings.  From the Effective Date 
through Closing (or earlier termination of this Agreement pursuant to the terms hereof), Seller shall not apply for or 
consent to any change or modification with respect to the zoning, development or use of any portion of the Property 
without Purchaser's prior written consent, which consent may be withheld in Purchaser's sole and absolute discretion. 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 8 

Section 6.2 Condemnation.  If proceedings in eminent domain are instituted with respect to the 
Property, or any portion thereof, Seller shall immediately give Purchaser written notice thereof (including a reasonably 
detailed description of the portion of the Property affected thereby), and Purchaser may, at its option, by written notice 
to Seller given within thirty (30) days after Seller notifies Purchaser of such proceedings (and if necessary the Closing 
Date shall be automatically extended to give Purchaser the full 30-day period to make such election), either:  
(a) terminate this Agreement, in which case the Earnest Money (including any Inspection Period Extension Fees) shall 
be immediately returned to Purchaser and the parties hereto shall have no further rights or obligations, other than those 
that by their terms survive the termination of this Agreement, or (b) proceed under this Agreement, in which event 
Seller shall, at the Closing, assign to Purchaser its entire right, title and interest in and to any condemnation award, 
and Purchaser shall have the sole right after the Closing to negotiate and otherwise deal with the condemning authority 
in respect of such matter.  If Purchaser does not give Seller written notice of its election within the time required 
above, then Purchaser shall be deemed to have elected option (b) above. 

ARTICLE 7 
CLOSING 

Section 7.1 Closing.  The consummation of the transaction contemplated herein ("Closing") shall 
occur on the Closing Date at the offices of Escrow Agent (or such other location as may be mutually agreed upon by 
Seller and Purchaser).  Funds shall be deposited into and held by Escrow Agent in a closing escrow account.  Upon 
satisfaction or completion of all closing conditions and deliveries, the parties shall direct Escrow Agent to immediately 
record and deliver the closing documents to the appropriate parties and make disbursements according to the closing 
statements executed by Seller and Purchaser.   

Section 7.2 Conditions to Purchaser's Obligation to Close.  In addition to all other conditions set 
forth herein, the obligation of Purchaser to consummate the transactions contemplated hereunder is conditioned upon 
the following: 

(a) Representations and Warranties.  Seller's representations and warranties contained 
herein shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Effective Date and the Closing Date. 

(b) Actions, Suits, etc.  As of the Closing Date, there shall exist no pending or threatened 
actions, suits, arbitrations, claims, attachments, or proceedings affecting the Property, or assignments for the benefit 
of creditors, insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other proceedings that could adversely affect the operation or 
value of the Property or Seller's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

(c) Obligations Performed.  As of the Closing Date, Seller shall have performed all of its 
material obligations under this Agreement. 

(d) No Moratorium or Restrictions.  As of the Closing Date, there shall be no moratorium 
or restrictions materially affecting Purchaser's Intended Use and the development of the Property.   

(e) Re-Zoning.  As of the Closing Date, Purchaser has obtained the Re-Zoning. 

(f) Re-Platting.  As of the Closing Date, the Re-Platting of the Property shall have been 
completed.   

(g) Title Policy.  The Title Company shall be bound to issue the Title Policy, subject only to 
the Permitted Exceptions. 

(h) No Adverse Material Change. The condition of the Property shall not have materially 
and adversely changed from the condition of the Property at the expiration of the Inspection Period. 

(i) Offsite Easements.  All offsite easements, along with cross-access and signage easements, 
required for the development of the Property for the Intended Use shall have been acquired or will be acquired and 
recorded at the County.   



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 9 

If any condition listed in this Section 7.2 is not satisfied on or before the applicable time period stated in this 
Section 7.2, then Purchaser may, at its election, (1) waive the applicable condition, (2) extend the Closing Date until 
three (3) Business Days after such condition is satisfied, (3) pursue its remedies as set forth in Section 10.2 of this 
Agreement to the extent the failure of a condition listed in this Section 7.2 is not satisfied as a result of a default by 
the Seller or (4) terminate this Agreement, in which case the Earnest Money (including any Inspection Period 
Extension Fees) shall be immediately returned to Purchaser and the parties hereto shall have no further rights or 
obligations, other than those that by their terms survive the termination of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Closing Date will not be extended beyond the Outside Closing Date unless Purchaser and Seller 
otherwise agree to such extension in writing. 

Section 7.3 Seller's Deliveries in Escrow.  No later than one (1) Business Day prior to the Closing 
Date, Seller, at its sole cost and expense, shall deliver in escrow to Escrow Agent the following: 

(a) Deed.  A special warranty deed in the form of Exhibit B hereto (the "Deed") acceptable 
for recordation under the law of the state where the Property is located, including a list of Permitted Exceptions to 
which the conveyance shall be subject, executed and acknowledged by Seller, conveying to Purchaser Seller's interest 
in the Real Property. 

(b) Title Affidavit.  A title affidavit in form and substance required for the Title Company to 
issue the Title Policy as requested by Purchaser. 

(c) Conveyancing or Transfer Tax Forms or Returns.  Such conveyancing or transfer tax 
forms or returns, if any, as are required to be delivered or signed by Seller by applicable state and local law in 
connection with the conveyance of the Real Property. 

(d) FIRPTA.  A Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act affidavit in the form of 
Exhibit C hereto and executed by Seller. 

(e) Authority.  Evidence of the existence, organization and authority of Seller and of the 
authority of the persons executing documents on behalf of Seller reasonably satisfactory to the Title Company and the 
underwriter for the Title Policy. 

(f) Additional Documents.  Any additional documents that Escrow Agent or the Title 
Company may reasonably require for the proper consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement 
(provided, however, no such additional document shall expand any obligation, covenant, representation or warranty 
of Seller or result in any new or additional obligation, covenant, representation or warranty of Seller under this 
Agreement beyond those expressly set forth in this Agreement). 

If Seller fails to deliver the above items in the time period contemplated by this Section 7.3, Purchaser may, 
at its election (1) extend the Closing Date until one Business Day after Seller delivers the above items, or (2) terminate 
this Agreement and recover the Earnest Money (including any Inspection Period Extension Fees) by delivering written 
notice thereof to Seller, in which case neither Seller nor Purchaser shall have any obligations hereunder except those 
that expressly survive the termination of this Agreement. 

Section 7.4 Purchaser's Deliveries in Escrow.  No later than one (1) Business Day prior to the Closing 
Date, Purchaser shall deliver in escrow to Escrow Agent the following: 

(a) Conveyancing or Transfer Tax Forms or Returns.  Such conveyancing or transfer tax 
forms or returns, if any, as are required to be delivered or signed by Purchaser by applicable state and local law in 
connection with the conveyance of Real Property. 

(b) Assignment.  A duly executed counterpart to the Assignment. 

(c) Additional Documents.  Any additional documents that Seller, Escrow Agent or the Title 
Company may reasonably require for the proper consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 10 

(provided, however, no such additional document shall expand any obligation, covenant, representation or warranty 
of Purchaser or result in any new or additional obligation, covenant, representation or warranty of Purchaser under 
this Agreement beyond those expressly set forth in this Agreement). 

Section 7.5 Closing Statements.  On or prior to the Closing Date, Seller and Purchaser shall deposit 
with Escrow Agent executed closing statements consistent with this Agreement in the form required by Escrow Agent. 

Section 7.6 Purchase Price.  On or prior to the Closing Date, Purchaser shall deliver to Escrow Agent 
the Purchase Price, less the Earnest Money that is applied to the Purchase Price, plus or minus applicable prorations, 
in immediate, same-day U.S. federal funds wired for credit into Escrow Agent's escrow account, which funds must be 
delivered in a manner to permit Escrow Agent to deliver good funds to Seller or its designee on the Closing Date (and, 
if requested by Seller, by wire transfer).   

Section 7.7 Possession.  Seller shall deliver possession of the Property to Purchaser at the Closing 
subject only to the Permitted Exceptions and with all parts of the Property in the same condition as on the date hereof, 
excepting only normal wear and tear and any applicable changes allowed by Article 6 hereof. 

ARTICLE 8 
PRORATIONS, DEPOSITS, COMMISSIONS 

Section 8.1 Prorations.  At Closing, the following items shall be prorated (based upon the actual 
number of days in the month of Closing) as of the date of Closing with all items of income and expense for the Property 
being borne by Purchaser from and after (but including) the date of Closing:  any income and rents; fees and 
assessments; prepaid expenses and obligations; real ad valorem taxes ("Taxes"); and any assessments by private 
covenant for the then-current calendar year of Closing.  Specifically, the following shall apply to such prorations: 

(a) Taxes.   

(1) Ad Valorem Taxes.  If Taxes for the year of Closing are not known or cannot be 
reasonably estimated, Taxes shall be prorated based on Taxes for the year prior to Closing, and when actual 
figures are available, an adjustment will be made after Closing pursuant to Section 8.3.  

(2) Roll-Back Taxes.  If Seller has claimed the benefit of laws permitting a special 
use valuation for the purpose of ad valorem taxes on the Property and if, after the Closing, Purchaser changes 
the use of the Property from its present use and such change results in the assessment of additional taxes 
("Roll Back Taxes"), then those Roll Back Taxes will be Seller's obligation, notwithstanding that some or 
all of those additional taxes may relate back to the period prior to Closing.  An estimate of Roll Back Taxes 
will be made at Closing and paid by Seller on the Closing Statement.  When actual figures are available, an 
adjustment will be made pursuant to Section 8.3. The provisions of this Section 8.1(a)(2) shall survive the 
Closing without limitation. 

(b) Utilities.  Purchaser shall take all steps necessary to effectuate the transfer of all utilities 
(if any) to its name as of the Closing Date.  Seller shall ensure that all utility meters are read as of the Closing Date. 

Section 8.2 Closing Costs.  Closing costs shall be allocated between Seller and Purchaser in 
accordance with Section 1.2. 

Section 8.3 Adjustment After Closing.  If final bills are not available or cannot be issued prior to 
Closing for any item being prorated under Section 8.1, then Purchaser and Seller agree to allocate such items on a fair 
and equitable basis as soon as such bills are available, and an adjustment shall be made as soon as reasonably possible 
after the Closing.  Payments in connection with any adjustment shall be due within thirty (30) days of written notice.  
All such rights and obligations shall survive the Closing. 

Section 8.4 Commissions.  Purchaser and Seller represent and warrant to the other that other than KBC 
Advisors, representing Seller (the "Broker"), no real estate broker or agents have been used or consulted in connection 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 11 

with the negotiation or execution of this Agreement and the sale of the Property. In the event, but only in the event, 
the transaction covered by this Agreement is closed, Seller agrees to pay the Broker's fee amounts which shall be 
calculated and paid pursuant to separate agreements between Seller and Broker.  In the event either party has engaged 
any other real estate broker (other than the Broker), each party shall hold the other harmless from its actions.  Seller 
and Purchaser each represent and warrant to the other that no real estate brokerage commission or other fee is payable 
to any other person or other entity (other than the Broker) in connection with the transaction contemplated hereby, 
and each agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the other harmless against the payment of any other commission and/or 
fee to any other person or other entity claiming by, through or under the indemnifying party.  This indemnification 
shall extend to any and all claims, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and litigation 
costs) arising as a result of such claims and shall survive the Closing. 

ARTICLE 9 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 9.1 Seller's Representations and Warranties.  Seller represents and warrants to Purchaser 
that: 

(a) Organization and Authority.  Seller has the full right, power and authority and has 
obtained any and all consents required to enter into this Agreement and to consummate or cause to be consummated 
the transactions contemplated hereby.  This Agreement has been, and all of the documents to be delivered by Seller at 
the Closing (collectively, the "Closing Documents") will be, authorized and duly executed and delivered by Seller 
and constitute, or will constitute, as appropriate, the legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller, enforceable in 
accordance with their terms.  The Seller's ownership of the Property does not include any tenants-in-common 
ownership, undivided interests ownership nor fractional ownership interests.   

(b) Conflicts and Pending Actions.  There is no agreement to which Seller is a party or that 
is binding on Seller which is in conflict with this Agreement.  There is no action or proceeding pending or, to Seller's 
Knowledge, threatened against Seller or relating to the Property, which challenges or impairs Seller's ability to execute 
or perform its obligations under this Agreement or against or with respect to the Property.  Seller has not committed 
or obligated itself in any manner whatsoever to sell, lease or encumber the Property or any interest therein to any other 
party.  No rights of first offer or rights of first refusal regarding the Property exist under the organizational documents 
of Seller or under any agreement by which Seller or the Property is or may be bound or affected. 

(c) Leases/Parties in Possession.  There are no leases, subleases, franchises, licenses, 
occupancy agreements or other agreements demising space in, providing for the use or occupancy of, or otherwise 
similarly affecting or relating to, the Property.  There are no parties in possession of (or with a right to occupy) any 
portion of the Property.   

(d) Service Contracts.  Except as disclosed to Purchaser in the Due Diligence Materials, there 
are no contract rights related to the construction, operation, ownership, maintenance, use, leasing, service, or 
management of the Property. 

(e) Notices.  Seller has not received any written notices from any governmental agencies or 
authorities or from any other parties (1) with respect to any violation of any applicable zoning, building, health, 
environmental, traffic, flood control, fire safety, handicap or other law, code, ordinance, rule or regulation 
(collectively, the "Legal Requirements"), (2) to Seller's Knowledge, any pending or threatened condemnation 
proceeding with respect to the Property, or (3) of any proceedings which could cause the change, redefinition or other 
modification of the zoning classification of the Property or access thereto from any public right-of-way.   

(f) No Foreign Person.  Seller is neither a "foreign person" nor a "foreign corporation" as 
those terms are defined in Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

(g) Litigation.  There is no pending or, to Seller's Knowledge, threatened, judicial, municipal 
or administrative proceedings with respect to, or in any manner affecting the Property or in which Seller is or will be 
a party, including proceedings for or involving condemnations, eminent domain, alleged code, zoning or 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 12 

environmental violations, or personal injuries or property damage alleged to have occurred on the Property or by 
reason of the use and operation of the Property or any present plan or study by any Governmental Authority, agency 
or employee thereof which in any way challenges, affects or would challenge or affect the continued authorization of 
the ownership, construction, use, leasing, management, maintenance, and operation of the Property. 

(h) Environmental.  Seller has received no written notice of any condition at the Property that 
might constitute a violation of applicable environmental laws that has not otherwise been cured. 

(i) Land Use Agreements; Assessments.  To Seller's knowledge and except as may be 
disclosed by the Title Commitment (i) Seller is not in possession of any land use agreements affecting the Property, 
(ii) the Property is not subject to any land use agreements and (iii) the Property is not subject to assessments for off-
site improvements. 

(j) Utilities.  To Seller's knowledge, all utilities necessary for the development of the Property 
for the Intended Use are available for extension, including, without limitation, water, sewage, gas and electric. 

(k) Prohibited Persons and Transactions.  Seller is currently in compliance with, and shall 
at all times during the term of this Agreement (including any extension thereof) remain in compliance with, the 
regulations of the Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") of the Department of the Treasury (including those 
named on OFAC's Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List) and any statute, executive order 
(including the September 24, 2001, Executive Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons 
Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support Terrorism), or other governmental action relating thereto. 

When used herein, the phrase "to Seller's Knowledge" or derivations thereof shall mean the current actual 
knowledge of _______________ ("Seller Representative") without any obligation to make investigation or inquiry 
regarding the Property, and without obligation to make any investigation of the files, documents or studies in the 
possession of other persons, and shall not include any knowledge which may be imputed to Seller or of any other 
person.  Purchaser acknowledges that the individual named above is named solely for the purpose of defining the 
scope of Seller's knowledge and not for the purpose of imposing any liability on or creating any duties running from 
such individual to Purchaser.  Purchaser covenants that it will bring no action of any kind against such individual, 
related to or arising out of these representations and warranties.   

Section 9.2 Purchaser's Representations and Warranties.  Purchaser represents and warrants to 
Seller that: 

(a) Organization and Authority.  Purchaser has been duly organized and is validly existing 
in good standing in the state in which it was formed.  Purchaser has the full right and authority and has obtained any 
and all consents required to enter into this Agreement and to consummate or cause to be consummated the transactions 
contemplated hereby.  This Agreement has been, and all of the documents to be delivered by Purchaser at the Closing 
will be, authorized and properly executed and constitute, or will constitute, as appropriate, the valid and binding 
obligation of Purchaser, enforceable in accordance with their terms. 

(b) Conflicts and Pending Action.  There is no agreement to which Purchaser is a party or to 
Purchaser's knowledge binding on Purchaser which is in conflict with this Agreement.  There is no action or 
proceeding pending or, to Purchaser's knowledge, threatened against Purchaser which challenges or impairs 
Purchaser's ability to execute or perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

(c) Prohibited Persons and Transactions.  Purchaser is currently in compliance with, and 
shall at all times during the term of this Agreement (including any extension thereof) remain in compliance with, the 
regulations of the OFAC of the Department of the Treasury (including those named on OFAC's Specially Designated 
Nationals and Blocked Persons List) and any statute, executive order (including the September 24, 2001, Executive 
Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support 
Terrorism), or other governmental action relating thereto. 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 13 

Section 9.3 Survival of Representations and Warranties.  The representations and warranties set 
forth in this Article 9 (a) are made as of the date of this Agreement, (b) are remade as of the Closing Date, and (c) shall 
not be deemed to be merged into or waived by the instruments of Closing, but shall survive the Closing for a period 
of twelve (12) months (the "Survival Period").  Each party shall have the right to bring an action against the other on 
the breach of a representation or warranty hereunder, but only on the following conditions:  (a) the party bringing the 
action for breach first learns of the breach after Closing and gives written notice of such breach to the other party 
before the end of the Survival Period, and (b) neither party shall have the right to bring a cause of action for a breach 
of a representation or warranty unless the damage to such party on account of such breach (individually or when 
combined with damages from other breaches) equals or exceeds $10,000.00.  Neither party shall have any liability 
after Closing for the breach of a representation or warranty hereunder of which the other party hereto had actual 
knowledge as of Closing.  The provisions of this Section 9.3 shall survive the Closing.  Any breach of a representation 
or warranty that occurs prior to Closing shall be governed by Article 10. 

Section 9.4 Disclaimers By Seller.  Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, it is understood 
and agreed that Seller and Seller's agents or employees have not at any time made and are not now making, and they 
specifically disclaim, any warranties, representations or guaranties of any kind or character, express or implied, with 
respect to the Property, including, but not limited to, warranties, representations or guaranties as to (a) matters of title 
(other than Seller's special warranty of title to be contained in the Deed), (b) environmental matters relating to the 
Property or any portion thereof, including, without limitation, the presence of hazardous materials in, on, under or in 
the vicinity of the Property, (c) geological conditions, including, without limitation, subsidence, subsurface conditions, 
water table, underground water reservoirs, karst formations, limitations regarding the withdrawal of water, and 
geologic faults and the resulting damage of past and/or future faulting, (d) whether, and to the extent to which the 
Property or any portion thereof is affected by any stream (surface or underground), body of water, wetlands, flood 
prone area, flood plain, floodway or special flood hazard, (e) drainage, (f) soil conditions, including the existence of 
instability, past soil repairs, soil additions or conditions of soil fill, or susceptibility to landslides, or the sufficiency of 
any under-shoring, (g)  usages of adjoining property, (h)  the value, compliance with the plans and specifications, size, 
location, age, use, design, quality, description, suitability, structural integrity, operation, title to, or physical or 
financial condition of the Property or any portion thereof, or any income, expenses, charges, liens, encumbrances, 
rights or claims on or affecting or pertaining to the Property or any part thereof, (i) the merchantability of the Property 
or fitness of the Property for any particular purpose, (j) except as expressly provided herein, the truth, accuracy or 
completeness of the Property Information, or (k) tax consequences. 

Section 9.5 Sale "As Is, Where Is"; FEMA Disclaimer.   

(a) Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that upon Closing, Seller shall sell and convey to 
Purchaser and Purchaser shall accept the Property "AS IS, WHERE IS, WITH ALL FAULTS," except to the extent 
expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement and any document executed by Seller and delivered to Purchaser at 
Closing.  Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, Purchaser has not relied and will not rely on, and Seller has 
not made and is not liable for or bound by, any express or implied warranties, guarantees, statements, representations 
or information pertaining to the Property or relating thereto (including specifically, without limitation, Property 
information packages distributed with respect to the Property) made or furnished by Seller, or any property manager, 
real estate broker, agent or third party representing or purporting to represent Seller, to whomever made or given, 
directly or indirectly, orally or in writing.  Purchaser represents that it is a knowledgeable, experienced and 
sophisticated purchaser of real estate and that, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, it is relying solely on 
its own expertise and that of Purchaser's consultants in purchasing the Property and shall make an independent 
verification of the accuracy of any documents and information provided by Seller. 

(b) The Federal Emergency Management Agency ("FEMA") publishes maps and prepares 
other information which contains information concerning floodways and flood plains associated with this Property 
and surrounding properties. Seller makes no representations or warranties to Buyer regarding the accuracy of the data 
and maps prepared and/or published by FEMA or the extent to which the local governing authorities will or will not 
utilize FEMA's information and/or maps (or require more stringent flood plain standards) in their decisions concerning 
the issuance of and/or conditions related to building permit requirements. All information should be independently 
verified by Purchaser (including but not limited to verification of all flood plain related and minimum slab height 
requirements) with governing authorities that oversee and administer building permits and determine flood plain 
elevation criteria. 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 14 

ARTICLE 10 
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 10.1 Seller's Remedies.  If Purchaser fails to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement 
at or prior to Closing for any reason except failure by Seller to perform hereunder or termination of this Agreement as 
provided herein, or if prior to Closing any one or more of Purchaser's representations or warranties are breached or 
untrue in any material respect, of which is not cured within ten (10) days after Purchaser's receipt of written notice 
thereof from Seller (provided that such cure period shall not extend the Closing Date), Seller shall be entitled, as its 
sole and exclusive remedy, to terminate this Agreement by giving Purchaser and the Escrow Agent written notice 
thereof prior to or at Closing and recover the Earnest Money as liquidated damages and not as penalty, in full 
satisfaction of claims against Purchaser hereunder, in which case neither Purchaser nor Seller shall have any further 
rights or obligations hereunder, except those that expressly survive the termination of this Agreement.  Seller and 
Purchaser agree that Seller's damages resulting from Purchaser's default are difficult, if not impossible, to determine 
and the Earnest Money is a fair estimate of those damages which has been agreed to in an effort to cause the amount 
of such damages to be certain. 

Section 10.2 Purchaser's Remedies.   

(a) If Seller fails to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement for any reason except 
failure by Purchaser to perform hereunder or termination of this Agreement as provided herein, or if prior to Closing 
any one or more of Seller's representations or warranties are breached or untrue in any material respect, of which is 
not cured within five (5) days after Seller's receipt of written notice thereof from Purchaser, Purchaser shall elect, as 
its sole remedy, either to:  

(1) terminate this Agreement by giving Seller and the Escrow Agent timely written 
notice of such election prior to or at Closing, in which case (subject to the terms of this Section 10.2) neither 
Purchaser nor Seller shall have any further rights or obligations hereunder except as expressly provided in 
this Section 10.2 and those that expressly survive the termination of this Agreement; 

(2) enforce specific performance under this Agreement; or 

(3) waive said failure or breach and proceed to Closing. 

(b) If Purchaser elects to terminate this Agreement upon a default by Seller, then Purchaser 
shall be entitled to receive the Earnest Money (including any Inspection Period Extension Fees) and to obtain 
reimbursement of Contract Costs.  As used herein the term "Contract Costs") means Purchaser's reasonable and 
necessary out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and Purchaser's inspection of the 
Property, including, but not limited to the cost of negotiating this Agreement, conducting the studies, reviews, legal 
fees, and inspections contemplated in ARTICLE 4, development of plans and marketing costs related to the 
development of the Property for the Intended Use, and such other customary costs incurred by the Purchaser in 
connection with its efforts to acquire the Property. 

ARTICLE 11 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 11.1 Parties Bound; Assignment.  This Agreement, and the terms, covenants, and conditions 
herein contained, shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the heirs, personal representatives, successors, and 
assigns of each of the parties hereto.  This Agreement is for the sole benefit of Seller and Purchaser, and no third party 
is intended to be a beneficiary of this Agreement, whether under a third-party beneficiary theory, laws relating to 
transferee liabilities or otherwise.  Purchaser may not assign this Agreement without Seller's prior written consent, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Purchaser 
may, without Seller's consent, assign its right, title and interest in and to this Agreement to an entity controlling, 
controlled by, or under common control with Purchaser or in which Purchaser is an investor or for which Purchaser is 
acting as an investment manager or advisor.  Upon an assignment of Purchaser's rights under this Agreement and an 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 15 

assumption of Purchaser's obligations hereunder, the Purchaser will be fully released from obligations and liabilities 
pursuant to the Contract.  

Section 11.2 Invalidity and Waiver.  If any portion of this Agreement is held invalid or inoperative, 
then so far as is reasonable and possible the remainder of this Agreement shall be deemed valid and operative, and, to 
the greatest extent legally possible, effect shall be given to the intent manifested by the portion held invalid or 
inoperative.  The failure by either party to enforce against the other any term or provision of this Agreement shall not 
be deemed to be a waiver of such party's right to enforce against the other party the same or any other such term or 
provision in the future. 

Section 11.3 Governing Law; Survival; Time.  This Agreement shall, in all respects, be governed, 
construed, applied, and enforced in accordance with the law of the state in which the Real Property is located without 
giving effect to its choice of law provisions.  The provisions of this Agreement that contemplate performance after the 
Closing and the obligations of the parties not fully performed at the Closing shall survive the Closing and shall not be 
deemed to be merged into or waived by the instruments of Closing.  Time is of the essence in the performance of this 
Agreement. 

Section 11.4 Entirety and Amendments.  This Agreement embodies the entire agreement between the 
parties and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings relating to the Property.  This Agreement may be 
amended or supplemented only by an instrument in writing executed by the party against whom enforcement is sought.  
All exhibits and schedules attached hereto are incorporated herein by this reference for all purposes.  The article, 
section, subsection, paragraph and/or other headings of this Agreement are for convenience only and in no way limit 
or enlarge the scope or meaning of the language hereof. 

Section 11.5 Force Majeure  Whenever a period of time is herein prescribed for action to be taken by 
either party hereto, such party shall not be liable or responsible for, and there shall be excluded from the computation 
of any such period of time, any delays due to terrorism, strikes, riots, acts of God, shortages of labor or materials, war, 
laws, regulations or restrictions or any other causes of any kind whatsoever that are beyond the control of such party. 

Section 11.6 Limitation of Liability.  Any and all liabilities and obligations of Seller under this 
Agreement shall be satisfied solely out of the properties and assets of Seller, as they may exist from time to time, and 
in no event shall the properties or assets of the direct or indirect partners of Seller, or of the affiliate partnerships or 
corporations or successors or assigns of any such direct or indirect partners or affiliates, or the directors, officers or 
shareholders of any of the foregoing, be subject to satisfaction of any liabilities or obligations of Seller under this 
Agreement. It is expressly agreed and understood that the individual executing this document on behalf of the Seller 
is acting in his representative capacity only and solely as a representative of the Seller and any liability resulting 
hereunder based upon the actions of such individual, including but not limited to, the breach of any warranty, 
representation and/or provision contained herein, if any, shall be that of the Seller and not that of such individual. 

Section 11.7 Notices.  All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be served 
on the parties at the addresses set forth in Section 1.3.  Any such notices shall, unless otherwise provided herein, be 
given or served (a) by depositing the same in the United States mail, postage paid, certified and addressed to the party 
to be notified, with return receipt requested, (b) by overnight delivery using a nationally recognized overnight courier, 
(c) by personal delivery, or (d) by electronic mail addressed to the electronic mail address set forth in Section 1.3 for 
the party to be notified with a confirmation copy delivered by another method permitted under this Section 11.6 (a), 
(b) or (c).  Notice given in accordance herewith for all permitted forms of notice other than by electronic mail, shall 
be effective upon the earlier to occur of actual delivery to the address of the addressee or refusal of receipt by the 
addressee (even if such addressee refuses delivery thereof).  Notice given by electronic mail in accordance herewith 
shall be effective upon the entrance of such electronic mail into the information processing system designated by the 
recipient's electronic mail address.  Except for electronic mail notices as described above, no notice hereunder shall 
be effective if sent or delivered by electronic means.  In no event shall this Agreement be entered into, executed, 
terminated, altered, amended or modified by electronic mail or electronic record.  A party's address may be changed 
by written notice to the other party; provided, however, that no notice of a change of address shall be effective until 
actual receipt of such notice.  Copies of notices are for informational purposes only, and a failure to give or receive 
copies of any notice shall not be deemed a failure to give notice.  Notices given by counsel to the Purchaser shall be 
deemed given by Purchaser and notices given by counsel to the Seller shall be deemed given by Seller. 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 16 

Section 11.8 Construction; Waiver.  The parties acknowledge that the parties and their counsel have 
reviewed and revised this Agreement and agree that the normal rule of construction - to the effect that any ambiguities 
are to be resolved against the drafting party - shall not be employed in the interpretation of this Agreement or any 
exhibits or amendments hereto.  The word "including" and any derivation thereof shall mean "including, without 
limitation."  No provision of this Agreement shall be deemed to be waived by either party unless the waiver is in 
writing and signed by that party.  Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, no consent or approval by either party 
shall be deemed to be given unless the consent or approval is in writing and signed by that party.  No custom or 
practice that may evolve between Purchaser and Seller during the term of this Agreement shall be deemed or construed 
to waive or lessen the right of either of the parties hereto to insist upon strict compliance with the terms of this 
Agreement. 

Section 11.9 Calculation of Time Periods.  Unless otherwise specified, in computing any period of 
time described herein, the day of the act or event after which the designated period of time begins to run is not to be 
included and the last day of the period so computed is to be included, unless such last day is not a Business Day, in 
which event the period shall run until the end of the next day which is a Business Day.  The last day of any period of 
time described herein shall be deemed to end at 5:00 p.m. local time in the state in which the Property is located.  As 
used herein, the term "Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday for national banks 
in the city in which the Property is located. 

Section 11.10 Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of such counterparts shall constitute one 
Agreement.  To facilitate execution of this Agreement, the parties may execute and exchange by email counterparts 
of this Agreement.   

Section 11.11 Further Assurances.  In addition to the acts and deeds recited herein and contemplated to 
be performed, executed and/or delivered by either party at Closing, each party agrees to perform, execute and deliver, 
but without any obligation to incur any additional liability or expense, on or after the Closing any further deliveries 
and assurances as may be reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or to further 
perfect the conveyance, transfer and assignment of the Property to Purchaser. 

Section 11.12 No Marketing; Exclusivity.  Seller agrees not to market any portion of the Property for 
sale from the Effective Date until the earlier of (a) the Closing or (b) a termination of this Agreement. In addition, 
Seller will not engage another development partner regarding the Property from the Effective Date through the 
Closing. 

Section 11.13 Attorneys’Fees .  If either party commences an action against the other party arising out 
of or in connection with this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to have and recover from the other party 
attorneys’ fees, costs of suit, investigation expenses and discovery costs, including costs of appeal. 

Section 11.14 Confidentiality .  Buyer shall treat as confidential all information and materials furnished 
or made available by Seller to Buyer in accordance with this Agreement or obtained by Buyer in the course of its 
investigation and Feasibility Study.  Buyer will not divulge and will use its commercially reasonable diligence to 
prevent Buyer's Related Parties (as hereinafter defined) from divulging such information except as required by law or 
as reasonably necessary to third parties engaged by Buyer for the limited purpose of analyzing and investigating such 
information for the purpose of consummating the transaction, including Buyer's agents, attorneys, representatives, 
consultants, prospective lenders, current and prospective financial partners, and engineers in this transaction 
(collectively "Buyer's Related Parties").  If Buyer elects to purchase the Property, then Buyer and Buyer's Related 
Parties may disclose such confidential information after the Closing.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 
Section 5(d) or in any other agreement to which a party hereto is bound, the parties hereto are hereby expressly 
authorized to disclose the "tax treatment" and "tax structure" (as those terms are defined in Treas. Reg. Section 1.6011-
4(c)(8) and (9) respectively) of this Agreement and any transaction contemplated hereby (the "Transaction"); provided, 
however, that the foregoing authorization shall apply only to the extent necessary such that the Transaction will not 
constitute a "confidential transaction" within the meaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1.6011-4(b)(3). 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 17 

ARTICLE 12 
SELLER REPURCHAS RIGHT 

Section 12.1 Seller Repurchase Right .  As used herein, "Initial Construction Obligation" shall mean 
the final completion of the underground piers and slab on grade for industrial improvements containing not less than 
100,000 square feet. 

Section 12.2 Excusable Delay .  As used in this ARTICLE 12, "Excusable Delay" shall be one that 
results from (i) events of force majeure, such as strikes or similar actions of labor unions, riots, casualties, acts of God 
or of the public enemy, war, invasion, insurrection, mob violence, sabotage, malicious mischief, inability 
(notwithstanding good faith and diligent efforts) to procure, or general shortages of, labor, equipment, facilities, 
materials or supplies in the open market, failure of transportation, fires, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, freight 
embargoes, unusually severe weather and delays occasioned by excavation efforts to uncover archeological artifacts, 
provided none of the foregoing is caused in whole or in part by any act or omission by Purchaser, (ii) unusual delay 
on the part of Governmental Authorities in the issuance of permits or governmental inspections, (iii) Seller’s failure 
to timely grant consents, approval or other authorization necessary for the Development Approvals, or (iv) another 
cause beyond the reasonable control of Purchaser.   

Section 12.3 Initial Trigger Date .  As used in this ARTICLE 12, "Initial Trigger Date" shall mean the 
date 24 months after the date of the recording of this Deed in the Real Property Records of Bell County, Texas, subject 
to extension for each Day of Excusable Delay. 

Section 12.4 Repurchase Right .  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth below, Seller shall have 
the right and option, but not the obligation, to repurchase the Property ("Repurchase Right") if the Initial Construction 
Obligation has not been satisfied by the Initial Trigger Date (as may have been extended by Excusable Delay as 
provided above). 

(a) In order to exercise the Repurchase Right in connection with the Initial Construction 
Obligation, Seller must deliver written notice to Purchaser within the earlier of either (i) 45 days after the Initial 
Trigger Date or (ii) the satisfaction of the Initial Construction Obligation.  The closing will be held on a date designated 
by Seller no later than 50 days after the Seller delivers its notice exercising its Repurchase Right. 

(b) If Seller timely exercises the Repurchase Right, Purchaser shall reconvey the Property to 
Seller by special warranty deed free and clear of all liens and encumbrances other than those listed on Exhibit B to 
Deed delivered at Closing, easements and other encumbrances placed on the Property as a condition to Development 
Approvals, the lien for ad valorem taxes shall be limited to the year of reconveyance and any utility easements 
theretofore granted by Purchaser to serve the Property (provided such easements do not result in any protrusion or 
encroachment, do not impose any material liability or obligation on the owner of the Property beyond what is 
customarily required to bring utilities to a site to serve improvements).  Taxes shall be prorated for the year of 
reconveyance as of the date of the repurchase.  The costs of Closing will be allocated between the parties in the same 
manner as the Closing Costs, as set forth in Section 1.2, except that Purchaser will be responsible for the categories 
of costs allocated to Seller at the Closing (other than attorneys’ fees), and Seller will be responsible for the categories 
of costs allocated to Purchaser at Closing (other than attorneys’ fees).   

(c) If Seller exercises the Repurchase Right, the repurchase price for the Property shall be the 
sum of the purchase price paid by Purchaser in the conveyance of the Property from Seller to Purchaser with the 
prorations credited in the same manner as set forth in ARTICLE 8. 

Section 12.5 (d) The Repurchase Right shall terminate if (i) Seller does not give the written 
exercise notice within the time period specified in the first sentence of Section 12.4(a), or (ii) if having given an 
exercise notice, Seller fails to close such repurchase (for reasons other than Purchaser's failure to comply with the 
provisions of this ARTICLE 12) within the time period specified in Section 12.4(a) for closing.  Upon such 
termination, Seller, at the request of Purchaser, shall execute in recordable form a confirmation of the release of the 
Repurchase Right as it pertains to the Property. 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 18 

 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGES AND EXHIBITS TO FOLLOW] 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 19 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year written 
below. 

SELLER: [Belton Economic Development Corporation 
    ], 
a       
 
 
 
By:      
Name:      
Title:      

Date Executed:     
 

  

 
PURCHASER: TRADITION LAND, LLC, 

a Texas limited liability company 
 

 
By:       
Name:        
Title: Manager 
 
Date Executed:     
 

  



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 20 

JOINDER BY ESCROW AGENT 

Escrow Agent has executed this Agreement in order to confirm that Escrow Agent shall hold the Earnest 
Money required to be deposited under this Agreement, in escrow, and shall invest and disburse the Earnest Money 
pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement. 

 MONTEITH ABSTRACT & TITLE COMPANY, 
INC. 

 

By:       
Name:        
Title:        
 

Date Executed:     

 

 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 21 

LIST OF EXHIBITS 

Exhibit A- Legal Description of Real Property 

Exhibit A-1 - Depiction of the Real Property 

Exhibit B - Special Warranty Deed 

Exhibit C - FIRPTA Certificate 

 



 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT – Page 1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF REAL PROPERTY 

 

 



 

EXHIBIT A-1, Depiction of the Real Property    

EXHIBIT A-1 
 

DEPICTION OF THE REAL PROPERTY 

 

 

 

 

 



 

EXHIBIT B, Special Warranty Deed – Page 1 

EXHIBIT B 
 

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED 
 

NOTICE OF CONFIDENTIALITY RIGHTS:  IF YOU ARE A NATURAL PERSON, YOU MAY REMOVE 
OR STRIKE ANY OR ALL OF THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION FROM THIS INSTRUMENT 
BEFORE IT IS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS: YOUR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER 
OR YOUR DRIVER'S LICENSE NUMBER. 
 
 
STATE OF TEXAS   § 
     § KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: 
COUNTY OF _____________  § 
 
 That _______________, a _______________ ("Grantor"), for and in consideration of the sum of Ten Dollars 
($10.00) and other good and valuable consideration to it in hand paid by _______________, a _______________, 
whose address is ______________________________ (hereinafter, whether one or more, referred to as "Grantee"), 
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged and confessed, has GRANTED, BARGAINED, SOLD 
and CONVEYED, and by these presents does hereby GRANT, BARGAIN, SELL and CONVEY, unto Grantee all of 
the real property situated in __________ County, Texas, described on Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and made 
a part hereof for all purposes, together with all and singular the rights, benefits, privileges, easements, tenements, 
hereditaments, and appurtenances thereon or in anywise appertaining thereto, and together with all buildings and 
improvements located thereon and any right, title, and interest of Grantor in and to adjacent streets, alleys, strips, 
gores, and rights-of-way (collectively, the "Property").   
 

In addition, Grantor hereby grants, bargains, sells and conveys to Grantee, WITHOUT WARRANTY, all of 
Grantor's right, title, and interest, if any, in and to: (i) any and all rights of ingress and egress to and from the Property, 
or any portion thereof, and any of Grantor's rights to use same; (ii) any and all present and reversionary mineral rights 
and interests of Grantor relating to the Property, or any portion thereof; (iii) any and all rights to the present or future 
use of wastewater, wastewater capacity, drainage, water or other utility facilities to the extent the same pertain to or 
benefit the Property, or any portion thereof, or the improvement located thereon, including, without limitation, all 
reservations of or commitments or letters covering any such use in the future, whether now owned or hereafter 
acquired; (iv) any and all roads, streets, alleys, and ways (open or proposed) affecting, crossing, fronting, or bounding 
the Property, or any portion thereof, including any awards made or to be made relating thereto including, without 
limitation, any unpaid awards or damages payable by reason of damages the Property, or any portion thereof, or by 
reason of a widening of or changing of the grade; (v) any and all strips, gores or pieces of property abutting, bounding 
or which are adjacent or contiguous to the Property, or any portion thereof (whether owned or claimed by deed, 
limitations or otherwise); and (vi) any and all reversionary interests in and to the Property, or any portion thereof. 
 
 The warranty of Grantor provided herein is made and accepted subject to those encumbrances and exceptions 
(the "Permitted Encumbrances") set forth on Exhibit B, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof for all 
purposes, but only to the extent that they are valid and subsisting and affect or relate to the Property. 
 
 TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Property unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, forever; and Grantor 
does hereby bind itself, its successors and assigns, to WARRANT AND FOREVER DEFEND all and singular the 
Property unto Grantee, its successors and assigns, against every person whomsoever lawfully claiming or to claim 
the same, or any part thereof, except as to the Permitted Encumbrances, by, through or under Grantor, but not 
otherwise. 

 
REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK. 

SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW. 



 

EXHIBIT B, Special Warranty Deed – Page 2 

 EXECUTED by the undersigned on this ___ day of ________________, 2022, to be effective upon 
delivery. 
 

 
 GRANTOR: 

       

 
 
By:       
Name:        
Title:        
 

STATE OF TEXAS   § 
     § 
COUNTY  OF  ____________ § 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on _____________, 2022, by ______________, 
_________________ of _____________, a __________________, on behalf of said __________________. 

 

       
Notary Public, State of Texas 
 

Exhibit A - Legal Description 
Exhibit B - Permitted Encumbrances 



 

EXHIBIT C, FIRPTA Certificate- Page 1 

EXHIBIT C 

 
FIRPTA CERTIFICATE 

Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that a transferee of a U.S. real property interest must 
withhold tax if the transferor is a foreign person.  For U.S. tax purposes (including Section 1445), the owner of a 
disregarded entity (which has legal title to a U.S. real property interest under local law) will be the transferor of the 
property and not the disregarded entity.  To inform _____________, a ___________ ("Transferee"), that withholding 
of tax is not required upon the disposition of a U.S. real property interest by _______________________, a 
_____________ ("Transferor"), the beneficial owner of ____________________ (U.S. employer identification 
number ________________), the undersigned, in his capacity as _____________ of _____________, hereby certifies 
to Transferee the following on behalf of Transferor: 

1. Transferor is not a foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust, or foreign estate (as those 
terms are defined in the Internal Revenue Code and Income Tax Regulations); 

2. Transferor is not a disregarded entity as defined in Section 1.1445-2(b)(2)(iii) of the Income Tax 
Regulations. 

3. Transferor's U.S. employer identification number is ___________; and 

4. Transferor's office address is ___________________________. 

Transferor understands that this certification may be disclosed to the Internal Revenue Service by Transferee 
and that any false statement contained herein could be punished by fine, imprisonment, or both. 

Under penalties of perjury I declare that I have examined this certification and to the best of my knowledge 
and belief it is true, correct and complete, and I further declare that I have authority to sign this document on behalf 
of Transferor. 

Dated as of __________, 202___. 

       , 
a      

By:       
Name:        
Title:        

THE STATE OF __________ § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  ___________ § 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on ______________, 202____, by __________________, 
_________________ of _________________, a _______________, on behalf of said ____________________. 

       
Notary Public, State of Texas 
 

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED BEFORE ME by ______________________ on 
___________________________, 201____. 

       
Notary Public, State of Texas 



 

EXHIBIT C, FIRPTA Certificate- Page 2 

 



City Council Agenda Item 
June 28, 2022 

Page 1 of 1   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #15 
     
Conduct a work session on FY2023 budget considerations including, but not limited to, the 
following funds: 
 

A. General Fund 
B. Debt Service Fund 
C. Information Technology Fund 
D. Building Maintenance Fund 
E. Hotel/Motel Tax Fund 
F. Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) Fund 
G. Belton Economic Development Corporation (BEDC) Fund 

  
Originating Department 
 
Finance Department – Mike Rodgers, Director of Finance  
 
Summary Information 
 
As work continues on the FY 2023 proposed annual budget, Staff will present the revenues 
and expenditures anticipated for several funds. The FY 2023 proposed annual budget must 
be filed at least thirty days prior to adoption. The date for adoption is currently scheduled for 
September 13, 2022. 
 
As in prior years, Staff will upload budget detail documents to the “Budget Info” folder on 
DropBox for Council review if desired.  
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
None 
 
Recommendation 
 
Receive presentation 
 
Attachments 
Presentation 



Overview Comments by:
Sam A. Listi
City Manager

FY23 Budget Workshop
June 28, 2022



2

Overview Comments

• Today is the second session on the FY ‘23 Annual Operating Budget,
following meetings with Department Heads and Council tour in May.

• Strategic Plan Update is under development in-house with a Council
discussion scheduled in August.

• Budget uncertainties from COVID-19 appear to have dissipated,
replaced in FY ‘23 with positive signs from strong growth and
development.

• Inflation is an emerging and significant factor, and it will remain so
over the next 18 months.

• Most revenue sources for FY ‘23 appear to be growing.
• Personnel costs are increasing over $1 million due to the

implementation of the compensation study



3

Overview Comments

• Revenue projections for property taxes reflect an 18% increase in
value based on a voter-approval tax rate that may be less than $0.60
(preliminary).

• Projections for sales tax reflect a 10% increase over the year-end
estimate for FY ‘22.

• ARPA funding, an important source of funds for city revenue
replacement, will be used to implement the compensation study and
address other local priorities.

• Various grants/federal earmarks for PD equipment are also meaningful
in leveraging local resources and reducing local expenditures



4

Overview Comments

• Other key objectives included in the proposed budget:
– Three new positions have been added to the City’s proposed

budget across all funds, and a COPS grant may fund an additional
police officer

• Deputy Court Clerk
• Information Technology Analyst
• Regional Director of Law Enforcement-Peer Support (hired during FY ‘22)
• Director of Parks & Recreation position reclassified into a Recreation

Superintendent position

– Proposed street maintenance funding increases from $650,000 to
$1,000,000 in FY ’23.

– Contributions into the various capital equipment replacement funds
will continue, although contribution amounts have increased



Presented by:
Michael Rodgers, CPA

Director of Finance

FY23 Budget Workshop
June 28, 2022



Preliminary Budget Comparison
All Funds

FY 2022 Annual Budget
Revenue
Before Transfers $35,793,370
Transfers Between Funds 589,910
Total Resources 36,383,280

Expenditures
Before Transfers 28,534,750
Transfers Between Funds 5,645,890
Total Expenditures 34,180,640

Resources Over/(Under)
Expenditures $ 2,202,640

FY 2023 Annual Budget
Revenue
Before Transfers $41,280,110
Transfers Between Funds 2,469,470
Total Resources 43,749,580

Expenditures
Before Transfers 31,966,440
Transfers Between Funds 9,329,820
Total Expenditures 41,296,260

Resources Over/(Under)
Expenditures $ 2,453,320

6



7

Funds To Be
Discussed Today

• General Fund
• Debt Service Fund
• Information Technology Fund
• Building Maintenance Fund
• Hotel / Motel Tax Fund
• TIRZ Fund
• BEDC Fund



8

General Fund
Year-End Forecast for FY 2022

FY 2022 FY 2022
Adopted Year-End
Budget Estimate

Revenue 17,470,200$ 18,248,683$ 
Expenditures (17,470,200)  (17,489,648)  
Incr/(Decr) to Reserve -$                  759,035$      


Sheet1

						FY 2022				FY 2022

						Adopted				Year-End

						Budget				Estimate

		Revenue				$   17,470,200				$   18,248,683

		Expenditures				(17,470,200)				(17,489,648)

		Incr/(Decr) to Reserve				$   -				$   759,035







9

Forecast for FY 2022

• Sales tax revenue and permitting fees 
surpass budget by $640,000 and $320,000, 
respectively

• Property tax revenue may finish the year 
$203,000 short of budget

• Total expenditures are expected to fall in 
line with budget



10

General Fund
FY23 Statement of Fund Balance

 Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022 6,213,119$   35.5%

Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:
FY23 Revenue 21,198,970   
FY23 Expenditures (20,666,570)  

Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance 532,400        

Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023 6,745,519$   32.6%

The City has adopted a fund balance policy with the goal of achieving and maintaining fund balance equal to 30% of 
budgeted expenditures.  At no time, shall fund balance fall below 25% of budgeted expenditures.


Sheet1

		Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022						$   6,213,119		35.5%

				Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:

						FY23 Revenue		21,198,970

						FY23 Expenditures		(20,666,570)

				Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance				532,400

		Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023						$   6,745,519		32.6%

										5







Status of General Fund Reserves
FY16 to FY23

11

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

$7,000,000

$8,000,000

Unassigned Reserve Balance Minimum Reserve Requirement



12

Budget to Budget Comparison
by Revenue Category 

General Fund
Revenue Category

FY22
Budget

FY22
Estimate

FY23
Budget

Budget
Inc / (Dec)

Property Tax $ 7,291,740 $ 7,088,128 $ 7,954,220 $   662,480

Sales Tax 4,917,660 5,558,031 6,113,840 1,196,180

Franchise & Other Tax 1,265,300 1,253,198 1,255,780 (9,520)

Permit Fees 293,720 614,519 474,840 181,120

Court Fines & Fees 303,070 274,871 276,290 (26,780)

Charges for Service 2,662,540 2,681,643 2,823,560 161,020

Miscellaneous 146,260 199,183 122,940 (23,320)

Transfers 589,910 579,110 2,177,500 1,587,590

Total Revenue $17,470,200 $18,248,683 $21,198,970 $3,728,770   



FY23 General Fund Revenue

Property tax, 
38%

Sales tax, 
29%

Property tax Sales tax Franchise tax
Permit fees Court fines Service charges
Miscellaneous Transfers

13

Revenue Category Amount
Property Tax $ 7,954,220
Sales Tax 6,113,840
Franchise & Other Tax 1,255,780
Permit Fees 474,840
Court Fines & Fees 276,290
Charges for Service 2,823,560
Miscellaneous 122,940
Transfers 2,177,500
Total Revenue $21,198,970



14

FY23 Property Tax Revenue

• Preliminary adjusted taxable value increases over 
18% to $1,825,298,271
– Estimated TIRZ growth rate is 27%
– Estimated non-TIRZ growth rate is 15%

• Preliminary budget includes O&M revenue from a 
voter-approval rate of $0.5956

• Preliminary tax levy for city purposes (O&M plus 
debt service) would grow by $746,000, and the 
levy dedicated to the TIRZ would increase by 
$305,000 



Property Tax History
FY16 to FY23

FY O&M TIRZ Debt

2016 $4,613,688 $   670,769 $1,090,922

2017 4,816,716 728,658 1,074,343

2018 5,212,685 806,821 990,961

2019 5,568,951 901,067 934,987

2020 6,214,755 1,155,204 964,758

2021 6,395,900 1,421,889 1,218,672

2022Projected 7,088,128 1,566,770 1,060,831

2023Budget 7,954,220 1,871,930 1,209,933

15

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

$7,000,000

$8,000,000

$9,000,000

$10,000,000

$11,000,000

$12,000,000

O&M TIRZ Debt



Sales Tax History
FY16 to FY23

$2,000,000

$2,500,000

$3,000,000

$3,500,000

$4,000,000

$4,500,000

$5,000,000

$5,500,000

$6,000,000

$6,500,000

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

FY Revenue

2016 $3,155,659

2017 3,276,982

2018 3,510,104

2019 3,573,712

2020 4,085,122

2021 4,896,247

2022Projected 5,558,031

2023Budget 6,113,840

16



Sales Tax History

17

$5,000,000

$5,500,000

$6,000,000

$6,500,000

$7,000,000

$7,500,000

$8,000,000

$8,500,000

M
ar

-1
9

Ap
r-

19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

Ap
r-

20

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
n-

20

Ju
l-2

0

Au
g-

20

Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

De
c-

20

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

21

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

Rolling Twelve Months of Sales Tax Receipts for City and BEDC



Sales Tax History
by Category

18

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

Jan 2020 Mar 2020 May 2020 Jul 2020 Sep 2020 Nov 2020 Jan 2021 Mar 2021 May 2021 Jul 2021 Sep 2021 Nov 2021 Jan 2021 Mar 2022

Sales Tax by Category Over Time

Construction Entertainment Gas & Auto Restaurants Retail Utilities



19

FY23 Other
General Fund Revenue

• Transfers into the General Fund grow by 
$1,587,000 to account for the use of ARPA 
funds ($900,000) and personnel cost 
allocations ($700,000)

• Refuse collection and contract fees increase 
by $127,000 due to the rising customer 
count



FY23 General Fund
Expenditures by Function

General 
Govt, 12%

Public 
Safety, 
50%

Streets, 
11%

Culture & 
Rec, 11%

General Govt Public Safety Streets
Planning Culture & Rec Solid Waste
Maintenance

Function FY23 Budget
General government $     2,542,770
Public safety 10,282,670
Streets 2,280,110
Planning 890,010
Culture & recreation 2,328,440
Solid waste 1,862,240
Maintenance services 480,330
Total $   20,666,570

20



21

FY23 General Fund
Expenditures by Category

Personnel, 
59%

Services, 
23%

Personnel Supplies Maintenance
Services Other Costs Capital Outlay
Transfers

Expenditure Category Amount

Personnel $12,103,550

Supplies 626,310

Maintenance 1,400,140

Services 4,859,840

Other Expenses 208,150

Capital Outlay 145,000

Transfers 1,323,580

Total Expenditures $20,666,570



22

Budget to Budget Comparison
by Expenditure Category

General Fund 
Expenditure 

Category

FY22
Budget

FY22
Estimate

FY23
Budget

Budget
Inc / (Dec)

Personnel $ 10,487,360 $ 10,375,043 $ 12,103,550 $  1,616,190

Supplies 535,860 594,953 626,310 90,450

Maintenance 1,015,100 597,220 1,400,140 385,040

Services 4,466,140 4,322,542 4,859,840 393,700

Other Costs 210,650 137,500 208,150 (2,500)

Capital Outlay 0 79,300 145,000 145,000

Transfers 755,090 1,383,090 1,323,580 568,490

Totals $ 17,470,200 $ 17,489,648 $20,666,570 $  3,196,370



23

General Fund
Significant Changes

• Personnel costs increase by a total of  $1,616,190
– Compensation study implementation increases 

expenditures by $1,100,000
– A 2% cost of labor adjustment costs $167,000
– Merit increases up to 5% for all non-civil service 

employees raises costs by $192,000
– Two General Fund positions have been added

• Deputy Court Clerk
• Regional Director of Law Enforcement Peer Network (FY22)
• The Director of Parks & Rec position will be reclassified into a 

Recreation Superintendent position



24

General Fund
Significant Changes

• The $90,450 increase in supplies is a result of fuel 
expenditures that are up $45,000 and the 
replacement of small equipment

• Appropriations for the annual street maintenance 
program increase from $650,000 in FY 2022 to 
$1,000,000 in FY 2023

• Refuse collection costs increase by $108,000 due 
to a growing customer base



25

General Fund
Significant Changes

• The cost for information technology services 
increases by $147,000

• Appropriations for legal services have been 
reclassified from personnel to services

• Capital expenditures totaling $145,000 include
– $120,000 to replace all windows and install a gazebo at 

the Harris Center
– $25,000 to replace an EKG monitor for the Fire 

Department



26

General Fund
Significant Changes

• Transfers to other funds increase by $648,490 to 
$1,403,580
– Transfers into the various equipment replacement funds 

increase by $327,000 due to a higher contribution 
requirement

– $193,000 is transferred into the Water & Sewer Fund to 
reflect changes to the payroll allocation

– $30,000 is transferred into the capital projects fund to 
pave the PD South parking lot

– $40,000 is transferred for a match to the COPS grant 
that could add one task force officer



27

Debt Service Fund
FY23 Statement of Fund Balance

 Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022 (43,048)$      

Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:
FY23 Revenue 1,210,760     
FY23 Expenditures (1,196,380)   

Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance 14,380          

Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023 (28,668)$      


Sheet1

		Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022						$   (43,048)

				Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:

						FY23 Revenue		1,210,760

						FY23 Expenditures		(1,196,380)

				Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance				14,380

		Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023						$   (28,668)

										5







Outstanding
Tax-Supported Debt

for FY 2023

Bond Issuance Description
Outstanding

Amount
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2003 $       200,000
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2005 555,000
Certificates of Obligation, Series 2008 571,725
Certificates of Obligation, Series 2015 750,000
G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 860,000
Certificates of Obligation, Series 2018 2,070,000
G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2019 4,395,000
Tax-Supported Debt Outstanding $  9,401,725

28



Annual Debt Service Payments 
on Tax-Supported Debt

29

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

$1,400,000

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

Interest Principal



30

Information Technology Fund
FY23 Statement of Fund Balance

 Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022 57,435$        

Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:
FY23 Revenue 1,065,740     
FY23 Expenditures (928,020)      

Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance 137,720        

Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023 195,155$      


Sheet1

		Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022						$   57,435

				Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:

						FY23 Revenue		1,065,740

						FY23 Expenditures		(928,020)

				Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance				137,720

		Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023						$   195,155







31

Information Technology Fund
Expenses by Category

Personnel, 
32%

Maintenance, 
44%

Personnel Supplies Maintenance
Services Capital Outlay

Expenditure Category Amount

Personnel $ 301,020

Supplies 13,170

Maintenance 404,330

Services 88,500

Capital Outlay 121,000

Total Expenditures $ 928,020



32

Information Technology Fund
Significant Changes

• Personnel costs increase by $89,940 due to cost of 
labor adjustments, merit increases, and the 
addition on one IT Analyst position

• Expenses for supplies fall by $124,000 after 
replacing several computers in FY 2022

• Capital outlay increases of $121,000 includes
– $71,000 to replace computers and desk phones 
– $50,000 for a mobile audio solution and trail cameras



33

Building Maintenance Fund
FY23 Statement of Fund Balance

 Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022 92,787$        

Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:
FY23 Revenue 489,440        
FY23 Expenditures (416,870)      

Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance 72,570          

Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023 165,357$      


Sheet1

		Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022						$   92,787

				Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:

						FY23 Revenue		489,440

						FY23 Expenditures		(416,870)

				Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance				72,570

		Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023						$   165,357

										5







34

Building Maintenance Fund
Expenses by Category

Personnel
72%

Maintenance
14%

Personnel Supplies Maintenance
Services Transfers

Expenditure Category Amount

Personnel $299,200

Supplies 39,000

Maintenance 60,110

Services 10,180

Transfers 8,380

Total Expenditures $416,870



35

Building Maintenance Fund 
Significant Changes

• Personnel costs increase by $13,000 due to 
cost of labor adjustments and merit 
increases

• Building maintenance costs decline by 
$9,500 after exterior work at Fire Station #2 
was completed during FY 2022



36

Hotel / Motel Tax Fund
FY23 Statement of Fund Balance

 Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022 560,898$      

Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:
FY23 Revenue 288,600        
FY23 Expenditures (167,610)      

Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance 120,990        

Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023 681,888$      


Sheet1

		Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022						$   560,898

				Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:

						FY23 Revenue		288,600

						FY23 Expenditures		(167,610)

				Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance				120,990

		Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023						$   681,888

										5







37

Hotel / Motel Tax Fund
Expenditures by Category

Other 
Expenses, 

62%

Personnel Supplies
Services Other Expenses
Transfers

Expenditure Category Amount

Personnel $          0

Supplies 100

Services 28,170

Other Expenses 104,500

Transfers 34,840

Total Expenditures $167,610



38

Hotel/Motel Tax Fund
Significant Changes

• Tax revenue grows by 10% to $288,100
• Tourism sponsorship increases by $30,000 to 

promote several events
• Visitor Center support remains at $12,500



39

TIRZ Operating Fund
FY23 Statement of Fund Balance

 Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022 951,923$      

Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:
FY23 Revenue 3,029,230     
FY23 Expenditures (2,630,640)   

Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance 398,590        

Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023 1,350,513$   


Sheet1

		Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022						$   951,923

				Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:

						FY23 Revenue		3,029,230

						FY23 Expenditures		(2,630,640)

				Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance				398,590

		Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023						$   1,350,513

										5







Tax Year 2022
Property Values

• Preliminary estimates show a 27% increase 
to captured values within the TIRZ to 
$314,000,000

• Budgeted contributions are based upon a 
City tax rate of $0.5956 and County rate of 
$0.3680

• Property values and tax rates will likely 
change before budget finalization

40



41

Budget to Budget Comparison
TIRZ Operating Fund Revenue 

TIRZ Fund
Revenue

FY22
Budget

FY22
Estimate

FY23
Budget

Increase /
(Decrease)

City $1,553,820 $1,566,770 $1,871,930 $ 318,110

County 981,110 915,998 1,156,600 175,490

Interest 4,000 575 700 (3,300)

Total $2,538,930 $2,483,343 $3,029,230 $ 490,300   



42

Budget to Budget Comparison
TIRZ Operating Fund Expenditures 

TIRZ Fund
Expenditures

FY22
Budget

FY22
Estimate

FY23
Budget

Increase /
(Decrease)

Services $       35,000 $       37,220 $       10,000 $    ( 25,000)

Debt Service 402,710 402,710 265,800 (136,910)   

Grants 90,000 70,000 120,000 30,000

Transfers 1,682,530 1,682,530 2,234,880 552,350

Total $  2,210,240 $  2,192,460 $  2,630,640 $   420,400   



Outstanding Debt
for FY 2023

43

Bond Issuance Description
Outstanding

Amount
G.O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2019 $       255,000
Revenue-Supported Debt Outstanding $       255,000



Façade Grants

• $95,350 of grants have been approved:
– Arusha Coffee Company 126 N East St $11,500
– Jo Mapel 108 W Central Ave $20,000
– Woodhouse Day Spa 110 N Main St $20,000
– Dean Winkler 207 E Central Ave $20,000
– Mary Garza 104 S Pearl St $  5,400
– Be-You-Tiful Salon 108 N Main St $  3,850
– Roman Esparza 206 E Central Ave $  4,800
– Dominca Garza 122 N Pearl St $  9,800

• FY 2023 budget includes an additional $24,650 for 
potential grants that may be awarded during the year

44



Transfers

• Transfers to the TIRZ Capital Projects Fund will set aside 
funding for the following projects:
– Connell Street $1,200,000
– Southwest Parkway 750,000
– Library Renovation 250,000

• Transfers to the General Fund will pay for a portion of the 
Retail Development Coordinator position

45



46

BEDC Operating Fund
FY23 Statement of Fund Balance

 Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022 6,821,222$   

Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:
FY23 Revenue 3,114,250     
FY23 Expenditures (1,937,580)   

Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance 1,176,670     

Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023 7,997,892$   


Sheet1

		Projected Spendable Balance, Sept 30, 2022						$   6,821,222

				Increases/(Decreases) to Fund Balance:

						FY23 Revenue		3,114,250

						FY23 Expenditures		(1,937,580)

				Net Increase/(Decrease) to Fund Balance				1,176,670

		Spendable Fund Balance, Sept 30, 2023						$   7,997,892

										5







47

Budget to Budget Comparison
BEDC Operating Fund Revenue 

BEDC Fund
Revenue

FY22
Budget

FY22
Estimate

FY23
Budget

Increase /
(Decrease)

Sales Tax $2,418,500 $2,778,599 $3,056,460 $637,960

Rental Income 27,600 27,600 27,600 0

Miscellaneous 9,230 14,844 30,190 20,960

Total $2,455,330 $2,821,043 $3,114,250 $658,920   



48

Budget to Budget Comparison
BEDC Operating Fund Expenditures 
BEDC Fund
Expenditures

FY22
Budget

FY22
Estimate

FY23
Budget

Increase /
(Decrease)

Personnel $  218,600 $  233,858 $  275,910 $    57,310

Supplies 5,080 2,050 5,170 90     

Maintenance 76,190 35,600 86,740 10,550

Services 185,390 154,110 219,760 34,370

Capital Outlay 50,000 0 50,000 0

Transfers 150,000 150,000 1,300,000 1,150,000

Total $  685,260 $  575,618 $1,937,580 $1,252,320   



49

BEDC Fund
Significant Changes

• Sales tax revenue grows 10% over the FY 2022 estimate to 
$3,056,460

• Miscellaneous income rises as the Chamber of Commerce 
reimburses a portion of the Administrative Assistant salary

• Personnel costs increase by $57,310 due cost of labor 
adjustments, merit increases, and the conversion of a part-
time Administrative Assistant position into a full-time 
position  

• Transfers to capital projects will provide $1,300,000 for S 
Pearl / E Avenue J street reconstruction



50

In Summary
• A growing property tax base provides sufficient 

resources to sustain current service levels
• Sales tax revenue continues to rise 
• General Fund budget includes

– Two additional FTE positions plus the city match for 
one additional police officer position that could be 
funded with a COPS grant

– Compensation study implementation
– Cost of labor adjustment of 2% for all employees
– Merit adjustments up to 5% for non-civil service 

employees



51

In Summary
• Annual street maintenance funding reaches 

$1,000,000
• Contributions into the various equipment 

replacement funds increase to cover future needs
• Debt service remains stable at $1.2 million
• The Information Technology Fund will add one 

position
• Hotel/Motel Tax Fund revenue grows 10%
• The TIRZ Fund and BEDC Fund set aside funding 

for major capital projects



Upcoming Budget Calendar

Meeting Date Budget Item to be Presented
July 12 -Discuss the 2023-2027 Capital Improvements Program
July 26 -Presentation of fee schedule changes

August 9

-Present the FY23 Proposed Annual Budget to City Council
-Call date for public hearing on the proposed budget
-Propose a property tax rate
-Call date for public hearing on the property tax rate
-Present the Strategic Plan

September 6
(Special)

-Hold public hearings on budget and property tax rate
-Receive public input on the Strategic Plan
-Adopt fee schedule

September 13 -Adopt Strategic Plan, FY23 Annual Budget, and tax rate

52



Questions/Comments?

53


	Agenda - 062822
	City Manager's Memo
	#3 - Minutes - 061422
	#4 - Staff Report - Additional SRO
	#4 - Attachments

	#5 - Staff Report - Zoning Change 5890 Toll Bridge Road
	#5 - Attachments

	#6 - Staff Report - Zoning Change 2061 Circle Oak Loop
	#6 - Attachments

	#7 - Staff Report - Zoning Change 517 E 25th Avenue
	#7 - Attachments

	#8 - Staff Report - Zoning Change 2406 Lake Road
	#8 - Attachments

	#9 - Staff Report - Zoning Change NEC 6th and Taylors Valley
	#9 - Attachments

	#10 - Staff Report - Final Plat Preserve at Nolan Creek
	#10 - Attachments

	#11 - Staff Report - TPlan Amendment
	#11 - Attachments

	#12 - Staff Report - Imagine Belton Plan
	#12 - Attachments

	#13 - Staff Report - Small Business Grants ARPA
	#13 - Attachments

	#14 - Staff Report - Sale of Land BEDC
	#14 - Attachments

	#15 - Staff Report - FY23 Budget GF Etc
	#15 - Attachments




